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Other Companies) 

With Conforming Changes as of 
May 1, 1997 

This edition of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of Finance 
Companies (Including Independent and Captive Financing Activities of 
Other Companies), which was originally issued in 1988, has been modified 
by the AICPA staff to include certain changes necessary because of the 
issuance of authoritative pronouncements since the Guide was originally 
issued (see page iv). The changes made are identified in a schedule in 
appendix E of the Guide. The changes do not include all those that might be 
considered necessary if the Guide were subjected to a comprehensive 
review and revision. 
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NOTICE TO READERS 
This audit and accounting guide presents recommendations of the AICPA 
Finance Companies Guide Special Committee on the application of generally 
accepted auditing standards to audits of financial statements of finance com-
panies. This guide also presents the committee's recommendations on and 
descriptions of financial accounting and reporting principles and practices for 
finance companies. The AICPA Accounting Standards Executive Committee 
and members of the AICPA Auditing Standards Board have found this guide 
to be consistent with existing standards and principles covered by Rules 202 
and 203 of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. AICPA members should 
be prepared to justify departures from this guide. 
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This guide reflects relevant guidance contained in authoritative pro-
nouncements through May 1, 1997: 

FASB Statement No. 127, Deferral of the Effective Date of Certain 
Provisions of FASB Statement No. 125 (an amendment of FASB 
Statement No. 125) 
FASB Interpretation No. 42, Accounting for Transfers of Assets in 
Which a Not-for-Profit Organization Is Granted Variance Power (an 
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 116) 
FASB Technical Bulletin No. 94-1, Application of Statement 115 to 
Debt Securities Restructured in a Troubled Debt Restructuring 
EITF Consensuses adopted through the January 1997 Emerging 
Issues Task Force (EITF) meeting 
Practice Bulletin No. 15, Accounting by the Issuer of Surplus Notes 
SAS No. 82, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit 
SOP No. 96-1, Environmental Remediation Liabilities 
SSAE No. 6, Reporting on an Entity's Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting: An Amendment to Statement on Standards for Attestation 
Engagements No. 2 
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Preface 

Applicability 
This guide has been prepared to assist the independent auditor in auditing 

and reporting on financial statements of finance companies. The guide also 
applies to independent and captive financing activities of other companies. It 
does not apply to banks, savings and loan associations, credit unions, or 
insurance companies; however, the guide does apply to finance company sub-
sidiaries of such entities. 

Banks, savings and loan associations, credit unions, and insurance companies 
are covered by other guides, and there might be differences in the way they 
account for similar transactions. The AICPA is considering a project to harmo-
nize the accounting principles for the financial industry. 

This guide is based on the assumption that the readers are generally expert 
in accounting and auditing. Accordingly, the discussion of audit procedures 
concentrates primarily on aspects unique to finance companies and financing 
activities. The nature, timing, and extent of such auditing procedures are a 
matter of professional judgment and depend on the size, organizational struc-
ture, internal control, and other factors in a particular engagement. 

Changes in Accounting Practices 
This guide recommends the following changes in accounting practices that 

the committee believes are desirable and warranted: 
• Recognition of interest income on finance receivables using the inter-

est method; 
• Use of the accrual method with suspension basis for recording interest 

income; and 
• Inclusion of interest as a holding cost in determining the carrying 

amount of repossessed collateral expected to be held for more than a 
brief period. 

In addition, the revised guide includes an expanded discussion of the insurance 
activities of finance companies. 

The 1973 AICPA Industry Audit Guide, Audits of Finance Companies, pro-
vided for revenue recognition methods other than those listed above, including 
the Rule of 78s, the combination method, and the cash method. In accordance 
with FASB Statement No. 91 and conclusions reached by the Accounting 
Standards Division in preparing this guide, use of those alternative methods 
is no longer considered to be acceptable. 

Transition and Effective Dates 
This guide supersedes the 1973 AICPA Industry Audit Guide, Audits of 

Finance Companies. 
Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) applicable to business 

entities in general apply to finance companies. Accordingly, the financial 
accounting standards established by pronouncements of the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (FASB) and its predecessor bodies of the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants apply to finance companies. 

AAG-FIN 
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FASB Statement No. 91, Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs 
Associated With Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of 
Leases, requires finance companies to make certain changes in their accounting 
for fees and expenses. The committee believes the changes recommended in 
this guide concerning recognition of interest income (revenue) and inclusion of 
interest as a holding cost in determining the carrying amount of repossessed 
collateral should be made at the same time and in the same manner as changes 
are made to comply with FASB Statement No. 91. 

FASB Statement No. 91, paragraph 28, states 
This Statement shall be applied prospectively to lending and leasing transac-
tions entered into and commitments granted in fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 1987 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Retroactive 
application, by restating all prior years presented, is encouraged but not 
required. Earlier application is encouraged in fiscal years for which financial 
statements have not previously been issued. In the year that this Statement is 
first applied, the financial statements shall disclose the nature of accounting 
changes adopted to conform to the provisions of this Statement and their effect 
on income before extraordinary items, net income, and related per share 
amounts for the current year and for each restated year presented. If adopted 
prospectively, disclosure of the accounting change and the prior accounting 
policies shall be continued in financial statements of subsequent years in which 
outstanding loans accounted for under the prior policy are material. 

Other provisions of this guide shall be effective for audits of financial state-
ments for periods ending on or after June 30, 1988. 

Finance Companies Guide Special Committee 
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Activities of Finance Companies 1 

Chapter 1 

Activities of Finance Companies 
1.01 Finance companies provide lending and financing services to con-

sumers (consumer financing) and to business enterprises (commercial financ-
ing). Some finance companies engage solely in consumer or commercial 
financing activities; others provide both types. Consumer and commercial 
financing both encompass a wide variety of activities, many of which are 
discussed in this chapter. 

1.02 Manufacturers, retailers, wholesalers, and various other business 
enterprises may provide financing to encourage customers to buy their prod-
ucts and services. Such financing, generally known as captive finance activity, 
may be provided directly by those companies or through affiliated companies. 
Although most such companies originally financed only their own products and 
services, many have expanded their financing activities to include a wide 
variety of products and services sold by unaffiliated businesses. 

Consumer Finance Activities 
1.03 Consumer finance activities comprise direct consumer loans, includ-

ing mortgage loans and retail sales financing. Many companies that provide 
consumer financing also offer a variety of insurance services to their borrowers. 

Direct Consumer Loans 

1.04 Direct consumer loans usually are repayable in installments and 
may be collateralized by household goods and other chattels or may be unse-
cured. The creditworthiness of the individual borrower is generally the lender's 
primary consideration in making direct consumer loans; however, as the size 
of the loan increases, other factors, such as the existence and value of collateral 
or the presence of a comaker, may become increasingly important. 

1.05 Mortgage loans on real estate are a form of direct consumer lending 
in which borrowers' equity interests in their homes make up the collateral. 
Such mortgage loans differ from purchase money mortgages, in which sellers 
or third parties grant borrowers mortgages as part of the purchase price. Many 
mortgage loans issued by finance companies are second mortgage loans that 
are subordinate to the claims of one or more prior lenders if borrowers default. 

1.06 Mortgage loans generally have larger principal amounts and lower 
average interest rates than other direct consumer loans. Lenders usually 
consider borrowers who are homeowners to be good credit risks because the 
loans are collateralized by the borrowers' homes and, even if the borrowers 
default, residential real estate tends to hold resale value to a greater degree 
than other forms of collateral. Loss experience on mortgage loans generally has 
been less than on other forms of consumer loans. 

1.07 Mortgage lending, however, involves other risks. If the real estate 
market weakens, perhaps because of severe unemployment in a given geo-
graphical area, substantial losses may be incurred. Mortgage loans tend to have 
longer repayment periods than other types of direct consumer loans; this factor 
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2 Finance Companies 

by itself may increase a lender's risk. Because first mortgage loans have 
priority, a second mortgage lender generally must buy out prior lenders or take 
title subject to the rights of such lenders. Second mortgage lenders may, 
therefore, need to make significant cash payments to protect collateral. 

Retail Sales Contracts 

1.08 Many sales of consumer goods and services are financed through 
retail sales contracts. Those contracts are made, directly or through retailers 
and dealers, with individual consumers. The contracts often are sold to a 
finance company. Retail sales contracts commonly are called three-party paper 
because they involve three parties: an individual borrower, a dealer or distribu-
tor, and a finance company. 

1.09 Retail sales contracts usually are sold at a discount to a finance 
company under terms that permit dealers or distributors to share a portion of 
the finance charges paid by borrowers. Provisions for dealers' shares of finance 
charges vary among finance companies and dealers. Dealers' shares of finance 
charges may be based on stipulated percentages of the finance charges or the 
principal amounts of the retail contracts, on a fixed amount for each contract, 
or on other negotiated terms. 

1.10 Some agreements provide for a portion of amounts due to dealers to 
be withheld to cover certain contingencies. Other agreements provide no such 
conditions. Amounts withheld from dealers may either be limited to or greater 
than the dealers' shares of finance charges. Dealer reserves represent liabilities 
for unpaid portions of dealers' shares of finance charges on retail contracts 
bought from dealers. Dealer holdbacks, which are not limited to dealers' shares 
of finance charges, also represent liabilities, but usually are for amounts 
withheld from dealers on retail contracts with greater-than-normal credit risk. 
Such risks may relate to factors such as the types of collateral, excessive loan 
periods, or credit ratings of the borrowers involved. Dealer reserves and 
holdbacks may be required even if applicable contracts are bought with re-
course. 

1.11 Terms for payment of dealer reserves and holdbacks vary. Dealer 
reserves may be reduced for losses and rebates on related loans. The remaining 
balances generally are paid periodically when amounts exceed agreed mini-
mum percentages of related outstanding receivables. Minimum percentages 
are based on factors such as loss experience for contracts previously bought 
from such dealers, experience with lending to purchasers of similar types of 
merchandise, and credit quality of the purchasers. Alternatively, dealer re-
serves and holdbacks may be paid only after customers' loans are paid off in 
full. 

Insurance Services 

1.12 Many companies engaged in consumer finance activities also offer 
insurance coverage to their customers. Such coverage may include life insur-
ance to help assure that remaining loan balances are repaid if borrowers die 
before loans are repaid; accident and health insurance to help continue loan 
payments if borrowers become sick or disabled for an extended period of time; 
and property insurance to protect the values of loan collateral against damage, 
theft, or destruction. Some lenders may provide insurance through subsidiar-
ies. Others act as brokers and, if licensed, often receive commissions from inde-
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Activities of Finance Companies 3 

pendent insurers. Lenders also may receive retrospective rate credits on group 
policies issued by independent insurers. In still other instances, policies may 
be written by independent insurance companies and then reinsured by insur-
ance subsidiaries of finance companies. 

Commercial Finance Activities 
1.13 Commercial finance enterprises often provide a wide range of serv-

ices, including factoring arrangements, revolving loans, installment and term 
loans, floor plan loans, portfolio purchase agreements, and lease financing to a 
variety of clients, including manufacturers, wholesalers, retailers, and service 
organizations. Many commercial finance activities are called asset-based fi-
nancial services because of the lenders' reliance on collateral. This guide refers 
to all such activities as commercial finance activities. 

1.14 Commercial loans generally are collateralized by various types of 
assets, including notes and accounts receivable, inventories, and property, 
plant, and equipment. 

Factoring 

1.15 Factoring is the purchase, usually without recourse, of trade ac-
counts receivable. A company that purchases trade accounts receivable is 
commonly called a factor. Factors buy trade accounts receivable from clients. 
Clients' customers send their payments directly to factors, often by means of a 
lockbox arrangement. Factored accounts receivable are not collateral for loans 
to clients; rather, the receivables are purchased outright. Except in certain 
instances involving advance factoring, as described below, no loan is made. 
However, clients continue to remain contractually responsible for customer 
claims related to defective merchandise. 

1.16 Factors buy clients' invoices, net of trade and cash discounts granted 
to customers, and provide clients with services that include assuming the 
clients' responsibilities of credit review, bookkeeping, and collection. Factors 
also assume risks of credit losses when customer credit is approved before 
clients ship goods. If factors do not approve customers' credit, shipments 
usually are made at clients' risk. Factors buying accounts with recourse, 
however, provide bookkeeping and collection services and assume no credit 
risk, unless both the client and its customers become insolvent. Factors receive 
fees for services rendered to the client, usually computed as a percentage of net 
receivables bought. 

1.17 Factoring usually requires that customer notification be placed on 
the face of invoices, indicating that accounts have been sold and that factors 
are to be paid directly. Under nonnotification contracts, customers continue to 
pay clients and normally are unaware of factor ownership of the related 
accounts. 

1.18 Two types of factoring arrangements are maturity and advance. 
Maturity factoring requires factors to pay clients only when related accounts 
are due (generally based on average due dates) or collected. In contrast, 
advance factoring allows clients to draw cash advances against the balance of 
the receivables before they are due or collected. Factors charge interest from 
the date on which advances are drawn to the date on which receivables are due 
or collected, at rates usually based on a stipulated percentage over commercial 
banks' prime rates. 
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4 Finance Companies 

1.19 In calculating limits for payments under advance factoring arrange-
ments, factors generally retain a reserve against unpaid receivables to cover 
claims, returns, allowances, and other adjustments. Reserves ordinarily are a 
percentage of outstanding receivables based on factors' experience and judg-
ment. Overadvances occur when clients draw cash advances that exceed uncol-
lected receivable balances. Factors may permit overadvances to finance clients' 
seasonal business requirements. Such overadvances often can be anticipated. 
Overadvances also may result from unanticipated chargebacks, such as those 
resulting from defective merchandise and price disputes, because clients con-
tinue to remain contractually responsible for such problems. Overadvances 
may be collateralized by other assets, such as inventory or fixed assets, or may 
be secured by personal guarantees. In certain circumstances, overadvances 
also may be unsecured. Overadvances generally are reduced when receivables 
from additional sales are factored. 

Revolving Loans 
1.20 Revolving loans, sometimes called working capital loans, generally 

provide borrowers with cash needed for business operations. The loans usually 
are collateralized by accounts receivable and generally cannot exceed agreed 
percentages of the face values of those receivables. Such loans may be referred 
to as accounts receivable loans. Collections against such receivables usually are 
remitted daily by borrowers to the lenders. Depending on the terms of the 
agreements, new accounts receivable acquired by borrowers and pledged to 
lenders may immediately qualify as collateral. 

1.21 Lenders' policies may permit eligible collateral for revolving loans to 
be expanded to include inventories if borrowers require additional cash. In 
such cases, additional advances may be referred to as inventory loans. Inven-
tory loans supplementing accounts receivable loans are common when sea-
sonal businesses generate relatively low amounts of accounts receivable but 
require large inventories in anticipation of the selling season. When the 
inventories are sold, loans are paid off or accounts receivable generated by the 
sales replace inventories as collateral for such loans. 

Receivables Portfolio Purchase Agreements 
1.22 Unlike factoring arrangements, receivables portfolio purchases are 

bulk purchases of trade accounts or finance receivables, often intended to 
provide sellers with cash for operations or improved financial ratios. Because 
the buyers usually assume all credit risks, a stipulated percentage of the 
purchase price is often retained to absorb credit losses. Credit losses in excess 
of that amount are borne by the purchasing finance company. 

1.23 Terms of portfolio purchase agreements vary. Some provide for 
single purchases; others provide for continuing purchases on a revolving basis. 
In addition, customers may not be notified of purchases or may be notified and 
required to pay the finance company directly. Receivables acquired under this 
type of agreement generally are accounted for as assets owned by the purchas-
ing finance company and are not considered to represent collateral for loans 
made to sellers. 

Installment Loans 
1.24 Finance companies may make commercial installment loans collat-

eralized by capital assets. The amounts of such installment loans usually are 
based on percentages of the collateral market values and vary depending on 
policies of the finance company lender, financial condition of the borrower, and 
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Activities of Finance Companies 5 

liquidity of the pledged collateral. Finance companies also may make mortgage 
loans to commercial borrowers. Some installment loans are made under condi-
tional sales contracts, in which title to the collateral is held in the name of the 
lender until loans are repaid. 

Floor Plan Loans 

1.25 Floor plan loans, commonly called wholesale loans, are made to 
businesses to finance inventory purchases. Some finance companies make floor 
plan loans primarily to induce dealers to allow the finance companies to buy 
the retail contracts generated from sales of inventories. Inventories serve as 
collateral for floor plan loans, the amounts of which usually are limited to the 
wholesale values of the inventories. Unlike revolving loans collateralized by 
inventory, floor plan loans generally are collateralized by specific inventory 
items. They also require minimum payments known as curtailments, with 
balances becoming due when collateral is sold or at the end of stipulated 
periods. 

Leases 

1.26 Leasing is a common way to finance the acquisition of equipment. 
Despite similarities between leases and other forms of installment loans, 
continuing legal and tax changes have resulted in language and procedures 
unique to leasing activities. FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, 
and its related interpretations and amendments provide authoritative guid-
ance on accounting for leases. 

1.27 Operating leases generally run for periods considerably shorter than 
the useful lives of related assets. At the expiration of such leases, the assets 
generally are sold or leased again. 

1.28 Direct financing leases are similar to other forms of installment 
lending in that lessors generally do not retain benefits and risks incidental to 
ownership of the property subject to leases. Such arrangements are essentially 
financing transactions that permit lessees to acquire and use property. 

1.29 Leveraged leasing involves at least three parties: a lessee, a long-
term creditor, and a lessor (commonly called the equity participant). The lessor 
may, however, be represented by an owner trustee. Finance companies fre-
quently enter into leveraged lease transactions as lessors or equity partici-
pants. A substantial portion of the purchase price of assets is supplied 
nonrecourse by unaffiliated long-term lenders. If a lessee defaults on lease 
payments, the long-term lender has no recourse to the lessor, but usually has 
recourse to the specific property being leased. The gross return to a finance 
company is measured using the discounted net cash receipts generated from 
investment tax credits and tax effects of timing differences resulting princi-
pally from use of accelerated depreciation in tax returns, rental payments 
minus debt service costs, and the estimated residual values of equipment 
leased. 

1.30 Leasing arrangements also may be categorized as transactional, 
involving direct negotiations between a lessor and lessee, and as vendor leasing. 
Transactional lease financing tends to be a time-consuming and expensive 
process that is economically feasible only for transactions sufficiently large to 
generate profits in excess of the costs of preparing custom-made leases. Vendor 
leasing has developed to finance asset acquisitions that would not be profitable 
to finance with transactional leasing arrangements. Vendor leasing involves a 
third-party lessor that offers a vendor's or manufacturer's customers a basic 
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6 Finance Companies 

finance package. The lessor usually establishes interest rates within given 
dollar ranges and uses a standardized credit scoring process to approve credit 
and keep documentation simple. As a result, vendors are promptly paid for 
sales and avoid the need to perform in-house financing operations. 

1.31 Finance companies also may serve as lease brokers—that is, as 
intermediaries between lessors and lessees for a fee. The June 20, 1980, AICPA 
issues paper, Accounting by Lease Brokers, and FASB Technical Bulletin 86-2, 
Accounting for an Interest in the Residual Value of a Leased Asset Acquired by 
a Third Party or Retained by a Lessor That Sells the Related Minimum Rental 
Payments, provide additional information on lease broker arrangements. Cop-
ies of the issues paper are available from the AICPA. 

Participations 

1.32 Commercial finance companies sometimes enter into participation 
agreements with other lenders to maintain acceptable levels of risk or to 
provide the borrowers with lower costs or additional services. The agreements 
generally provide for losses to be shared mainly in proportion to the cash 
invested by each party. 

Debt Financing of Finance Companies 
1.33 The basic activity of finance companies is borrowing money at whole-

sale and lending it at retail. Finance companies usually are leveraged with 
outstanding borrowings equal to several times equity. Finance companies may 
have senior debt, senior subordinated debt, and junior subordinated debt. The 
existence of restrictive covenants in debt agreements is common. 

1.34 Robert Morris Associates, an organization of bank lending officers, 
has developed financial information questionnaires for lenders engaged in 
retail sales financing, direct cash lending, commercial financing, captive fi-
nancing activities, and mortgage banking. Finance companies generally com-
plete and submit the questionnaires to credit grantors as an integral part of 
the process of obtaining credit lines with commercial banks and other lenders. 
The information is used to analyze the quality of the operations and creditwor-
thiness of finance companies. 

Regulation 
1.35 Numerous state and federal statutes affect finance companies' op-

erations. Some statutes apply only to specific types of activities. Regulations 
affecting finance companies generally are limited to matters such as loan 
amounts, repayment terms, interest rates, and collateral; they generally do not 
deal with financial accounting and reporting. 

Direct Consumer Lending 

1.36 State laws regulating consumer finance operations are designated as 
licensed-lending, small-loan, or consumer-financing statutes. Diverse state 
statutes usually regulate mortgage loans and other direct consumer loans. 
Usually, each branch office of a company that makes direct consumer loans 
must be licensed by the state in which the office is located. State licensing 
authorities, many of which are divisions of state banking departments, exam-
ine loans to ascertain that they comply with statutory provisions and to 
determine whether rebates and refunds are properly computed. 
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Retail Sales Financing 

1.37 Laws governing retail sales financing may require offices to be 
licensed or registered. The laws vary widely among states. For example, all 
goods statutes may govern consumer goods loans; other goods laws may govern 
loans for consumer goods excluding automobiles. Additional statutes may 
affect revolving credit arrangements. 

Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act 

1.38 The Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act (Truth in Lending Act), 
through Federal Reserve Regulation Z, requires disclosure of finance charges 
and annual percentage rates so that consumers can more readily compare 
various credit terms. It does not set maximum or minimum rates of charges. 

Uniform Commercial Code 

1.39 The Uniform Commercial Code (UCC), fully adopted by all states, 
except Louisiana, at the date of issuing this guide, is a set of statutes designed 
to provide consistency among state laws concerning various commercial trans-
actions. Article 9 of the UCC, which deals with secured transactions, contains 
especially significant laws that affect financing activities. It applies to two-
party collateralized loan transactions as well as to sales of accounts receivable 
and retail sales contracts, which are essentially three-party transactions. 

1.40 Article 9 generally provides certain rights to the secured parties and 
the debtors involved in secured transactions. The definition of a secured party 
includes a lender who obtains a security interest as well as a buyer of trade 
accounts receivable or retail sales contracts. Similarly, the definition of a 
debtor includes both the individual obligor and the seller of trade accounts 
receivable or retail sales contracts. 

1.41 Under Article 9, all transactions creating a security interest are 
treated alike. The Article sets forth various procedures necessary to safeguard, 
or perfect, the potential creditor's interest in collateral against the interests of 
other creditors. Those procedures generally require that the creditor file a 
financing statement at a specified public office. The statement, available for 
public inspection, provides legal notice of a perfected security interest. Conse-
quently, before making collateralized loans, prospective lenders generally 
search the public files to determine if other lenders have already filed financing 
statements against the collateral. 

1.42 For certain commercial financing activities, Article 9 permits con-
tinuing general lien arrangements, in which a security interest applies continu-
ously to all present and future collateral of the type described in the financing 
statement for as long as the financing statement is effective. That provision 
simplifies, for example, maintaining security interests in purchased receiv-
ables and in collateral securing revolving loans. The underlying collateral 
becomes subject to the security interest as soon as it comes into existence or 
into the debtor's possession. 

1.43 The financing statement is generally effective for five years from the 
date of filing and then lapses, unless a continuation statement is filed within 
the six-month period before the expiration date. The continuation statement 
extends the security interest for another five years. 
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Chapter 2 

Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and 
Operating Procedures 

2.01 Finance receivables normally are the most significant portion of a 
finance company's total assets. This chapter describes many aspects of ac-
counting for and auditing finance receivables and related accounts. 

Accounting for Finance Receivables 
2.02 Finance receivables include both interest-bearing (simple interest) 

and precompute (discount) loans. State regulatory laws often prescribe the 
types of loans that can be made; otherwise, the type of loan is a matter of 
operating and customer choice. The face amount of an interest-bearing loan 
equals the amount of cash loaned; unearned interest is not determined. In a 
discount loan, however, the amount of cash loaned to the borrower is less than 
the face amount of the loan. The difference represents unearned interest 
income to be earned by the lender over the life of the loan. The borrower 
generally is entitled to pay less than the remaining unpaid face amount if the 
balance due on a discount loan is paid off faster than contractually scheduled. 
That difference, commonly called a rebate, represents a cancellation of a 
portion of the precomputed interest charge. 

2.03 Sales-type leases and direct financing leases are substantially simi-
lar to other forms of installment loans. However, accounting for lease transac-
tions may differ from accounting for other financing transactions. FASB 
Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and its related amendments and 
interpretations prescribe accounting for leases and their financial statement 
presentation. 

Accounting for the Allowance for Loan Losses 
2.04 A finance company should maintain a reasonable allowance for 

credit losses applicable to all categories of receivables through periodic charges 
to operating expenses. The amount of the provision can be considered reason-
able when the allowance for credit losses, including the current provision, is 
adequate to cover estimated losses in the receivables portfolio. 

2.05 The allowance for loan losses reduces the carrying amount of loans 
receivable to the amount that is estimated to be collectible. FASB Statement 
No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, as amended by 
FASB Statement No. 118, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan— 
Income Recognition and Disclosures (an amendment of FASB Statement No. 
114), addresses the accounting by creditors for impairment of certain loans. It 
is applicable to all creditors and to all loans, uncollateralized as well as 
collateralized, and loans that are restructured in a troubled debt restructuring 
involving a modification of terms except large groups of smaller-balance homo-
geneous loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment, loans that are 
measured at fair value or at the lower of cost or fair value, leases, and debt 
securities as defined in FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain 
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting 
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for Contingencies, and FASB Interpretation No. 14, Reasonable Estimation of 
the Amount of a Loss, provide the accounting guidance for recognition of 
estimated losses from the uncollectibility of receivables not within the scope of 
FASB Statement No. 114. FASB Statement No. 5 requires that an allowance 
for credit losses be established through a charge to the provision for loan losses 
in the period when it is probable that an asset has been impaired and the 
amount can be reasonably estimated. FASB Statement No. 114 requires that 
impairment of a loan be measured based on the present value of expected 
future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate or, as a 
practical expedient, at the loan's observable market price or the fair value of 
the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. FASB Statement No. 114 
amends FASB Statement No. 5 to clarify that a creditor should evaluate the 
collectibility of both contractual interest and contractual principal of all receiv-
ables when assessing the need for a loss accrual. The Statement also amends 
FASB Statement No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled 
Debt Restructurings, to require a creditor to measure all loans that are restruc-
tured in a troubled debt restructuring involving a modification of terms in 
accordance with FASB Statement No. 114. FASB Statement No. 114 and FASB 
Statement No. 118 are effective for financial statements for fiscal years begin-
ning after December 15, 1994. 

2.06 FASB Statement No. 114, as amended by FASB Statement No. 118, 
does not address how a creditor should recognize, measure, or display interest 
income on impaired loans. Accordingly, creditors may use existing methods for 
recognizing interest income or the two methods discussed in FASB Statement 
No. 114 prior to the amendment. However, regardless of which income recog-
nition method is used, an impairment shall be recognized if the net carrying 
amount of the loan exceeds the applicable fair value amount determined under 
the FASB Statement No. 114 measurement model. 

2.07 FASB Statement No. 5, prohibits recognizing losses if the events 
causing the losses have not yet occurred. The act of lending money generally is 
not the event that causes asset impairment. Though some credit losses can be 
predicted, future losses should not be provided for at the time loans are made, 
because the events that cause the losses or loan impairment (for example, loss 
of employment, disability, or bankruptcy) have not yet occurred. Generally, a 
loan would be impaired at origination only if a faulty credit granting decision 
has been made or loan credit review procedures are inadequate or overly 
aggressive, in which case, the loss should be recognized at the date of loan 
origination. Management's analysis of historical loan loss experience may 
identify specific factors that indicate that loans have become impaired. Those 
factors, when evaluated collectively for loan portfolios over a period of time, 
often provide reasonably reliable indications of when such loss events have 
occurred. 

2.08 Many consumer finance companies determine the allowance for 
credit losses using the portfolio approach because performing a receivable-by-
receivable analysis would be impractical. In the portfolio approach, mathe-
matical models that incorporate techniques such as linear regression analysis 
sometimes are used to estimate losses in the portfolio. Simpler methods also 
are used, such as estimating the reserve based on the historical percentage of 
loans made or outstanding that are written off. 

2.09 Other finance companies periodically evaluate specific outstanding 
loans to identify those loans for which events have occurred that are likely to 
impair collectibility or collateral values, or both. This approach is more com-
monly used for large loans and diverse portfolios. 
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2.10 Regardless of the method used to estimate the allowance for credit 
losses, present conditions such as the amount of delinquent receivables and the 
number of days they are past due; local, national, and international economic 
trends; credit policies and procedures; and the mix of receivables should be 
taken into account in evaluating the adequacy of the allowance. 

Accounting for Interest Income 
2.11 The distinction between interest-bearing and discount-basis loans 

has no economic or accounting significance. Paragraph 15 of APB Opinion No. 
21, Interest on Receivables and Payables, requires, among other things, that 
discounts on receivables and payables be amortized as interest income or 
expense. The concepts and principles discussed in this chapter therefore apply 
to both types of loans. 

2.12 Interest income should be measured and recognized in a manner 
that reflects the economic substance of the underlying transactions. Interest 
income derived from a loan accrues continuously at a constant rate over the 
periods that a finance company's resources are held by others. The following 
constitute the major factors that determine interest income: 

a. The amount of money provided to others 
b. The periods over which the money is provided 
c. The effective interest rate 

2.13 Captive finance companies that offer favorable financing to increase 
sales of related companies may present particular problems. APB Opinion No. 
21 provides accounting guidance to use if the face amount of a note does not 
reasonably represent the present value of the consideration given or received 
in an exchange. 

Measurement 

2.14 The interest (actuarial) method should be used to account for inter-
est income in accordance with FASB Statement No. 91, Accounting for Nonre-
fundable Fees and Costs Associated With Originating or Acquiring Loans and 
Initial Direct Costs of Leases. Under that method, interest on fixed-rate install-
ment loans is measured and accrued over the lives of the loans to produce 
constant rates of interest (yields) when applied to the outstanding loan bal-
ances at any time in the lives of the loans. Application of the method produces 
loans carried at amounts equal to future receipts discounted at interest rates 
implicit in original loan agreements, excluding differences resulting from 
credit losses. Other computational methods may not be used unless they 
clearly produce results that reasonably approximate the interest (actuarial) 
method. 

Recognition 

2.15 A finance company's revenues from loans should be accrued over 
time in accordance with the terms of the contracts using the interest (actuarial) 
method. Even if collections are not timely, the amounts at which assets are 
recorded in the form of receivables generally should continue to increase. If 
collection is not probable, however, continuing to accrue income would not 
reflect economic substance. Accruals or amortization of discount and, in accord-
ance with FASB Statement No. 91, paragraph 17, amortization of deferred net 
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fees or costs should therefore be suspended if collectibility of interest or 
principal is not probable. The following are examples of events that could cause 
such uncertainty on consumer loans: 

a. The borrower is in default under the terms of the loan agreement, 
and interest or principal payments are past due (often a stipulated 
number of days past due as established in company policies). 

b. The ability of the borrower to repay is in doubt because of events such 
as loss of employment or bankruptcy. 

c. The loan terms have been renegotiated. 
2.16 Identifying commercial loans on which interest should be suspended 

is, at least mechanically, more difficult because, unlike consumer loans, com-
mercial loans usually lack homogeneous characteristics. In addition to the 
factors described above, considerations may include whether— 

a. Significant unsecured balances are due from debtors suffering con-
tinued operating losses. 

b. The financial condition of the debtor is weak. 
c. The outlook for the debtor's industry is unfavorable. 
d. The ratio of collateral values to loans has decreased because of 

changes in market conditions. 
e. A portion of the unpaid principal or accrued interest has been written 

off. 
When recognition of interest has been suspended, interest income that has 
accrued on such loans should not be reversed even though receipt of those 
amounts may not be forthcoming. The potential uncollectibility of such 
amounts should be taken into consideration in the computation of the allowance 
for losses. 

2.17 Accrual of interest generally should not be resumed until future 
collectibility of the loan and accrued interest becomes probable. Determining 
future collectibility is a matter of judgment that depends on considerations 
such as— 

• Whether the customer has resumed making regular payments for a 
certain number of installments. 

• Whether the reason for the customer's delinquency has been elimi-
nated (such as reemployment of a consumer borrower or an improved 
economic outlook for a commercial borrower) or was an isolated cir-
cumstance unlikely to recur. 

• Whether an increase in the ratio of collateral values to loan amounts 
has occurred. 

• Whether there are any other substantive indications of the customer's 
regaining an ability to repay the loan. 

Nonrefundable Fees 

2.18 Finance companies may charge various types of fees to customers in 
connection with lending transactions, including the following: 

a. Origination fees—amounts charged for originating loans. The 
amounts may be intended to cover the cost of underwriting, loan 
application processing, and reviewing legal titles to properties in-
volved in the loans. Origination fees commonly are called points. 
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b. Commitment fees—consideration potential borrowers pay to poten-
tial lenders for promises to lend money in the future. 

c. Delinquency fees—amounts debtors pay because of late payments on 
loans. Such fees generally are small and are intended to cover 
additional interest on precompute loans, to compensate the lender 
for additional collection costs associated with delinquencies, or both. 

d. Prepayment penalties—amounts borrowers pay to lenders, in addi-
tion to remaining outstanding principal, if borrowers pay off loans 
prior to contractual maturities. 

2.19 FASB Statement No. 91 prescribes accounting for nonrefundable 
fees and costs associated with lending, committing to lend, or purchasing a loan 
or group of loans and their financial statement presentation. FASB Statement 
No. 91 specifies that— 

• Loan origination fees shall be recognized over the life of the related 
loan as an adjustment to yield. 

• Certain direct loan origination costs shall be recognized over the life 
of the related loan as a reduction of the loan's yield. 

• All loan commitment fees shall be deferred except for certain 
retrospectively determined fees; commitment fees meeting specified 
criteria shall be recognized over the loan commitment period; all other 
commitment fees shall be recognized as an adjustment of yield over 
the related loan's life or, if the commitment expires unexercised, 
recognized in income upon expiration of the commitment. 

• Loan fees, certain direct loan origination costs, and purchase premi-
ums and discounts on loans shall be recognized as an adjustment of 
yield generally by the interest method based on the contractual terms 
of the loan. Prepayments, however, may be anticipated in certain 
circumstances. 

2.20 Delinquency fees conceptually should be recognized in income when 
chargeable, assuming collectibility is reasonably estimable. In practice, delin-
quency fees generally are recognized in income when collected, because that 
approach simplifies efforts to account for such relatively minor receipts. 

2.21 Prepayment penalties should not be recognized in income until loans 
are prepaid. 

Rebates 

2.22 Rebates are cancellations of portions of the precomputed finance 
charges on discount loans that occur when loan payments are made ahead of 
schedule. Rebate calculations generally are governed by state laws and may 
differ from unamortized finance charges on discount loans because many 
states require rebate calculations to be based on the Rule of 78s or other 
methods instead of the interest method. Accrual of interest income on discount 
loans should not be affected by the possibility that rebates may be calculated 
on a method different from the interest method. Differences between rebate 
calculations and accrual of interest income merely adjust original estimates of 
interest income and should be recognized in income when loans are prepaid or 
renewed. 

Accounting for Factoring Commissions 
2.23 Finance companies consider the extent of services to be provided 

under factoring arrangements by reviewing prospective clients' business oper-
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ations. The amount a finance company charges as a factoring commission is 
based on such considerations as sales volume, number of invoices issued 
monthly, collection activities, and patterns of returns and chargebacks. If the 
finance company buys a client's receivables, the client is charged a commission, 
usually based on a percentage of receivables purchased, which is derived from 
the extent of services expected to be provided and the degree of credit risk 
assumed. 

2.24 Finance companies should recognize factoring commissions over the 
periods in which services are rendered. Those periods begin when finance 
companies approve customers' credit and end when the customers' accounts 
are settled. In practice, finance companies generally recognize factoring com-
missions when receivables are bought, not over the longer period of providing 
services, because the differences between the effects of such allocations and the 
effects of immediate recognition generally would be immaterial. If the differ-
ences between the effects of such allocations and the effects of immediate 
recognition are material, then factoring commissions are recognized over the 
longer period of providing services. 

Accounting for Advances and Overadvances to 
Factoring Clients 

2.25 Under advance factoring arrangements, finance companies gener-
ally do not treat advances to clients as receivables for financial statement 
purposes. Instead, advances are applied against amounts owed to clients from 
the purchase of clients' customer receivables. Such treatment is sound and is 
based on finance companies' expectations of repayment through collection of 
customer receivables rather than of direct repayment from clients. 

2.26 Finance companies generally limit advances to percentages of the 
unpaid amounts of factored receivables. If clients require advances in excess of 
the maximum permitted under the factoring arrangements, finance companies 
may renegotiate the percentage limitation on advances or require clients to 
grant security interests in inventory or other assets. Overadvances, which are 
amounts in excess of outstanding receivables bought, create additional credit 
risk exposure for lenders. Such overadvances should be recorded as loans 
receivable and segregated from customer receivables bought under factoring 
arrangements. 

Accounting for Repossessed Assets Acquired in 
Liquidation of Receivables 

2.27 When finance companies foreclose on loans deemed uncollectible, 
they may repossess goods or other properties that collateralize loans. After 
repossession, collateral usually is sold as quickly as possible to minimize 
losses. Repossessed assets acquired in loan liquidations may be significant 
because they absorb or reduce credit losses from defaulted loans. 

2.28 Certain types of collateral may be readily salable in wholesale or 
other markets. Repossessions of such collateral are common. Repossessions of 
other types of collateral, such as household goods, usually entail losses because 
the market values of such collateral are so low that costs of repossession exceed 

AAG-FIN 2.24 



Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and Operating Procedures 15 

expected sale proceeds. The primary purpose of such collateral often is to 
prompt borrowers to repay loans out of concern that the collateral could be 
repossessed. 

2.29 Repossessions on commercial loans can result in substantial losses 
because of the bargain prices usually associated with reselling inventories and 
property, plant, and equipment. Auctioneers or other specialists may be 
needed to help sell the specialized types of properties that usually collateralize 
commercial loans. 

Recourse Arrangements on Sales of Retail Contracts 

2.30 Whether the finance company or the dealers are responsible for 
repossession losses originating from retail contracts depends on how the 
agreements provide for recourse between the parties. Terms of recourse ar-
rangements, which vary considerably, include the following: 

a. Full recourse. The dealer is required to pay off the uncollected 
receivable balance to the finance company at the date of repossession. 
Such balances ordinarily are net of unearned insurance premiums 
and finance income, and dealers are responsible for selling the 
repossessed property. 

b. Partial or limited recourse. The dealer is liable for repossession 
losses up to an agreed amount (for example, the balance in his 
dealer's reserve account). The dealer's liability also may be partially 
or fully limited after passage of a defined period. 

c. Nonrecourse. Loss is borne entirely by the finance company. 
2.31 Repurchase agreements, which may incorporate recourse provisions 

as described above, also may exist between the finance company and dealers. 
Although such agreements vary, they generally provide that the dealer will 
buy back the collateral from the finance company at a predetermined price in 
the event of customer default and repossession by the finance company. The 
dealer may settle a repurchase obligation in cash or, if permitted by the finance 
company, by substituting other retail contracts. 

Lower of Unpaid Balance and Fair Value 

2.32 Borrowers' accounts should be credited for the unpaid loan bal-
ances or fair values of repossessed properties, whichever are lower. Borrow-
ers' accounts also are credited for proceeds from cancellation of insurance, 
rebates of unearned finance income, and, if applicable, amounts transferred 
from dealer reserves in accordance with provisions of retail sales financing 
agreements. The remaining balances in the borrowers' accounts, commonly 
called deficiency balances, are adjustments of previous loss estimates and 
should be charged to the allowance for losses. In those instances in which 
proceeds from the sale of repossessed properties exceed the unpaid loan 
balance and are not required to be refunded, that excess should be recog-
nized as a gain. 

2.33 Repossessed assets* should be carried at cost and classified on the 
balance sheet as other assets. Cost should be determined at the time of repos-

SOP 92-3, Accounting for Foreclosed Assets, provides guidance on determining the balance 
sheet treatment of foreclosed assets after foreclosure. The SOP, which is included as appendix C of 
this guide, should be applied to foreclosed assets in financial statements for periods ending on or after 
December 15, 1992. 
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session or foreclosure based on the lower of (a) unpaid loan balance and (b) fair 
value of repossessed assets. 

2.34 If repossessed assets are held or likely to be held for more than a 
brief period of time prior to sale, cost (as defined in paragraph 2.33 above) 
should periodically be evaluated for recoverability, and a separate, additional 
valuation allowance for loss should be provided based on "net realizable value" 
determined as follows: 

a. Estimated future sales price plus proceeds from use during the 
expected holding period, reduced by 

b. Estimated costs of disposition, and reduced by 

c. Estimated holding costs, such as taxes and maintenance, includ-
ing the cost of funds tied up in holding such assets. The cost of 
funds should be based on the enterprise's combined cost of debt 
and equity. 

2.35 Costs of capital improvements incurred in readying repossessed 
assets for sale that increase their values should be added to the carrying 
amount of the repossessed property. However, no amount should be capitalized 
that would increase the carrying amount above net realizable value. Differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of repossessed assets and amounts at 
which they subsequently are sold should not be charged or credited to the 
allowance for losses but should be recognized as gains or losses. 

2.36 Although the accounting for repossessed assets should be based on 
fair values in accordance with FASB Statement No. 15 and SOP 92-3, it may 
be impractical to estimate the fair values of some repossessed consumer goods. 
As a practical solution to that problem, finance companies that expect to hold 
such repossessed goods for only short periods before reselling them sometimes 
carry those goods at the unpaid loan balances. 

Accounting for Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks 
2.37 Finance companies account for dealer reserves and holdbacks as 

liabilities. Dealer reserve accounts are credited for the contractually agreed 
dealer's share of the finance charges. Dealer reserve accounts may be charged 
for portions of finance income not earned as a result of customers paying off 
contracts before maturity. Charges also result from losses on full or partial 
recourse contracts and from payments to dealers in excess of minimum re-
quirements. 

Accounting for Sales of Receivables 
2.38 A finance company may sell a portfolio of receivables to another 

finance company or financial institution for various reasons. For example, the 
buyer may be willing to pay an attractive premium for a portfolio of receivables 
to expand its operations, or the seller may be seeking to end operations in an 
area deemed unprofitable. 

2.39 If those receivables contain recourse provisions, FASB State-
ment No. 77, Reporting by Transferors for Transfers of Receivables With Re-
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course* controls whether such transactions should be accounted for as sales of 
receivables or as loans collateralized by receivables. The standard generally 
requires recognizing such a transfer as a sale if the transferor surrenders 
control of future economic benefits embodied in the receivables, the transferor's 
obligation under the recourse provisions can be reasonably estimated, and the 
transferee cannot require the transferor to repurchase the receivables except 
pursuant to the recourse provisions. 

Financial Statement Presentation and Disclosure 
2.40 Discount loans and interest-bearing loans should be presented simi-

larly on the balance sheet, because the economic substance of the transactions 
is essentially the same. To accomplish that, discount loans should be presented 
net of unearned interest. Although disclosure of interest that is accrued but not 
collected on interest-bearing loans may be meaningful, disclosure of the un-
earned interest generally is not meaningful. If unearned interest on discount 
loans is disclosed, such disclosures should be in the notes and not in the 
number columns of the balance sheet. 

2.41 The unamortized balance of loan origination, commitment, and 
other fees and costs and purchase premiums and discounts that is being 
recognized as an adjustment to yield should be classified on the balance sheet 
as part of the loan balance to which it relates. Amounts of loan origination, 
commitment, and other fees and costs recognized as an adjustment to yield 
should be reported as part of interest income. Amortization of other fees, such 
as commitment fees that are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
commitment period or included in income when the commitment expires, 
should be included with service fee income. 

2.42 The provision for credit losses should be presented separately in the 
income statement. Actual credit losses, which may be for all or part of a 
particular loan (or off-balance-sheet financial instrument), should be deducted 
from the allowance. Recoveries of loans previously charged off should be added 
to the allowance when received. 

2.43 The notes to the financial statements should include a summary of 
activity in the allowance for each period that an income statement is presented, 
including balances at the beginning and end of the periods, additions charged 
to operations, losses charged against the allowance, and recoveries of amounts 

* FASB Statement No. 125, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and 
Extinguishments of Liabilities, supersedes FASB Statement No. 77. The Statement is effective for 
transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after Decem-
ber 31, 1996, and is to be applied prospectively. Earlier or retroactive application is not permitted. 
FASB Statement No. 127, Deferral of the Effective Date of Certain Provisions of FASB Statement No. 
125, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 125, replaces paragraph 19 of FASB Statement No. 125 
with the following: 

[FASB Statement No. 125] shall be effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets 
and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after December 31, 1996 except that: 
a. Paragraph 15 shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring after Decem-

ber 31, 1997. 
b. For repurchase agreement, dollar-roll, securities lending, and similar transactions, 

paragraphs 9-12 and 237(b) shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring 
after December 31, 1997. 

If it is not possible to determine whether a transfer occurring during calendar-year 1997 is 
covered by paragraph 19(b), then paragraphs 9-12 and 237(b) shall be applied to that trans-
fer. All provisions of this Statement shall be applied prospectively, and earlier or retroactive 
application is not permitted. 
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previously charged off. A description of the accounting policies and methodol-
ogy the entity used to estimate its allowance and related provision for credit 
losses should be included in the notes to the financial statements. Such a 
description should identify the factors that influenced management's judgment 
(for example, historical losses and existing economic conditions) and may also 
include discussion of risk elements relevant to particular categories of financial 
instruments. The nature and amount provided for credit losses related to 
off-balance-sheet financial instruments should be reported separately as li-
abilities. 

2.44 The composition of finance receivables should be disclosed either in 
the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements in a manner that 
best sets forth the kinds of risks and liquidity involved. The amount of accrued 
interest should be included in the finance receivables but need not be disclosed 
separately. The amount of nonearning assets represented by consumer and 
commercial loans for which accruals have been suspended (see paragraphs 
2.15 to 2.17 of this guide) should be disclosed separately. 

2.45 FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and related amend-
ments and interpretations provide guidance on accounting and financial re-
porting for leases. 

2.46 The expanded possible range in size and term of receivables within 
each receivable type has created a need for disclosure of information about 
terms and maturities. Though disclosure of contractual maturities may meet 
that need, such data will not always be relevant. For example, actual repay-
ment experience often is faster than contractually required for consumer loans. 
If circumstances indicate that data on contractual maturities are not relevant, 
disclosure of data on prior collection experience also should be considered. 

2.47 Financial statements should disclose interest and finance charges 
earned separately from other kinds of income, such as insurance premiums. In 
addition, the summary of significant accounting policies should explain the 
method of income recognition used. Policies for suspending and resuming accruals 
of income on delinquent loans and policies for charging off uncollectible loans 
should clearly disclose the basis for making such decisions. If the charge-off policy 
is based on a specific delinquency period, that period should be disclosed. Vague 
statements such as "consumer loans are charged off when considered to be 
uncollectible" are not meaningful and fail to disclose the substance of such policies. 

2.48 FASB Statement No. 57, Related Party Disclosures, prescribes cer-
tain disclosures of material related party transactions. Such transactions may 
include loans to officers, directors, and employees. 

2.49 FASB Statement No. 105, Disclosure of Information About Financial 
Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk and Financial Instruments with 
Concentrations of Credit Risk, requires certain disclosures of financial instru-
ments with off-balance-sheet credit or market risk and disclosure of significant 
concentrations of credit risk for all financial instruments. 

2.50 FASB Statement No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial 
Instruments, requires disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments for 
which it is practicable to estimate that value. Quoted market prices should be 
used if available. If quoted market prices are not available, management's best 
estimate of fair value should be used. Estimates may be based on (a) the 
market prices of similarly traded loans with similar credit ratings, interest 
rates, and maturity dates, (b) current prices (interest rates) offered for similar 
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loans in the company's own lending activities, or (c) valuations obtained from 
loan pricing series offered by various specialist firms or from other sources. If 
it is not practicable to estimate the fair value of a financial instrument or a 
class of financial instruments, FASB Statement No. 107 requires the disclo-
sure of (a) information pertinent to estimating the fair value of that financial 
instrument or class of financial instruments, such as the carrying amount, 
effective interest rate, and maturity, and (b) the reasons why it is not practica-
ble to estimate fair value. 

2.51 FASB Statement No. 119, Disclosure about Derivative Financial 
Instruments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires increased 
disclosures about derivatives and the financial instruments. FASB Statement 
No. 119 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years ending after 
December 15, 1994 (1995 for companies with less than $150 million in assets) 
and applies to all companies. 

2.52 FASB Statement No. 119 expands the disclosure requirements of 
FASB Statement No. 105 to encompass all derivative financial instruments, 
not just those with off-balance-sheet risk. In addition, it requires the following 
FASB Statement No. 105 disclosures to be provided, distinguished between the 
two general purposes for which derivative financial instruments are held or 
issued—trading and other than trading: 

a. Face or contract amount (or notional principal amount). 
b. Nature and terms, including at a minimum, a discussion of the credit 

and market risk of the instruments, the cash requirements of the 
instruments, and related accounting policies. 

2.53 FASB Statement No. 119 also requires presentation of the above 
disclosure organized by category of financial instrument. Category refers to 
class of financial instrument, business activity, risk, or other grouping that is 
consistent with the management of those instruments. If the categorization is 
other than by class of financial instrument, FASB Statement No. 119 requires 
that the classes within a category be identified. 

2.54 For companies that hold or issue derivatives for trading purposes, 
FASB Statement No. 119 requires disclosure of the average fair value of 
positions along with related end of period fair value distinguished between 
assets and liabilities during the reporting period and disaggregated net trading 
gains and losses. For companies that hold or issue derivatives for purposes 
other than trading, FASB Statement No. 119 requires disclosures about the 
objective for holding those instruments and how those instruments are re-
ported in the financial statements. FASB Statement No. 119 also requires 
companies that use derivatives to hedge anticipated transactions to provide a 
description of the anticipated transactions and when they are expected to 
occur, the amount of hedging gains and losses explicitly deferred and the 
events that will trigger the recognition of those gains or losses, and the classes 
of derivatives used to hedge the anticipated transactions. FASB Statement No. 
119 also amends FASB Statement No. 107 to require that fair value disclosures 
distinguish between financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes 
and financial instruments held or issued for other purposes. 

Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial 
Assets ana Extinguishments of Liabilities 

2.55 FASB Statement No. 125 provides accounting and reporting stand-
ards for transfers and servicing of financial assets, including securities. The 
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Statement is based on consistent application of a financial components ap-
proach that focuses on control. FASB Statement No. 125 describes that, under 
that approach, after a transfer of financial assets, an entity recognizes the 
financial and servicing assets it controls and the liabilities it has incurred, 
derecognizes financial assets when control has been surrendered, and derecog-
nizes liabilities when extinguished. FASB Statement No. 125 provides consis-
tent standards for distinguishing transfers of financial assets that are sales 
from transfers that are secured borrowings. 

2.56 Under FASB Statement No. 125, a transfer of financial assets (or all 
or a portion of a financial asset) in which the transferor surrenders control over 
those assets is accounted for as a sale to the extent that consideration other 
than beneficial interests in the transferred assets is received in exchange. 
Paragraph 9 of the Statement says a transferor has surrendered control over 
transferred assets if and only if all of the following conditions are met: 

а. The transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor—put 
presumptively beyond the reach of the transferor and its creditors, 
even in bankruptcy or other receivership (paragraphs 23 and 24 of 
the Statement give related guidance). 

b. Either (1) each transferee obtains the right-free of conditions that 
constrain it from taking advantage of that right (paragraph 25 of the 
Statement)—to pledge or exchange the transferred assets or (2) the 
transferee is a qualifying special-purpose entity (paragraph 26 of the 
Statement) and the holders of beneficial interests in that entity have 
the right—free of conditions that constrain them from taking advan-
tage of that right (paragraph 25 of the Statement) to pledge or 
exchange those interests. 

c. The transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred 
assets through (1) an agreement that both entitles and obligates the 
transferor to repurchase or redeem them before their maturity (para-
graphs 27-29 of the Statement) or (2) an agreement that entitles the 
transferor to repurchase or redeem transferred assets that are not 
readily obtainable (paragraph 30 of the Statement). 

2.57 Paragraph 10 of FASB Statement No. 125 requires that liabilities 
and derivatives incurred or obtained by transferors as part of a transfer of 
financial assets be measured at fair value, if practicable. Paragraph 10 of the 
Statement also requires that servicing assets and other retained interests in 
the transferred assets be measured by allocating the previous carrying amount 
between the assets sold, if any, and retained interests, if any, based on their 
relative fair values at the date of the transfer. Specifically, paragraph 10 of the 
Statement requires that, upon completion of any transfer of financial assets, 
the transferor shall: 

a. Continue to carry in its statement of financial position any retained 
interest in the transferred assets, including if applicable, servicing 
assets (paragraphs 35-41 of the Statement give related guidance), 
beneficial interests in assets transferred to a qualifying special-pur-
pose entity in a securitization (paragraphs 47-58 of the Statement), 
and retained undivided interests (paragraph 33 of the Statement). 

b. Allocate the previous carrying amount between the assets sold, if 
any, and the retained interests, if any, based on their relative fair 
values at the date of transfer (paragraphs 31-34 of the Statement). 
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2.58 Paragraph 11 of FASB Statement No. 125 requires that, upon com-

pletion of a transfer of assets that satisfies the conditions to be accounted for 
as a sale (paragraph 9 of the Statement), the transferor (seller) shall: 

a. Derecognize all assets sold. 

b. Recognize all assets obtained and liabilities incurred in considera-
tion as proceeds of the sale, including cash, put or call options held 
or written (for example, guarantee or recourse obligations), forward 
commitments (for example, commitments to deliver additional re-
ceivables during the revolving periods of some securitizations), 
swaps (for example, provisions that convert interest rates from fixed 
to variable), and servicing liabilities, if applicable (paragraphs 31, 
32, and 35-41 of the Statement give related guidance). 

c. Initially measure at fair value assets obtained and liabilities in-
curred in a sale (paragraphs 42-44 of the Statement) or, if it is not 
practicable to estimate the fair value of an asset or a liability, apply 
alternative measures (paragraphs 45 and 46 of the Statement). 

d. Recognize in earnings any gain or loss on the sale. 

Paragraph 11 of the Statement further requires that the transferee recognize 
all assets obtained and any liabilities incurred and initially measure them at 
fair value (in aggregate, presumptively the price paid). 

2.59 If a transfer of financial assets in exchange for cash or other consid-
eration (other than beneficial interests in the transferred assets) does not meet 
the criteria for a sale in paragraph 9 of FASB Statement No. 125, paragraph 
12 of the Statement requires that the transferor and transferee account for the 
transfer as a secured borrowing with pledge of collateral. As discussed in 
paragraph 2.58, paragraph 15 of the Statement provides guidance and also 
requires that debtors reclassify financial assets pledged as collateral and that 
secured parties recognize those assets and their obligation to return them in 
certain circumstances in which the secured party has taken control of those 
assets. 

2.60 Recognition and Measurement of Servicing Assets and Liabilities. 
Paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 125 requires that: 

Each time an entity undertakes an obligation to service financial assets it shall 
recognize either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing 
contract, unless it securitizes the assets, retains all of the resulting securities, 
and classifies them as debt securities held-to-maturity in accordance with 
FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 
Equity Securities. If the servicing asset or liability was purchased or assumed 
rather than undertaken in a sale or securitization of the financial assets being 
serviced, it shall be measured initially at its fair value, presumptively the price 
paid. A servicing asset or liability shall be amortized in proportion to and over 
the period of estimated net servicing income (if servicing revenues exceed 
servicing costs) or net servicing loss (if servicing costs exceed servicing reve-
nues). A servicing asset or liability shall be assessed for impairment or in-
creased obligation based on its fair value (paragraphs 35-38 of the Statement 
provide additional guidance). 

2.61 Financial Assets Subject to Prepayment. Paragraph 14 of FASB 
Statement No. 125 requires that interest-only strips, loans, other receivables, 
or retained interests in securitizations that can contractually be prepaid or 
otherwise settled in such a way that the holder would not recover substantially 
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all of its recorded investment shall be subsequently measured like investments 
in debt securities classified as available-for-sale or trading under FASB State-
ment No. 115, as amended by paragraph 233 of FASB Statement No. 125. 

2.62 Secured Borrowings and Collateral. Paragraph 15 of FASB State-
ment No. 125 says: 

A debtor may grant a security interest in certain assets to a lender (the secured 
party) to serve as collateral for its obligation under a borrowing, with or without 
recourse to other assets of the debtor. An obligor under other kinds of current 
or potential obligations, for example, interest rate swaps, also may grant a 
security interest in certain assets to a secured party. If collateral is transferred 
to the secured party, the custodial arrangement is commonly referred to as a 
pledge. Secured parties sometimes are permitted to sell or repledge (or other-
wise transfer) collateral held under a pledge. The same relationships occur, 
under different names, in transfers documented as sales that are accounted for 
as secured borrowings (paragraph 12). The accounting for collateral by the 
debtor (or obligor) and the secured party depends on whether the secured party 
has taken control over the collateral and on the rights and obligations that 
result from the collateral arrangement: 

a. If (1) the secured party is permitted by contract or custom to sell or 
repledge the collateral and (2) the debtor does not have the right and 
ability to redeem the collateral on short notice, for example, by substi-
tuting other collateral or terminating the contract, then 

(i) The debtor shall reclassify that asset and report that asset in its 
statement of financial position separately (for example, as securities 
receivable from broker) from other assets not so encumbered. 

(ii) The secured party shall recognize that collateral as its asset, initially 
measure it at fair value, and also recognizes its obligation to return it. 

b. If the secured party sells or repledges collateral on terms that do not give 
it the right and ability to repurchase or redeem the collateral from the 
transferee on short notice and thus may impair the debtors right to 
redeem it, the secured party shall recognize the proceeds from the sale 
or the asset repledged and its obligation to return the asset to the extent 
that it has not already recognized them. The sale or repledging of the 
asset is a transfer subject to the provisions of this Statement. 

c. If the debtor defaults under the terms of the secured contract and is no 
longer entitled to redeem the collateral it shall derecognize the collateral, 
and the secured party shall recognize the collateral as its asset to the extent 
it has not already recognized it and initially measure it at fair value. 

d. Otherwise the debtor shall continue to carry the collateral as its asset, 
and the secured party shall not recognize the pledged asset. 

Paragraphs 61 through 65 of FASB Statement No. 125 discuss application of 
the Statement to securities lending transactions. Application of the Statement 
to repurchase agreements and wash sales are discussed in paragraphs 66 
through 71 of the Statement. 

Disclosures of Certain Significant Risks 
and Uncertainties 

2.63 SOP 94-6, Disclosure of Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties, 
was issued on December 30, 1994. This SOP applies to financial statements 
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prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applica-
ble to nongovernmental entities. It applies to all entities that issue such 
statements. It does not apply to condensed or summarized interim financial 
statements. It requires reporting entities to include in their financial state-
ments disclosures about: 

a. The nature of their operations. 
b. Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements. 

2.64 In addition, if specified disclosure criteria are met, it requires enti-
ties to include in their financial statements disclosures about: 

a. Certain significant estimates. 
b. Current vulnerability due to certain concentrations. 

2.65 The provisions of this SOP are effective for financial statements 
issued for fiscal years ending after December 15, 1995, and for financial 
statements for interim periods in fiscal years subsequent to the year for which 
the SOP is first applied. Early application is encouraged but not required. 

Audit Objectives for Receivables and Income 
2.66 An audit of finance receivables and finance income should be de-

signed to provide reasonable assurance that— 
a. Loans and receivables are valid obligations owed to the entity at the 

date of the financial statements. 
b. The allowance for related losses is adequate to provide for estimated 

losses in the loan portfolio at the date of the financial statements. 
c. Accrued interest revenues for the period on both interest-bearing and 

precompute loans have been properly recorded. 
d. Provisions for credit losses have been properly recorded. 
e. Adequate disclosures, including proper disclosure of any pledged or 

assigned receivables, are included in the financial statements. 
f. Deferred loan origination costs are properly stated and amortization 

is properly computed. 

Audit Planning 
2.67 The audit procedures performed in connection with the allowance for 

credit losses typically are time-consuming and are most efficient when initi-
ated early in the fieldwork. Because of the subjective nature of the loan review 
process, experienced audit personnel, preferably with prior finance company 
auditing experience and, if necessary, with knowledge of industries in which 
the finance company's loans are concentrated, should closely supervise or 
perform this section of the audit. The assigned audit staff should also understand 
the lending environment, including credit strategy, credit risk, and the lending 
policies, procedures, and control environment of the finance company, and should 
be familiar with known related parties and related party transactions. 

2.68 The overriding factor in the credit extension process is the amount 
of credit risk associated with the lending process, which is addressed early in 
the auditor's review of the finance company's business and control environ-
ment. For individual loans, credit risk pertains to the borrower's ability and 
willingness to pay and is assessed before credit is granted or renewed and 
periodically throughout the loan term. 
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2.69 Additional risks, however, are involved in the overall credit process, 
and the finance company should assess them when developing credit strategy, 
defining target markets, and designing proper controls over credit initiation 
and credit supervision. Those additional risks include the following: 

a. Collateral risk. The finance company may be exposed to loss on collat-
eralized loans if its security interest is not perfected or the collateral is 
not otherwise under its control, or if the value of the collateral declines. 

b. Concentration risk. Inadequate diversification of the loan portfolio 
in terms of different industries, geographic regions, or number of 
borrowers may result in significant losses. A high concentration of 
loans to companies in an industry experiencing economic problems, 
for example, would constitute a concentration risk. 

c. Fraud risk. Loans may expose the finance company to loss by not 
being either bona fide or arm's-length transactions. 

d. Insider risk. Loans to executive officers, directors, and principal 
shareholders of the finance company and related interests of such 
insiders may expose the finance company to loss if these loans are 
made to related individuals, companies, or both, with little credit 
history, or to newly organized or highly leveraged enterprises with 
insufficient collateral and inadequate financial information. 

e. Legal and regulatory risk. Illegally granted loans, loans with usuri-
ous interest rates, and loans with terms that are not adequately 
disclosed to the borrower may expose the finance company to loss. 

f. Management risk. Management's competence, judgment, and in-
tegrity in originating, disbursing, supervising, collecting, and re-
viewing loans could substantially affect the collectibility of loans. 

g. Operations risk. Funds might be disbursed without proper loan 
authorization, collateral documentation, or loan documentation. 
Failure to evaluate and monitor potentially uncollectible loans also 
constitutes an operations risk. 

2.70 Audit risk and materiality are considered together in determining 
the nature, timing, and extent of auditing procedures and in evaluating the 
results of those procedures. SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and Materiality in Con-
ducting an Audit, provides guidance on audit risk and materiality as they 
relate to planning and performing an audit. 

2.71 Audit risk and materiality are considered initially at the financial 
statement level in order to limit the risk of undetected material misstatement 
of the financial statements taken as a whole to a low level. However, the 
auditor should also consider audit risk at the account level (that is, allowance 
for credit losses) to assist in determining the scope of auditing procedures for 
the particular account balance or class of transaction. Because the loan portfo-
lio is usually the finance company's largest asset, and the allowance for credit 
losses is, to a significant extent, based on subjective judgments, the allowance 
is usually a high-risk audit area. 

2.72 Effective loan review and internal audit departments can provide 
valuable assistance to the auditor and improve audit efficiency. Discussions 
with loan review and internal audit staff can provide the auditor with informa-
tion concerning loan customers, related party transactions, and account histo-
ries that may not be readily available elsewhere. In addition, because it is 
sometimes directly involved in implementing control systems, the internal 
audit department can provide the auditor with important system descriptions. 
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2.73 Sometimes the loan review and internal audit departments' testing 
procedures are of such quality that the auditor may conclude that it would be 
efficient to consider the work of the loan review and internal audit staffs in 
determining the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures. SAS No. 65, 
The Auditor's Consideration of the Internal Audit Function in an Audit of 
Financial Statements, provides the auditor with guidance on considering the 
work of internal auditors and on using internal auditors to provide direct assis-
tance to the auditor in an audit performed in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards. 

2.74 In establishing the scope of the work to be performed, the auditor 
normally considers the following factors: 

a. Composition of the loan portfolio 
b. Identified potential problem loans 
c. Trends in loan volume by major categories, especially categories 

experiencing rapid growth, and in delinquencies, nonaccrual, and 
restructured loans 

d. Previous loss and recovery experience, including timeliness of 
charge-offs 

e. Concentrations of loans to individuals and their related interests, 
industries, and geographic regions 

f. Size of individual credit exposures (few, large loans versus numer-
ous, small loans) 

g. Extent of use of work performed by internal loan review and internal 
audit functions 

h. Total amount of loans and problem loans, including delinquent and 
nonaccrual loans, by branch 

i. Lending, charge-off, collection, and recovery policies and procedures 
j. Local, national, and international economic and environmental con-

ditions 
k. Experience, competence, and depth of lending management and staff 
l. Results of regulatory examinations 

m. Related party lending 

Internal Control 
2.75 An overview of the various controls pertaining to finance receivables 

and related accounts is included in the next section of this chapter. Although 
not all controls identified are found in every finance company, the following 
section lists considerations that may provide guidance in obtaining an under-
standing of internal control and assessing control risk. 

Receivables and Income 

2.76 Controls pertaining to loans are determined partly by the type of 
loan and the related risks involved. In obtaining an understanding of controls 
and to assess control risk pertaining to loan transactions, matters the auditor 
might consider include whether— 

• Duties are segregated. 
• Loans are made only in accordance with established policies. 
• Credit reports are obtained for loans. 
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• Loans are properly approved by officers or branch managers and, if 
required, reviewed by a loan committee. 

• Loan approval, disbursement, and collection (access to assets) are 
checked, performed by, or adequately tested by other employees. 

• Management has established dollar limits and minimum credit stand-
ards on loans. 

• Advances against significant chattels are made only after physical 
inspection of the property and determination that the borrower has 
proper title to the property. 

• Loans or advances on accounts receivable are made only against 
verified claims for merchandise actually shipped. 

• Management reviews or internal audit procedures are sufficient to 
detect problems early. 

• Receivables balances are confirmed as part of management review or 
internal audit procedures. 

• Physical protection of notes, collateral, and supporting documents is 
adequate. 

• Employees who do not process or record loan transactions prepare and 
reconcile ledger trial balances with subsidiary and other control ac-
counts on a timely basis. 

• Paid notes are canceled and returned with collateral agreements, if 
any, to the borrowers. 

• Collateral is reviewed and physically inspected periodically. 
• UCC filings are updated periodically. 
• Personal or corporate guarantees are updated periodically. 
• Corporate borrowers' or guarantors' financial statements are received 

and reviewed periodically. 
• Documents supporting new loans are inspected for proper form, com-

pleteness, and accuracy by someone other than the lending officer or 
branch manager. 

• Loan balances are periodically compared with current collateral val-
ues. 

• Status reports are prepared indicating the condition of collateralized 
receivables, turnover of inventory collateral, and other information, 
and such reports are reviewed by management. 

• Loans are reviewed in a timely fashion for collectibility; the adequacy 
of the allowance for credit losses is evaluated and documented; and 
write-offs are recorded as soon as loans are reasonably expected to 
become uncollectible. 

• Aging schedules are accurately and periodically prepared, and are 
used to help collection efforts and to assess collectibility. 

• Control is maintained over charged-off loans. 
• Reasonable collection efforts continue after the date of charge-off. 
• Adequate procedures assure that income is accurately computed by 

the interest (actuarial) method. 
• Loans are reviewed regularly to determine whether income accruals 

should be suspended or reinstated in accordance with company poli-
cies. 

• Remedial action programs are in place for all substandard loans and 
are being carried out in a timely manner. 

AAG-FIN 2.76 



Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and Operating Procedures 27 

• Changes in state laws and regulations are monitored to make sure 
that lending activities continue to be in compliance. 

• Payment extensions, deferments, or other modifications to repayment 
terms are made only in accordance with established policies and are 
reviewed by management. 

• Rebates of precomputed interest and insurance premiums made in 
connection with renewals and early payoffs are computed in accord-
ance with state regulations. 

• Extension fees, service fees, and late charges are computed in accord-
ance with state regulations. 

Loan and Related Files 
2.77 Loan files for most types of finance receivables are often significant 

sources of information for the auditor. The documents in loan files vary 
according to the types of loans. The timely receipt and review of those docu-
ments provide a basis for granting credit, reviewing extensions, and maintain-
ing an awareness of loan status. 

2.78 The principal support for most consumer loans is the signed note and 
security instrument. In addition to that support, consumer loan files may 
contain loan applications, credit agency or scoring sheets used to evaluate the 
creditworthiness of borrowers, histories of collection activities, and evidence of 
existing insurance coverage. Consumer loan files also should contain indica-
tions of compliance with the consumer credit disclosure requirements of the 
Truth in Lending Act. That statute, which provides for mandatory disclosure 
of effective interest rates being charged to the consumer, applies to all lending 
institutions. 

2.79 Documents in mortgage loan files may depend in part on local 
statutory requirements and company policy. In addition to various documents 
found in consumer loan files, the basic documents generally include but are not 
necessarily limited to the notes, loan applications, appraisal reports, deeds of 
trust, mortgages, title insurance or opinions, insurance policies, settlement 
statements, and Department of Veterans Affairs guarantees or Federal Hous-
ing Administration insurance, if applicable. 

2.80 A typical commercial loan file generally includes financial state-
ments of both the borrower and guarantors (individual or corporate), copies of 
supplemental agreements between the finance company and the borrower, and 
other related correspondence. Other materials in commercial loan files may 
include copies of UCC filings, documentation of loan approvals summarizing 
the reasons for granting credit, documentation of ongoing reviews of the 
borrowers' credit standings, information on loan collateral, and histories of 
collection activities. Commercial loan terms tend to be tailored for the individ-
ual borrower, unlike consumer loans, which generally have standardized 
terms. 

Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation of Receivables 
2.81 Controls related to repossessed assets acquired in liquidations may 

vary considerably among companies and by the nature of the collateral. In 
obtaining an understanding of controls related to repossessed assets, the 
auditor should consider whether— 

a. Separate subledger accounts are maintained for assets acquired in 
liquidations even though amounts of such assets held at a particular 
time may be immaterial. 
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b. Repossessions are authorized and disposed of in accordance with 
company policies. 

c. Repossessions are promptly reported and recorded. 
d. Operating procedures provide for reasonable valuation of repos-

sessed assets acquired in liquidations. 
e. Net realizable values of unsold repossessed assets are reviewed 

periodically to determine if carrying amounts should be written 
down. 

f. Controls are established over reconditioning and other costs of repos-
sessions and proceeds from sales of repossessed properties. 

g. Controls assure that accounting entries are accurate for recourse 
arrangements with dealers that provide for sharing of repossession 
risks and responsibilities. 

Dealer Reserves 
2.82 In obtaining an understanding of controls related to dealers' re-

serves, the auditor should consider whether— 
a. Dealer-reserve arrangements are established only in accordance 

with company policies. 
b. Documentation is sufficient to provide enforceability of the contract 

terms. 
c. Accounting procedures are adequate to ensure that improper charges 

are not made to dealer-reserve accounts for rebates, delinquent 
accounts, charge-offs, and other items. 

d. Charges to dealer-reserve accounts are adequately reviewed and 
approved by management. 

e. Debit balances are followed up for collection. 
f. Dealer-reserve statements are sent to dealers if required by terms of 

the dealer agreements. 

Branch Offices 
2.83 Finance companies that lend to consumers often operate branch 

offices to make and service loans because of the importance of convenience, 
close personal contact with customers, and competitive considerations. Branch 
offices usually have limited numbers of personnel, so complete segregation of 
duties may not be feasible. To compensate, many finance companies rely on 
central computerized controls and on management personnel to regularly 
review branch office operations. On visits to branch offices, management 
may— 

• Review the extent of collection efforts and control over delinquent 
accounts. 

• Review a sample of loans made since the last visit for proper approval 
and for quality and adequacy of documentation. 

• Review a sample of loans for terms and financing charges. 
• Count cash and confirm selected receivables. 
• Observe branch employees to appraise their performance. 
• Prepare a report to review with the branch manager that serves as a 

checklist for follow-up work and provides documentation of the visit. 
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2.84 Some of these procedures may be performed by the internal audit 
staff. Existence and effectiveness of internal audit procedures may provide 
additional controls beyond those supplied by management reviews. In addi-
tion, each level of management may be continuously monitored by the next-
higher level of management to determine whether operating controls for 
review of branch operations are complied with. The auditor may conclude, 
therefore, that the audit of branch offices may be limited to focus primarily on 
the work of internal auditors or management reviews. 

2.85 With the increased reliance on EDP systems, many branch office 
procedures have become streamlined, permitting less detailed records to be 
maintained. Below, the section "Branch Audits" in paragraphs 2.152 through 
2.154 farther discusses the effects on the audit of a finance company's reliance on 
EDP systems as well as its internal audit or management review procedures. 

Auditing Receivables and the Allowance for Losses 
2.86 The auditor uses information from tests of finance receivables and 

the allowance for losses to assess the collectibility of receivables as well as to 
determine whether the allowance for losses reasonably covers expected losses. 

The Allowance for Losses 

2.87 The allowance for loan losses represents an amount that, in manage-
ment's judgment, approximates the current amount of loans that will not be 
collected. The auditor is responsible for evaluating whether management has 
recorded a reasonable estimate of the amount of assets that have been impaired. 

2.88 Receivables from consumer loans usually are evaluated in total 
rather than on the basis of individual loans because they consist of large 
volumes of relatively small balances. In such situations, it is more difficult to 
judge collectibility of specific loans than to evaluate collectibility of portfolios 
taken as a whole. Therefore, auditing procedures for consumer lending gener-
ally emphasize review, documentation, and reliance on data processing sys-
tems; controls; and accounting policies. Ratio analyses, historical statistics, 
current aging conditions, and other general trends are particularly important 
in evaluating collectibility. A change in composition of receivables may affect 
the allowance for losses, because greater risks are associated with certain types 
of loans than with others. 

2.89 Many commercial loans are tailor-made and relatively large. The 
size and uniqueness of commercial receivables necessitates a greater focus on 
specific loans and problems than is required for more homogeneous direct cash 
loans and retail sales contracts. Thus, auditing procedures in connection with 
commercial lending tend to place less emphasis on statistical data and histori-
cal trends and focus more on current collateral values, industry concentration, 
and financial conditions of individual borrowers. Particular attention should 
be given to loans in economically distressed industries. The auditor should 
discuss questionable loans with management. Commercial loan files should be 
reviewed on a test basis for information such as borrowers' audited financial 
statements and loan histories. Reviewing internal audit workpapers or field 
audit reports also may be useful. 

2.90 In evaluating the allowance for credit losses, the auditor should 
consider accrued interest on loans and unamortized deferred net fees or costs. 
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Also, the auditor should be aware of the basis of any changes made in the credit 
evaluation and granting processes, changes in credit scoring processes or credit 
ratings of corporate borrowers, changes in loan administration procedures, 
including ways of curing delinquencies (such as accepting partial payments or 
rewriting contractual terms on delinquent loans), and changes in timing or 
other policies followed to decide when to charge off uncollectible loans. 

2.91 A significant factor affecting the adequacy of the allowance for losses 
on commercial loans and receivables is the value of the underlying collateral. 
Depending on the nature of the collateral, the finance company may elect to 
obtain independent appraisals of current collateral. Adequacy of collateral in 
the event of a loan default requires special attention if the collateral is not 
readily marketable or is susceptible to decline in realizable values. The auditor 
should evaluate the effect, if any, of recourse arrangements on receivables and 
the adequacy of the allowance for losses. (See paragraphs 2.139 through 2.149 
of this guide for a further discussion of collateralized loans.) 

Loan Origination Costs 
2.92 The auditor should gain an understanding of the finance company's 

procedures for computing deferred loan origination costs including the recog-
nition of those costs in the income statement. In reviewing and testing the 
finance company's deferred loan origination costs and their amortization, the 
auditor's objectives are to gain reasonable assurance that (a) costs relate only 
to completed loans and are limited to the costs described in paragraphs 5 and 
6 of FASB Statement No. 91; and (b) amortized costs are recognized as an 
adjustment of yield and included in determining interest income. 

Credit Approval Policies 
2.93 Understanding credit approval policies is an important facet of an 

audit of a finance company. If the auditor is concerned about the adequacy of 
the finance company's credit policies based on a review of those policies, or if 
tests of controls indicate that controls over credit policies may be ineffective, 
the auditor may need to expand the scope of substantive tests to evaluate credit 
risks that the finance company has assumed. 

2.94 The auditor should be alert for changes in credit requirements 
during the period, particularly to less conservative requirements, and evaluate 
the effect of those changes on the quality of the portfolio. Additionally, the 
auditor may evaluate whether the company reviews its credit approval policies 
in light of changes in the economic environment that might affect creditors' 
ability to repay loans. 

2.95 Credit approval policies and procedures differ significantly for con-
sumer and commercial lending activities. 

Consumer Credit Approval 
2.96 Finance companies generally follow standard procedures to assess 

creditworthiness of prospective borrowers before approving consumer loans. 
Such procedures usually include investigation of a prospective borrower's 
employment history, salary, credit history, and completion of a credit scoring 
sheet on which an overall evaluation is made of the borrower's creditworthi-
ness. Specific procedures may vary by type of loan (for example, real estate 
versus unsecured loans) and by type of customer (for example, new customers 
versus present customers). 
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2.97 If after obtaining an understanding of internal control the auditor 
decides to assess control risk below the maximum level, the auditor should 
perform tests of controls to evaluate the effectiveness of the relevant controls. 
Such tests of controls should be performed on a sample of new loans made since 
the date of the most recent audited financial statements. 

Commercial Credit Approval 
2.98 Collateral for commercial loans generally is required to equal at 

least an amount sufficient to secure repayment in the event of a forced 
liquidation, thus requiring a thorough review of collateral value. However, 
repayment of a commercial loan generally depends on the borrower's ability to 
generate cash principally through operations. Therefore, a finance company 
usually performs a thorough review to assess the quality of management and 
the financial position of a prospective commercial borrower, as well as the 
overall prospects for the borrower's business to generate sufficient cash to 
liquidate the loan. 

2.99 In approving commercial loans, a finance company usually analyzes 
the prospective borrower's financial statements and may consider factors such 
as the prospective borrower's financial position and operating results as com-
pared with those of other businesses in the same industry. Various statistics, 
such as inventory and receivables turnover, often are developed to facilitate the 
analysis. The finance company also may study receivables aging schedules to 
help determine the quality of accounts receivable. Furthermore, the finance 
company may consider the potential effects of prevailing economic conditions 
on the borrower. The finance company also may obtain projections of future 
cash needs from borrowers, particularly when considering the need for overad-
vances in factoring or revolving credit arrangements. 

2.100 Credit reports, such as those prepared by rating agencies, may be 
considered, and references may be obtained from the borrower's bank as well 
as from other sources. The borrower's corporate structure should be studied to 
determine the existence and the extent of possible related party transactions. 
Additional procedures may be necessary to estimate the value of inventory and 
fixed assets pledged as collateral. Finance companies often send field repre-
sentatives on visits to borrowers' places of business to physically inspect 
inventories and premises, review agings of receivables and accounting records, 
evaluate internal accounting and management controls, and obtain direct 
impressions of the quality of operations and management. 

2.101 If after obtaining an understanding of controls pertaining to credit 
approval policies for commercial loans, the auditor decides to assess control 
risk below the maximum level, the auditor should perform tests of controls. In 
performing tests of controls, the auditor should consider testing supporting 
documentation to determine whether all procedures have been satisfactorily 
completed. Loan approvals generally are documented in the loan files and 
sometimes in minutes of the meetings of loan committees and the board of 
directors. If the finance company sends field representatives to prospective 
borrowers' places of business to review their business operations, the auditor 
may wish to review their written reports or to accompany those persons on one 
or more visits to assess the quality of their reviews. Loan approvals deemed 
questionable by the auditor should be discussed with management to better 
evaluate their judgment and to ascertain that undue risk of default does not exist. 

Factoring 
2.102 Finance companies review potential clients' operations to deter-

mine whether to factor receivables. Many procedures used for those reviews 
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are similar to procedures used to approve other types of commercial loans. A 
loan officer usually is designated to oversee the review; final approval by a loan 
committee may be required. 

2.103 If the finance company decides to buy the client's receivables, the 
review is used for several other purposes. The commission to be charged for 
bookkeeping and collection services is calculated from information provided by 
review of sales volume, the number of invoices processed monthly, the amount 
of returns and chargebacks, and collection activities. The review also is used to 
set limitations on the maximum amount in receivables that the finance com-
pany is willing to buy and, if needed, the amounts of seasonal overadvances to 
be permitted. Such limitations ordinarily are reviewed periodically for changes 
in a client's needs or circumstances. 

2.104 If a client's business fails, the finance company usually has prob-
lems collecting the remaining customer accounts because of inability to settle 
unresolved disputes between customers and the client that otherwise would 
have resulted in chargebacks to the client. Therefore, the auditor should 
consider the reasonableness of initial and subsequent reviews of the client's 
operations and financial condition in determining whether the finance com-
pany faces undue risk of default on the client's customer accounts. 

2.105 In addition to reviewing a client's financial position, a finance 
company reviews the client's customers' credit for approval before goods are 
shipped. Finance companies usually establish for each customer a line of credit 
that is reviewed periodically (for example, every ninety days) to determine 
whether it should be raised or lowered based on changes in payment patterns, 
sales, credit ratings, and other circumstances. Periodic reviews are generally 
documented in customer files. Furthermore, a customer may buy goods or 
services from several of the finance company's clients. If so, the finance 
company typically prorates the credit limit of such a customer among the 
clients with which the customer does business. Therefore, to help control credit 
approvals, a finance company's accounting system usually provides aggregate 
information on total receivables due from a customer—even though the receiv-
ables may be due to a number of clients rather than to a single one. 

2.106 A client usually submits orders to the finance company by tele-
phone, teletype, or mail. Orders below a certain amount may be approved 
automatically. Orders for established customer accounts that have not ex-
ceeded their lines of credit also may be automatically approved. Some finance 
companies use a computerized credit-checking system to initially review orders 
for approval or rejection or to signal that additional investigation is required, 
or both. 

2.107 The auditor should consider the reasonableness of customer credit-
approval policies, including those pertaining to periodic or continuous review 
of customer credit standings, and also whether to perform tests of controls over 
such policies. Approved and rejected customer orders usually are recorded on 
client approval sheets. The auditor may select a sample of client invoices 
recorded by the finance company and trace them to the approval sheets to 
determine whether invoices booked represent approved orders. The auditor 
also may select from the approval sheets a sample of both approved and 
rejected customer orders for confirmation with clients. If the client responds 
that the finance company approved an order listed as rejected, the auditor 
should question the effectiveness of customer credit controls and consider 
whether the client has a potential legal claim against the finance company for 
that customer order. 
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2.108 Controls over customer credit limits also may be examined by 
selecting customers who buy goods or services from several clients of a factor. 
Amounts owed should be added to determine that each customer's credit limit 
has not been exceeded. If customers' cumulative credit limits have been ex-
ceeded, the auditor should consider the effectiveness of the related controls in 
designing substantive tests to determine whether the finance company has 
assumed additional credit risk. 

Collections 
2.109 In auditing collections, the auditor is concerned with the extent of 

collection efforts on accounts written off and procedures for controlling collec-
tions on accounts previously written off. If a finance company has many branch 
offices, it may be appropriate to investigate and test collection efforts at 
selected branch offices. Accounts written off may be confirmed on a test basis 
to determine whether collections, if any, have been properly recorded. 

2.110 Changes in the intensity of collection efforts are likely to affect the 
adequacy of the allowance for losses. Decreases in amounts budgeted for 
salaries and other collection costs may indicate that collection efforts have been 
reduced and that delinquencies and bad debts might increase. Collection 
efforts also may be adversely affected by increased turnover of employees 
assigned to such efforts, indicating the use of less qualified persons, or by 
concentrating employee effort on making new loans, with a consequent lessen-
ing in efforts to collect existing receivables. 

Aging Schedules 
2.111 Finance companies prepare aging schedules to review collectibility 

of loans. A finance company uses aging information to help assess collectibility 
of accounts and to determine where to concentrate collection efforts. Collecti-
bility of receivables that are more than a stipulated number of days delinquent 
should be questioned. Some companies automatically write off such delinquent 
receivables. Management may decide to write off certain delinquent accounts 
because the costs of collecting them outweigh potential benefits. If liberal 
extension policies or practices exist, extended accounts should be given special 
attention even though they are not delinquent. 

2.112 Accounts receivable from retail sales contracts typically are aged by 
the contractual method, which is based on the status of payments under the 
original terms of the contracts. Such agings generally are modified for defer-
ments and extensions of original contractual terms. Direct consumer loans 
historically have been aged by many lenders using the recency-of-payments 
method. Under this method, loans are aged based on the month in which the 
most recent collections were received, regardless of contractual payment terms 
for amounts of payments or loan periods. 

2.113 The recency-of-payments method of aging was developed years ago, 
when direct consumer loans were for relatively modest amounts due over 
relatively short periods. In those circumstances, lenders were interested in 
regular collections of principal and accrued charges and less concerned with 
contractual terms of the loans. That emphasis is reflected in the recency 
method. More recently, direct consumer loans, particularly second mortgage 
loans, have been for larger amounts and longer periods. Therefore, lenders 
increasingly have emphasized collections of principal and charges in accord-
ance with contractual terms. That emphasis is apparent in the Robert Morris 
Associates Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire, which has prescribed the 
contractual method for large direct cash loans. 
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2.114 The contractual method is considered more conservative than the 
recency-of-payments method; however, some finance companies weaken the 
basis of the contractual method by modifying their calculations. For example, 
such companies may consider accounts contractually current when two timely 
payments have been made on an account previously considered delinquent. 
Therefore, regardless of which aging method is used, understanding whether 
and how clients may reclassify delinquent loans to current status is important. 

2.115 The auditor can compare results of current agings with results of 
past agings to identify unusual variances. The auditor should become familiar 
with aging policies and may refer to Robert Morris Associates questionnaires, 
which usually describe aging policies. The auditor should be aware that recent 
payments, which may have altered the classification of particular accounts, 
may not indicate the ultimate collectibility of those accounts. The auditor also 
should consider the effect of partial payments on the aging. 

2.116 The aging of receivables also is affected by extension and renewal 
policies. Loan renewals involving little or no advances of additional cash to 
customers deserve special attention. Some managements believe renewals, 
sometimes called salvage renewals, should be granted only with additional 
cosigners or collateral, unless customers can demonstrate increased ability or 
willingness to repay such loans. Other managements believe renewals should 
never be granted. Although different circumstances may exist, a customer 
usually demonstrates increased willingness to repay a delinquent account by 
making regular monthly payments at reduced amounts after paying off a 
significant portion of the initial loan balance. Renewals without evidence of 
increased ability or willingness to repay may diminish reliability of aging 
schedules. 

Charge-off Policies 
2.117 Charge-off policies vary among finance companies and types of 

loans. Some policies automatically require that accounts be written off when 
they are overdue a stipulated number of days. Other policies may delay 
charge-offs until all practical efforts to collect have been exhausted or the 
customer has entered bankruptcy. Still other policies may be based on review 
of the status of individual loans. 

2.118 The auditor should be aware of changes in charge-off policies when 
evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for losses and considering the rea-
sonableness of those charge-off policies. The auditor may consider whether 
charge-offs are reviewed and approved by officials who do not also approve 
loans, whether charge-offs for deficiencies on repossessed properties are ade-
quately reviewed and approved, and whether losses charged to dealer reserve 
accounts are consistent with dealer agreements. The auditor also should be 
alert to the effects of changes in charge-offs as well as in credit-granting 
policies. 

2.119 If charge-off policies require automatic loan write-offs when over-
due a stipulated number of days, the auditor should consider the appropriate-
ness of the number of days specified and whether controls make sure that such 
procedures are followed. The auditor also should consider how partial pay-
ments on loans are treated under the policies. If procedures requiring automat-
ic write-offs are not used, the auditor should consider whether write-offs are 
occurring in a timely and consistent manner. 
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Other Credits to Receivables 
2.120 Credits to finance receivables for reasons other than cash receipts 

or charge-offs to the allowance for losses should be tested to determine if the 
reasons for the credits are appropriate. For example, was an error corrected, 
and, if so, was the credit properly authorized? 

Chargebacks 

2.121 Under factoring arrangements, typical noncash credits to receiv-
ables represent chargebacks to client accounts. Chargebacks may result from 
disputes over, for example, freight charges, defective merchandise, deliveries, 
prices, and canceled orders. Inability to collect an account because of a cus-
tomer's insolvency, however, generally represents a credit loss and ordinarily 
should not result in a chargeback, because the finance company assumes the 
risk of customer default when receivables are factored. If after obtaining an 
understanding of internal control the auditor decides to assess control risk 
below the maximum level, the auditor should obtain evidential matter to 
support the assessed level of control risk. 

Anticipations 

2.122 Under factoring arrangements, most finance companies accept cus-
tomer payments of less than the amount of the related receivables if the 
customers pay before due dates. The differences or discounts, often called 
anticipations, may be allowed because a finance company obtains earlier use 
of the cash. Amounts of anticipations allowed usually fluctuate monthly, and 
interest is usually charged to the client based on some relationship to prime 
rates. 

2.123 The auditor should consider reviewing the finance company's poli-
cies on anticipations and, if allowed, the reasonableness of the amounts de-
ducted. 

Confirmation Procedures 
2.124 Finance companies may confirm receivables balances as part of 

their internal audit procedures. The extent and nature of those procedures 
vary. Some finance companies use written confirmations; others confirm infor-
mation by telephone. If after obtaining an understanding of internal control 
the auditor decides to assess control risk below the maximum level, the auditor 
should obtain evidential matter to support the assessed level of control risk. 
The auditor should establish a reasonable scope to confirm a representative 
number of loans. The auditor may wish to stratify loans selected for confirma-
tion not only by recorded amounts but by categories, such as loans collateral-
ized by real estate and unsecured loans. 

2.125 Confirmation procedures may reveal certain conditions, such as 
payments made to the wrong account; disputes over prices, quantities, or 
shipping terms; payments made by customers directly to factoring clients; 
unrecorded merchandise returns; fictitious receivables; consignments; or pre-
billing. 

2.126 Positive confirmations are preferable when individual account bal-
ances are relatively large or when there is reason to believe a substantial 
number of accounts are in dispute, inaccurate, or irregular. Negative confirma-
tions may be used when (a) the combined assessed level of inherent and control 
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risk is low, (b) a large number of small balances is involved, and (c) the auditor 
has no reason to believe that the recipients of the requests are unlikely to give 
them consideration. If negative rather than positive confirmations are used, 
however, the auditor should consider performing other substantive procedures 
to obtain the same degree of satisfaction. 

2.127 In addition to the original amount of the loan and the current loan 
balance, the auditor should consider confirming other information, such as the 
last payment date and the amount and description of collateral. 

2.128 The auditor should apply alternative procedures for all unanswered 
positive confirmations. To apply alternative procedures, the auditor should 
consider reviewing subsequent cash receipts, confirming information by tele-
phone, and examining additional loan documentation. 

No-Mail Accounts 
2.129 Some consumer loan customers may request that direct correspon-

dence not be sent to them. They are typically no-mail accounts and should be 
insignificant in relation to the total loan portfolio. If such loans are selected for 
confirmation, alternative procedures normally should be applied. 

Confirming Purchased Customer Receivables 
2.130 If a finance company buys receivables under a nonnotification 

arrangement (that is, the borrower does not inform its customers that their 
accounts have been sold or assigned to a finance company), special considera-
tion needs to be given to confirming such receivables because customers are not 
aware that their accounts have been sold. Confirmations should, therefore, be 
prepared in a manner that preserves the confidentiality of the sales transac-
tions between the finance company and its clients. 

Ratios 
2.131 Ratios are useful for analyzing trends affecting collectibility. Be-

cause of their diverse characteristics, receivables should be segregated by type 
(for example, retail contracts, direct consumer loans, and commercial finance 
receivables) before computing ratios. The comparability of receivables to those 
of prior periods also should be evaluated. For example, factors such as tighten-
ing of credit standards and changes in extension policies can affect the quality 
of the receivables and render statistical comparisons invalid. 

2.132 The following two ratios commonly are used to determine loss 
experience trends: 

a. Net credit losses to receivables liquidated (beginning balance plus 
volume during period, excluding old balances renewed, less ending 
balance) 

b. Net credit losses to average monthly outstanding receivables for the 
period (annualized if less than one year) 

2.133 The first ratio is useful in estimating the amount a finance company 
will write off for each dollar collected on loans. The second ratio has been used 
primarily for smaller loans with relatively short-term maturities. If trends 
show increasing rather than decreasing ratios, the allowance for losses may 
need to be increased. 

2.134 Ratio analysis has certain weaknesses. For example, the ratio of net 
credit losses to average monthly outstanding receivables measures losses for 
only one year. Because most loans extend beyond one year, the ratio does not 
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include all losses that would be expected, based on currently available infor-
mation, to result from liquidation of all outstanding loans. Growth situations 
also hamper ratio analysis, particularly if the ratio of net credit losses to 
average monthly outstanding receivables is used. The increasing portion of 
new business used in the calculation may cause comparisons with previous 
results to be meaningless because, in some situations, the rate of increase in 
credit losses lags behind the rate of increase in receivables until growth levels 
off. For that reason, the ratio of net credit losses to receivables liquidated 
provides better measure in growth situations. 

2.135 Other common ratios include the following: 
a. Ratios of allowances for credit losses to outstanding receivables, 

expressed as percentages 
b. Ratios of delinquencies to outstanding receivables, expressed as 

percentages 
c. Ratios of recoveries to charge-offs, expressed as percentages 
d. Ratios of provision for losses to volume, expressed as percentages 

2.136 Computers and sophisticated mathematical models can be used to 
improve ratio analysis and to identify trends that otherwise might be obscure. 
For example, computers can apply regression analysis techniques to loans 
stratified by such criteria as the year made, type of loan, location of borrower's 
residence or place of business, and borrower's credit rating. Thus, volumes of 
detailed data may be readily summarized and analyzed to provide more 
sophisticated information than is practical without computers. 

2.137 Though no one group of statistics is conclusive, trends may indicate 
significant changes that warrant attention. Industry or other published statis-
tics on delinquencies and allowances for losses may be helpful but should be 
used with regard for the facts and circumstances affecting individual compa-
nies. If using ratios, the auditor should consider all relevant circumstances, 
such as changes in credit approval and in collection policies as well as general 
economic conditions. 

Loans to Related Parties 
2.138 Loans to officers, directors, and employees (and loans to organiza-

tions with which such individuals are affiliated) should be reviewed. FASB 
Statement No. 57, Related Party Disclosures, prescribes certain disclosures of 
material related party transactions. SAS No. 45, Omnibus Statement on Audit-
ing Standards—1983, "Related Parties," provides auditing guidance for such 
matters. 

Collateralized Loans 
2.139 Consumer loans may be collateralized by consumer goods or by real 

property. Commercial loans may be collateralized by accounts receivable, 
inventories, or property and equipment. Loans also may be guaranteed by 
cosigners and guarantors. 

2.140 Depending on the type of collateral, the auditor should consider 
testing physical existence and proper assignment to the finance company. 
Examination of loan documentation generally includes testing the adequacy of 
both the current value of collateral in relation to the outstanding loan balance 
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and, if needed, insurance coverage on such collateral. For guaranteed loans, 
the auditor reviews financial statements and other evidence of the financial 
conditions of cosigners and guarantors. The auditor should be alert to possible 
concentrations of loans in one borrower, in a group of related borrowers, or in 
a particular industry. The auditor also should consider general economic 
conditions that might affect the value of underlying collateral as well as of 
overall collectibility and quality of the loan portfolio. 

Consumer Goods 

2.141 Many direct consumer loans and most retail sales contracts are 
collateralized by consumer goods. Resale values of most consumer goods, such 
as major appliances and furniture, may be significantly less than related loan 
balances. As a result, many lenders prefer not to repossess such collateral. 
Consideration of those collateral values is, therefore, less important than for 
other consumer goods, such as automobiles, which may be readily salable and 
of more significance when compared to related loan balances. 

Receivables 

2.142 Trade accounts receivable and installment notes sold or pledged as 
collateral generally are sold or assigned to a commercial finance company on a 
nonnotification basis. The industry trend in recent years has been to maintain 
total dollar control of such receivables (bulk basis) rather than detailed receiv-
able records (ledger card or specific assignment basis). The finance company 
and its auditor usually have access to the seller's or borrower's accounting 
records if collateral records are maintained in bulk. The seller or borrower may 
receive all collections on the receivables but is required to turn over such 
collections in their original form, usually through use of a bank account 
designated by the finance company. 

2.143 In addition to the effectiveness of credit approval policies, collection 
activities, internal confirmation procedures, and visits by field representatives 
to the client's or borrower's place of business, the auditor should consider other 
accounting and management controls over receivables bought or pledged as 
collateral. For example, the auditor's evaluation may be affected by the amount 
of collateral receivables maintained on a bulk basis, the frequency with which 
borrowers submit aged trial balances to the finance company, and the extent 
of management reviews of those schedules. 

2.144 Based on the results of the evaluation of the finance company's 
procedures for examining and monitoring assets sold or collateral pledged, 
the auditor should consider the need to examine evidence of or otherwise be 
satisfied as to nonnotification receivables pledged as collateral. The examina-
tion may consist, in part, of a review of the borrower's records. Accounts 
receivable agings may be compared against the borrower's customer accounts 
subsidiary ledger, with additional review of items such as unusual invoice 
terms, past due accounts, and invoices paid out of order. Familiarity with 
trade or industry discounts, the right of return, warranties, and other terms 
of sale offered by the borrower facilitates analysis of collateral values of 
receivables. A review of trade creditors could indicate whether a right of offset 
exists against the receivables because the borrower buys from and sells to the 
same enterprise. The auditor also should consider studying the borrower's 
corporate structure to help identify possible receivables due from affiliated 
companies. 
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Inventories 

2.145 Inventories pledged as collateral may result from a wholesale loan, 
for which specific items of inventory are pledged, or from an inventory loan, for 
which the entire inventory is pledged but individual items are not identified. 
Inventories also may be pledged as additional collateral for a loan initially 
collateralized by receivables when the loan exceeds the prime collateral value 
assigned to the receivables. Inventory collateral values may be more difficult 
to evaluate than receivable collateral because inventory is more subject to 
economic risks such as deterioration and obsolescence. Therefore, the percent-
age of loan advances made against inventory collateral generally is less than 
that made against receivable collateral. 

2.146 Based on his or her understanding of controls pertaining to inven-
tory pledged as collateral, the auditor should consider (a) reviewing reports by 
finance company personnel who inspect such inventories on field visits or, if 
considered desirable, (b) inspecting inventory in custody of the borrower on a 
test basis. Perpetual inventory records, if maintained by the borrower, may be 
tested against periodic physical counts made by the finance company's internal 
auditors. Many finance companies do not maintain collateral records of the 
borrower's inventory because pertinent, accurate, and updated inventory infor-
mation is not readily available, particularly for revolving loans. 

2.147 Inventories pledged as collateral that are stored in public ware-
houses and supported by warehouse receipts may be confirmed by direct 
communication with the warehouses. Owners of public warehouses are 
primarily liable for damages resulting from nonexistence of goods listed in 
receipts and from failure of the goods to conform to the descriptions on 
warehouse receipts. Sometimes a borrower establishes a field warehousing 
arrangement in which a warehouse company segregates and controls the 
collateralized inventory in a portion of the borrower's own warehouse. A 
field warehousing arrangement may provide some control over inventories 
pledged as collateral, but the control is generally less than that in a public 
warehouse. Nevertheless, a field warehousing arrangement in the bor-
rower's warehouse may be more practical than using a public warehouse 
because of costs and difficulties of transporting inventory between ware-
houses and borrowers' premises. 

Property and Equipment 

2.148 Loans to companies that have major items of property, plant, and 
equipment are generally collateralized by such assets. Also, property, plant, 
and equipment may be pledged as additional collateral for a receivable or 
inventory loan or as collateral for a separate loan made to a company that 
borrows against receivables and inventory. 

2.149 Recent appraisals by specialists of liquidating values of prop-
erty, plant, and equipment may be helpful in evaluating security provided by 
the collateral. The auditor may review those appraisals and collateral 
records. The auditor should be satisfied with the professional qualifications 
and reputation of a specialist whose work is to be used. If the auditor chooses 
to use the valuation of a specialist who is a related party, the auditor should 
consider the need to perform additional procedures on some or all of the 
specialist's assumptions, methods, or findings to determine their reasonable-
ness. For further guidance, the auditor should refer to SAS No. 73, Using the 
Work of a Specialist. 
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EDP Considerations 
2.150 Most finance companies use some form of computerized records. 

Audit considerations for computerized systems are comparable to those for 
manual systems, though specific audit procedures should be tailored to the 
type of system used. For example, manual systems rely on mathematical 
formulas or rate charts to calculate finance income; in computerized systems, 
software programming incorporates the formulas. Some significant concerns 
for auditing EDP systems include whether the duties of employees involved 
with the system are adequately segregated, source documents are available, 
and audit trails are sufficient to follow up on individual items. The auditor 
should refer to SAS No. 48, The Effects of Computer Processing on the Audit of 
Financial Statements, for further guidance. 

2.151 Some finance companies subscribe to computer systems operated 
by outside businesses. Independent auditors or the user's internal auditors 
usually review controls pertaining to those computer systems and issue reports 
that the user's auditor can consider. The auditor should refer to SAS No. 70, 
Reports on the Processing of Transactions by Service Organizations, which 
provides guidance on the factors an independent auditor should consider 
when auditing the financial statements of an entity that uses a service 
organization to process certain transactions. 

Branch Audits 
2.152 SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting the Audit, 

provides general guidance on considerations of audit risk and materiality in 
planning the audit and designing audit procedures. Such considerations are 
important for the auditor's determination of the need for and extent of branch 
office audits. This determination depends in part on the effectiveness of home 
office controls over branch operations and the locations at which supporting 
documentation is maintained. Another consideration is whether there is an 
updated operating manual that prescribes all phases of branch operations, 
including accounting procedures. Such manuals may provide significant infor-
mation for the auditor to obtain an understanding of controls pertaining to 
branch operations. 

2.153 The use of centralized systems has reduced the need for the auditor 
to visit branches to inspect subsidiary records and supporting documentation 
for loans. Even without such a centralized system, duplicate records may be 
maintained at the home office of a finance company. Consequently, the auditor 
may decide to limit branch audits and focus on determining the effectiveness 
of controls over branch office operations such as management reviews and 
internal audit procedures. If the home office maintains duplicate receivables 
ledgers, much or all of the substantive testing involving confirmation proce-
dures and evaluation of collectibility often can be performed without visiting 
the branch offices. 

2.154 If branch visits are warranted, the auditor ordinarily makes sur-
prise audits of selected branches if cash is to be counted or collateral inspected. 
The audit of branch records normally may include tests of controls, compari-
sons of data submitted to the home office by branch personnel to branch 
records, and, if loan data are maintained only in the branch office, the audit 
procedures for loans described throughout this chapter. If floor plan loans are 
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made, the auditor should consider examining related collateral on a test basis. 
The auditor may test postings of collections to customer accounts, as well as 
procedures for extensions, renewals, and rebates on all types of loans, to 
determine the reliability of the accounting records. Other audit procedures the 
auditor should consider performing when auditing a branch are as follows: 

• Check accounts receivable ledgers for clerical accuracy, compare totals 
to appropriate branch controls, and trace totals to general ledger 
balances at the home office. 

• Select a representative number of accounts for confirmation and test 
aged trial balances for clerical accuracy and compliance with the 
company's aging policy. 

• If accounts receivable ledgers are maintained in the home office and 
accounts are confirmed using home office records, compare balances 
of selected accounts in home office records with records maintained at 
the branch. 

• Compare supporting documentation for a selected number of loans 
with loan cards and other accounting records. Documentation might 
include signed notes, security agreements, loan applications, financ-
ing statements, insurance policies, and notices of lien filings. 

• Test new and renewal loans for proper recording of items such as 
discount, dealer reserve, and insurance premiums. Rebates, extension 
fees, and late charges should be tested similarly. 

• Test cash payment records for miscellaneous expenses. 
• Review procedures used to account for and control repossessed collat-

eral. If the branch is responsible for selling repossessed collateral, test 
sales of collateral by tracing proceeds to cash reports, bank deposits, 
and other pertinent documentation. Compare proceeds to estimates of 
value at the time loans were made and at the time collateral was 
repossessed. Examine evidence of ownership. 

• If the branch is located in a state that requires interest to be computed 
each time a payment is received, test computations of application of 
interest and principal. 

• Follow up on unusual bank reconciling items from the home office. 
• Review the recent State Consumer Finance Division Examiner's Re-

port or its equivalent for significant exceptions. 
• Review the adequacy and documentation of the branch manager's or 

area supervisor's reviews of loans made, collection efforts, and cash 
counts. 

• Review controls over cash collections, deposits, and disbursements. 
• Review for duplicate loans to one borrower. 
• Review no-mail and confidential loans for compliance with corporate 

policy. 
• Review for compliance with the manager's lending limits. 
• Review for compliance with policy relating to waiver of interest and 

late fees. 
Some of the above procedures may be inappropriate or may need modification 
if the finance company uses an EDP system. 

Leases 
2.155 Audits of leases in some ways resemble audits of other finance 

receivables. For example, auditors should review the collectibility of minimum 
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lease payments, including guaranteed residual values, and consider whether 
allowances for losses on leases are adequate. If repossessions have occurred, 
the auditor should consider current values of collateral not yet disposed of in 
evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for losses. The auditor also may 
confirm lease terms and the existence of leased properties directly with lessees 
and may test authorization for purchase of assets to lease files. Revenue 
recognition calculations can be tested for accuracy and compliance with FASB 
Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and related amendments and inter-
pretations. In addition, classifications as finance or operating leases may be 
reviewed. 

2.156 The auditor should evaluate unguaranteed residual values in-
cluded in gross investments recorded at the inception of leases. Residual values 
are the estimated fair values of leased properties at the end of their lease terms 
that generally are not guaranteed to lessors by lessees or third parties. The 
clients' methods and internal controls used to estimate residual values should 
be evaluated. The possibility of changes in residual values should be consid-
ered, for example, by comparing values of standard products or equipment to 
market prices and by consulting resale dealers and trade publications. Resid-
ual values of specialized equipment may be difficult to evaluate. Special 
emphasis is warranted for high-technology equipment, which often declines 
quickly in value because newer, more advanced, or less expensive models 
become available as a result of technological developments. Though purchase 
options included in lease terms may provide additional evidence of residual 
values, they should be viewed with caution because they generally would not 
indicate subsequent declines in values. 

2.157 If reviews of residual values indicate that permanent declines have 
occurred, estimated residual values should be adjusted and losses should be 
recognized when estimates change. 

2.158 The terms of lease agreements usually are reviewed and compared 
with the long-term lenders' contracts. The projected net cash flow analysis that 
is used to account for leveraged lease transactions should include income tax 
effects of the transactions. Tax effect calculations may be tested. Auditors 
should review and evaluate the validity of assumptions for projecting tax 
effects. Such reviews may include timing of receipt of tax benefits or payments 
of charges. Rates used to quantify the tax effects of transactions also should be 
reviewed. Reductions in leveraged lease investments caused by changes in 
original assumptions should be recognized in the period of change. 

Income 
2.159 The auditor should test the interest income recognition method and 

interest income accrual suspensions for compliance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (see paragraphs 2.15 to 2.17). 

2.160 Finance income account balances usually are tested together with 
finance receivables. Tests of details, analytical procedures, or both may be 
relied on. Tests of details might include recalculation of finance income and 
nonrefundable fees for selected loans, such as those selected for confirmation, 
or tests of computer programs used to make such calculations. Analytical 
procedures might include comparisons of monthly recorded income amounts 
with those recorded in months of past years, prior months of the current year, 
and budgeted amounts, as well as with industry information by type of receiv-
ables. Monthly ratios of finance income to finance receivables might be com-
pared with prior years' months and budgeted amounts. 
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2.161 Finance income earned on discount receivables also can be tested 
using the unearned finance income account as follows: 

Unearned Finance Income 

Beginning balance 

+ credits (total precomputed 
interest of new loans) 

— debits (finance income earned) 

= Ending balance 

Test Method 

Tested in prior year 
Recompute total unearned interest for 

a sample of new loans (possibly us-
ing loans selected for tests of cash 
payments) 

Balance amount 

Recompute balance of unearned fi-
nance income for a sample of loans 
outstanding (possibly using loans 
selected for confirmation) 

This formula should be modified as necessary for such items as prepayments 
and loan renewals. 

Statutory Regulations 

2.162 Regulatory compliance is an important consideration for a finance 
company. State laws often restrict three major elements that determine inter-
est income: the amount of the loan, the term of the loan, and the interest rate. 
State laws also may prescribe certain rebate calculations. Other regulatory 
restrictions may pertain to origination, delinquency, or extension fees. Compli-
ance with the various state laws should be reviewed. Formulas used to calcu-
late finance income should be tested to verify that results conform to applicable 
laws and regulations as well as to generally accepted accounting principles. 

2.163 The Truth in Lending Act and regulations issued by state super-
visory authorities generally affect lending transactions. The auditor may 
learn of possible violations of such regulations during the audit. If such is 
the case, the auditor should then refer for guidance to SAS No. 54, Illegal 
Acts by Clients. 

Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation 
of Receivables 

2.164 The objectives of auditing repossessed assets acquired in liquida-
tions are to test for the existence and evidence of ownership of those assets and 
to evaluate reasonableness of estimated net realizable values. Controls over 
timing and methods of recording repossessed assets should be considered to 
determine the necessary extent of substantive tests of account balances. 

2.165 Inspecting repossessed properties may be an appropriate test for 
existence. The auditor may compare carrying values of repossessions to sub-
sequent sales, published wholesale price lists, or independent appraisals of the 
same or similar properties to determine reasonableness. If feasible, the auditor 
may group repossessions by product type and compare unit carrying amounts 
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against the company's recent history of average losses or gains on sales of 
similar repossessions. Evidence of ownership may be established by reviewing 
legal or other pertinent documents. The auditor also may consider the ability 
of dealers to perform under recourse or repurchase agreements. 

Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks 
2.166 Before planning detailed audit tests, the auditor should become 

familiar with company controls on dealer reserve holdback arrangements and 
consider performing tests of related controls. For example, the auditor should 
consider the extent of review and approval of changes to dealer reserve ac-
counts. Though it is uncommon for dealers to know amounts of the dealer 
reserve accounts, such knowledge, obtained perhaps from regular statements 
issued by the finance company, may lessen the risk of disputes, and it may be 
feasible for the auditor to confirm the related liabilities to dealers. If not, the 
auditor may review activities in dealer reserve accounts for propriety and 
consider the overall adequacy of reserve balances in relation to the volume of 
loans bought, dealer credit status, and credit status of the dealer's customers. 

2.167 Other auditing considerations may include reviewing compliance 
with significant provisions of dealer agreements, reconciling totals of individ-
ual dealer balances with applicable control accounts, and testing detailed 
transactions to the accounts and supporting documentation. Particular atten-
tion should be given to accounts with debit balances. The rationale for not 
writing off these amounts generally is that future purchases of retail contracts 
from dealers will eliminate the debit balances. The auditor should question 
that justification because, if past purchases of retail contracts from a dealer 
have resulted in debit balances in the dealer reserve accounts, future pur-
chases may be unlikely to produce different results. The auditor should con-
sider whether debit balances are losses that should be charged off. 
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Chapter 3 

Capitalization of Finance Companies 
3.01 Finance companies borrow funds to lend to others. Debt-to-equity 

ratios of finance companies generally are higher than those of manufacturing 
companies because finance company assets consist more of liquid receivables 
than of inventories and fixed assets. Debt-to-equity ratios of at least four-or 
five-to-one are not uncommon for finance companies. However, finance compa-
nies' leverage has traditionally been much lower than leverage of banks and 
savings and loan associations. 

3.02 Finance company debt may be classified as senior, senior subordi-
nated, and junior subordinated. The classifications describe declining priori-
ties, which become especially significant when solvency becomes questionable. 
When two or more types of debt with diverse priorities are issued simultane-
ously, the lower priority debt ordinarily carries a higher interest rate. 

3.03 Company policy and credit rating goals cause companies to establish 
diverse target amounts for each priority category of debt. Moreover, debt 
agreements usually contain restrictions on the amount of debt that may be 
incurred in each category. For example, a common restriction in debt securities 
issued to the general public prohibits pledging assets to secure new or existing 
debt. Other common restrictions may limit dividend payments and the amount 
of additional senior debt that can be incurred. If an issuer has other restrictions 
in its current typical public issue, lenders commonly demand the same restric-
tions in a private placement. 

3.04 Generally, bank borrowings on lines of credit and commercial paper 
sold in the open market are sources of debt that mature in less than one year. 
Larger finance companies usually rely heavily on commercial paper markets 
but smaller finance companies may not have access to such markets and 
therefore may rely on bank borrowings as a source of funds. 

3.05 Debt with maturity terms greater than one year is a major source of 
funds for most finance companies and is intended to reduce volatility of the cost 
and source of money. In large finance companies, such debt frequently consti-
tutes more than half of the liabilities of finance companies. Smaller finance 
companies, with limited access to public debt markets, have a much greater 
reliance on short-term bank debt. 

3.06 The related debt instruments traditionally have been acquired by 
insurance companies; however, banks, pension funds, and the general public 
have increasingly purchased those instruments. Interest rates generally are a 
function of the credit rating of the issuer and the prevailing money market 
conditions. 

Bank Lines of Credit 
3.07 Finance companies may pay commitment fees, maintain compensat-

ing balances, or do both to have bank lines of credit available. When a finance 
company borrows under a line of credit, it is charged interest at a rate usually 
based on a specified percentage related to the bank prime rate. Banks gener-
ally base the percentage on an analysis of the quality of the finance company's 
receivables and operations. 
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3.08 Bank borrowings are a type of senior debt commonly issued in the 
form of ninety-day notes, of which renewal may be negotiated before maturity. 
Banks generally require finance companies to pay off notes under lines of credit 
for a specified period, such as one month, each year. Finance companies are 
sometimes allowed to meet such requirements by borrowing under a second 
line of credit to pay off the first. They may, therefore, continuously borrow from 
banks, though individual bank notes are due in relatively short periods. 
Alternatively, they may be required to simultaneously settle all bank lines of 
credit for thirty days or more. 

3.09 Some bank credit lines are obtained with little expectation that the 
finance companies will borrow under them. Such credit arrangements provide 
back-up sources of funds to assure a finance company's creditors that bank debt 
and commercial paper due in one year or less will be repaid. Though the 
duration of those unused credit arrangements may exceed twelve months, 
some contain clauses that allow the banks to withdraw commitments based on 
subjective evaluations of the finance company's operations. 

3.10 Rating agencies strongly emphasize liquidity when they rate com-
mercial paper. All issuers of commercial paper are expected to have bank lines 
of credit to back up such notes. The rating agencies view that support as 
security to provide temporary liquidity, and they generally do not rate a 
company's commercial paper without such coverage. 

3.11 Bank lines of credit also are maintained to protect finance companies 
from unforeseen withdrawals of other credit sources. Some finance companies 
test the availability of bank lines periodically by borrowing under each line, 
particularly if those agreements are not formalized. 

Commercial Paper 
3.12 Commercial paper, another form of senior debt, matures in a few 

days to as long as 270 days from issuance. Commercial paper generally 
constitutes the major portion of debt due in less than one year of larger finance 
companies because interest rates on commercial paper are usually lower than 
those available from banks. 

3.13 Companies with significant amounts of commercial paper outstand-
ing generally issue and redeem commercial paper continuously. More commer-
cial paper than needed may be sold on certain days to maintain an orderly 
market when regular customers have money to invest beyond the finance 
company's current needs. Maturity of a large amount of commercial paper or a 
long-term debt issue in the near future also may make it necessary for a 
company to sell larger-than-normal amounts of commercial paper. 

3.14 Excess proceeds from sales of commercial paper usually are rein-
vested at comparable rates of return. Proceeds may be invested for very short 
periods, usually overnight, by entering into repurchase agreements with in-
vestment brokers, or by buying interest-bearing Eurodollar time bank deposits 
and commercial paper of other issuers. 

Credit Ratings 
3.15 Rating agencies generally consider fixed-charge coverage and other 

ratios, such as leverage, to be significant in evaluating the creditworthiness of 
a finance company's debt obligations. Rating agencies assign a credit rating to 
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a company's debt obligations and commercial paper based on their detailed 
ratio analyses and evaluation of other factors. The ratings directly affect the 
lender's cost of borrowing and, therefore, its ability to borrow money. 

3.16 Many institutional investors, such as insurance companies, banks, 
trusts, mutual funds, and pension and profit sharing plans, rely heavily on 
credit ratings in making their investment decisions. Many of those investors 
are prohibited by law or by formal agreement from investing in corporate 
obligations rated below a specified minimum level. For example, some states 
prohibit licensed domestic insurance companies from investing in corporate 
obligations that do not meet specified fixed-charge coverage ratios. In addition, 
many government agency pension funds are prohibited by law from investing 
in securities that do not have an investment grade rating. Those pension funds 
are significant buyers of finance company commercial paper and term debt 
securities. 

Credit Questionnaires 
3.17 A finance company furnishes its creditors with financial and operat-

ing information through standard questionnaires developed by a joint commit-
tee of representatives from industry and Robert Morris Associates. The credit 
questionnaires are revised periodically for changes in operations of finance 
companies and in the needs of lenders. 

3.18 There are five credit questionnaires for finance companies: Sales 
Finance Company Questionnaire; Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire; Com-
mercial Financing Questionnaire; Credit Questionnaire for Captive Finance 
Companies; and Mortgage Banking Questionnaire. The first two generally 
apply to independent companies that finance retail sales and make direct cash 
loans to consumers. The Commercial Financing Questionnaire applies to inde-
pendent finance companies that provide financing services for business enter-
prises, including lease financing. The fourth questionnaire applies to captive 
finance companies formed to finance the sales of products by affiliated compa-
nies. 

3.19 Some finance companies engage in several types of financing and 
lending activity and are required to furnish information on several types of 
questionnaires. For example, a finance company that both finances automobile 
retail sales contracts and lends directly to consumers generally would furnish 
information for the pertinent sections of the Sales Finance Company Question-
naire and the Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire. The various questionnaires 
are not all-inclusive; each reporting company must adapt the questionnaire to 
fit its own circumstances. The Credit Questionnaire for Captive Finance Com-
panies reflects the wide diversity among individual companies. It consists of a 
series of questions designed to elicit the basic information needed for credit 
analysis, with the form of presentation left to the individual companies. The 
other questionnaires are much more specific. 

3.20 Each credit questionnaire covers a specific reporting period, such as 
six months or a year. All have certain basic questions in common. Each 
requires information on the types of finance and lending activities of the 
company, details of business volume during and receivables at the end of the 
reporting period, aging of receivables, summary of credit loss experience for the 
period, description of certain basic operating and accounting policies, and 
information on the terms and liquidity of finance receivables. 

3.21 Other required information pertains to the particular lending activi-
ties covered by the individual questionnaire. The Sales Finance Company 
Questionnaire requires analysis of the volume and type of retail sales financing 
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receivables, such as those for automobiles, appliances, and home improvement, 
and indication of any significant concentration in one or more dealers. The 
Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire requires a schedule of collection results on 
direct consumer loans outstanding and an analysis of loan volume by type of 
borrower. The Commercial Financing Questionnaire requires specific informa-
tion on larger commercial loans in each receivable classification and on a 
significant concentration of loans to any one debtor or group of affiliated 
debtors. 

Accounting 
3.22 The discount or premium on debt should be amortized to interest 

expense over the life of the related debt using the interest method as specified 
in APB Opinion No. 21, Interest on Receivables and Payables, for debt requiring 
imputation of interest. 

3.23 Overnight investments resulting from sales of commercial paper in 
excess of daily needs should be recorded as assets in the balance sheet, but 
borrowing costs are better presented in the income statement by combining 
interest received on such investments against interest expense than by pre-
senting such amounts separately. Although combined amounts normally are 
insignificant, such interest income should be disclosed in a note to the financial 
statements, if significant. 

Financial Statement Presentation 
3.24 The major components of debt should be disclosed on the face of the 

balance sheet or in the notes. FASB Statement No. 47, Disclosure of Long-Term 
Obligations, requires disclosure of the aggregate amount of maturities and 
sinking fund requirements for all long-term borrowings and redeemable pre-
ferred stock for each of the five years following the balance sheet date. Para-
graph 19 of APB Opinion No. 15, Earnings Per Share, provides examples of 
other information to be disclosed, such as liquidation preferences, participation 
rights, and interest rates. In addition to the various types of subordinations, 
bank borrowings and commercial paper should be disclosed separately, as 
should components of debt that mature in more than one year. Such compo-
nents may be grouped into significant categories for disclosure. The existence 
of bank lines of credit and their relevant terms and amounts also should be 
disclosed. 

3.25 Finance companies traditionally have not described their assets as 
current and noncurrent in balance sheets, but typically have described their 
debt as short-term or long-term. To eliminate this inconsistency, finance 
companies should classify debt as subordinated and senior rather than as 
short-term and long-term. 

Auditing 
3.26 An audit of a finance company's debt and interest expense should be 

designed to provide reasonable assurance that— 
a. The company has complied with restrictive covenants of loan agree-

ments. 
b. Amounts of debt are properly authorized and properly .stated, clas-

sified, and described in the financial statements (for example, as 
senior, senior subordinated, and junior subordinated). 
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c. Related interest expense, including amortization of discount or pre-
mium, is properly recorded. 

d. Adequate disclosures of restrictive covenants of loan agreements and 
other loan-related terms are included in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

3.27 The auditor should discuss the various forms of debt with manage-
ment. Terms of the debt instruments may be reviewed to understand the 
nature of each agreement, including any restrictive provisions. Once terms of 
the debt agreements are understood, the auditor can test compliance with their 
provisions and consider what disclosures are needed if the provisions are 
violated. Positive confirmations may provide evidence concerning principal 
and accrued interest at a given date. Confirmations may be used not only to 
confirm the amounts of the liabilities but also to reveal changes in the various 
covenants of the agreements pertaining to such matters as guarantees, pay-
ment terms, interest rates, and restrictions on assets. Confirmations of bank 
lines of credit also may be used to identify (a) conditions under which lines 
are available or may be withdrawn and (b) whether compensating balances 
are required. 

Compliance Reports 

3.28 Some debt agreements may require companies to have their inde-
pendent auditors issue compliance reports on various restrictive covenants 
involving matters such as restrictions on assets, payments of interest, and 
dividend payments. Such reports, which normally are in the form of negative 
assurance, are discussed in SAS No. 62, Special Reports. 

Credit Questionnaires 

3.29 Robert Morris Associates questionnaires may be included as infor-
mation supplementary to the basic financial statements of the finance com-
pany. Some information required in the questionnaires will have been derived 
from accounting records tested by the independent auditor as part of the 
auditing procedures followed in the audit of the finance company's financial 
statements. For example, information relating to reserves for losses, delin-
quent accounts, repossessions, deferred finance income, and borrowings will 
have been derived from financial records tested by the independent auditor. 
However, the auditor is not required to audit information included in the 
questionnaires unless the finance company requests such services. 

3.30 If the auditor submits to the finance company or to others a docu-
ment that contains one or more questionnaires in addition to the company's 
basic financial statements and the auditor's standard report, the auditor 
should follow the reporting guidelines in SAS No. 29, Reporting on Information 
Accompanying the Basic Financial Statements in Auditor-Submitted Docu-
ments, which requires that the auditor's report state that the audit was made 
for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken 
as a whole. The report should identify the accompanying questionnaire and 
further state that it is presented for additional analysis and is not part of the 
basic financial statements. The auditor should express or disclaim an opinion 
on the information included in the questionnaire, depending on whether the 
information has been subjected to auditing procedures applied in auditing the 
basic financial statements. The auditor may express an opinion on a portion of 
the accompanying information and disclaim an opinion on the remainder. The 
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report on the information included in the questionnaire may be added to the 
auditor's standard report on the basic financial statements or may appear 
separately in the auditor-submitted document. 

3.31 If the finance company publishes documents containing credit ques-
tionnaires in addition to audited financial statements and the auditor's report, 
the auditor should refer to SAS No. 8, Other Information in Documents Con-
taining Audited Financial Statements, for guidance. 
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Chapter 4 

Participations 
4.01 In a participation agreement, a finance company shares a loan with 

another financial institution by selling a portion of the loan or buying an 
interest in a loan originated by another financial institution. A seller of a 
participation sometimes retains a small portion of the buyer's share of interest 
on loans to cover overhead incurred in servicing the loans. 

4.02 Terms of participation agreements ordinarily provide for sharing 
of credit risks in proportion to cash invested by each participant. Such 
participations commonly are called pari passu. However, some agreements, 
known as first out, provide for a disproportionate sharing of the risk in 
relation to the cash invested. For example, an agreement may require one 
participant to suffer the first loss up to a specified amount or otherwise 
provide priority to one of the participants in liquidation of the loan. Such 
agreements may be, in substance, financing arrangements collateralized by 
specific loans. 

4.03 A participation may result from a company's reluctance to carry 
an unusually large receivable from a single customer or to carry a receiv-
able from a borrower who is deemed an unusual credit risk. To transfer 
some of the liquidity and rate risk, lenders may sell a portion of such loans 
to other lenders. In addition, participations may benefit borrowers by 
providing lower effective interest rates based on averages of the participat-
ing parties' interest rates. 

Accounting 
4.04 Participations bought and sold usually are accounted for individu-

ally—that is, loan by loan. Control accounts also may be maintained for each 
participating financial institution. The key accounting question is whether to 
account for transfers of portions of loans as sales of receivables or as collater-
alized borrowings. 

Pari Passu 

4.05 A pari passu participation should be treated as a sale of the related 
receivable because it provides for pro rata sharing of risk. The participation 
should be shown on the balance sheet net of the portions sold or at net amounts 
bought. The amount of such a participation generally is combined with other 
finance receivables on the balance sheet and need not be disclosed unless it is 
material in relation to total receivables. 

First Out 

4.06 A first-out agreement provides recourse to certain participants and 
may raise a question of whether the transaction is a financing arrangement 
rather than a sharing of the risks and rewards of a particular loan. FASB 
Statement No. 77, Reporting by Transferors for Transfers of Receivables With 
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Recourse* explicitly applies to participation agreements that provide for re-
course. The standard generally requires recognizing such a participation as a 
sale if (a) the transferor surrenders control of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the receivables, (b) the transferor's obligation under the recourse 
provisions can be reasonably estimated, and (c) the transferee cannot require 
the transferor to repurchase the receivables except pursuant to the recourse 
provisions. If any of those conditions is not met, the transferor should report 
the amount of proceeds from the participation as a liability and continue to 
present the gross amount of the related receivable. Significant amounts of 
loans that collateralize first-out participations should be disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements. FASB Statement No. 77 also requires certain 
disclosures for transfers of receivables with recourse reported as sales. 

Auditing 
4.07 The auditor should consider reviewing compliance with the signifi-

cant provisions of participation agreements, reviewing subsidiary listings of 
participations bought from or sold to other institutions, and testing transac-
tions to supporting documentation. The auditor generally cannot confirm 
directly with the debtors if the finance company bought its participating shares 
under nonnotification arrangements. Instead, the auditor may correspond 
directly with the auditor of the other participating company. For example, the 
auditor may ask whether the participating share was included in the sample 
tested by the other auditor and, if not, may request the other auditor to confirm 
the loan or to obtain permission from the other participating finance company 
to confirm the loan directly. 

* FASB Statement No. 125, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and 
Extinguishments of Liabilities, supersedes FASB Statement No. 77. The Statement is effective for 
transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after Decem-
ber 31, 1996, and is to be applied prospectively. Earlier or retroactive application is not permitted. 
FASB Statement No. 127, Deferral of the Effective Date of Certain Provisions of FASB Statement No. 
125, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 125, replaces paragraph 19 of FASB Statement No. 125 
with the following: 

[FASB Statement No. 125] shall be effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets 
and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after December 31, 1996 except that: 
a. Paragraph 15 shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring after Decem-

ber 31, 1997. 
b. For repurchase agreement, dollar-roll, securities lending, and similar transactions, 

paragraphs 9-12 and 237(b) shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring 
after December 31,1997. 

If it is not possible to determine whether a transfer occurring during calendar-year 1997 is 
covered by paragraph 19(b), then paragraphs 9-12 and 237(b) shall be applied to that trans-
fer. All provisions of this Statement shall be applied prospectively, and earlier or retroactive 
application is not permitted. 

AAG-FIN 4.07 



Insurance Activities 53 

Chapter 5 

Insurance Activities of Finance Companies 
5.01 Insurance operations ordinarily are an integral part of consumer 

finance activities. The auditor of a finance company that engages in or has a 
subsidiary that engages in insurance activities should be familiar with FASB 
Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises. This 
chapter deals primarily with insurance business generated from finance cus-
tomers, though it also addresses insurance coverage provided to others who are 
not also finance customers. 

Types of Insurance Coverage 
5.02 Insurance activities of finance companies often involve insuring 

risks related to loan transactions. Following are the three general types of 
insurance coverage associated with those transactions: 

a. Credit life coverage for loan repayment in the event of the debtor's 
death 

b. Credit accident and health coverage for installment loan payments 
in the event of the debtor's illness or disability for an extended period 

c. Property and liability coverage on collateral or other property asso-
ciated with the loan transaction 

Credit Life 
5.03 Credit life insurance is a form of term insurance that provides for 

loan repayment if the debtor dies before the loan is fully paid. It ordinarily is 
written on a single-premium basis, with the amount of the premium added to 
the loan balance and paid as part of the scheduled installments on the loan. 

5.04 Credit life insurance includes level term insurance and decreasing 
term insurance. Level term insurance provides a fixed amount of coverage, 
generally the original amount of the loan. Decreasing term insurance, the more 
common type, insures the debtor's life to the extent of the unpaid balance of the 
loan, sometimes less any delinquent payments, at the date of death. However, 
decreasing term insurance usually is based on the contractual loan period. 
Therefore, the insurer may not pay off the entire uncollected balance on the 
loan if it is in delinquency status at the time of the debtor's death. The extent 
to which delinquent installments are covered generally depends on the insur-
ance contract and on applicable state insurance rules and regulations. 

5.05 The insurer's risk exposure on a policy at a given point in time under 
level term insurance differs from that under decreasing term credit life insur-
ance. Because level term insurance provides coverage equal to the original 
amount of the loan, the insurer's risk exposure is constant throughout the term 
of the loan. In contrast, the insurer's exposure under decreasing term insur-
ance decreases as scheduled loan repayments become due, usually in direct 
proportion to the regular monthly reductions of the loan balance. 

Credit Accident and Health 
5.06 Credit accident and health insurance requires the insurer to make 

the debtor's monthly loan payments during extended periods of illness or 
disability. Ordinarily it is written on a single-premium basis, with the premium 
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added to the loan amount and, hence, paid as part of the periodic installments. 
Under an accident and health policy, the insurer's total risk exposure de-
creases—as in a decreasing term credit life insurance policy—as loan repay-
ments are made. However, the size of potential claims and the related risk 
exposure do not decrease in direct proportion to the reduction in the unpaid 
loan balance, because most credit accident and health insurance claims are for 
short-duration disabilities that are cured in a period shorter than the remain-
ing loan term. 

Property and Liability 
5.07 Ordinarily, a finance company requires that the collateral pledged 

as security to a loan be protected by property insurance. Such coverage may be 
obtained from the lender's insurance subsidiary or from an unaffiliated in-
surer. The amount of coverage is usually based on the value of the collateral 
and does not necessarily bear a relationship to the unpaid balance of the loan. 
Property insurance policies issued in connection with finance transactions can 
be written either on a single-premium basis for the loan term or for an annual 
or other period of less than the remaining loan term, and the policy renewed 
as required. Premiums charged by lenders' insurance affiliates for property 
insurance coverage related to finance transactions frequently are added to the 
loan amount and paid as part of the regular installment payments on the loan. 

Writing Policies 
5.08 An insurance subsidiary of a finance company may be a direct 

writing or a reinsurance company. A direct writing company writes the insur-
ance policies in its name. A reinsurance company reinsures policies written by 
direct writing companies. 

5.09 The insurance can be issued on either a group or an individual policy 
basis. For group coverage, the insurer issues the policy to the finance company, 
which in turn issues individual certificates to its debtor-customers. Group 
policies may be subject to experience-rated premium adjustments based on 
experience and profitability of the group being covered. 

Commissions 
5.10 Insurers, both insurance subsidiaries of finance companies and inde-

pendent companies, may pay commissions to finance companies. Those pay-
ments may be in the form of advance commissions computed as a percentage 
of premiums, retrospective or experience-rated commissions, or combinations 
of advance commissions and retrospective commissions. 

Accounting 
5.11 Accounting by enterprises that issue insurance contracts is dealt with 

in FASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises; 
FASB Statement No. 97, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for 
Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for Realized Gains and Losses From, the Sale 
of Investments; FASB Statement No. 113, Accounting and Reporting for Reinsur-
ance of Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts; Securities and Exchange 
Commission Regulation S-X, Article 7; and SOP 94-5, Disclosures of Certain 
Matters in the Financial Statements of Insurance Enterprises. 

Premium Income 
5.12 Premium income should be recognized in accordance with the meth-

ods described in FASB Statement No. 60. The statement classifies insurance 
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contracts as being of short or long duration, depending on the period over which 
such contracts are expected to remain in force. The statement provides the 
following guidance on factors to consider in determining whether a contract is 
of short or long duration: 

а. Short-duration contracts provide insurance protection for a fixed 
period of short duration and enable insurers to cancel the contracts 
or to adjust provisions of the contracts (such as the amount of 
premiums charged or coverage provided) at the end of any contract 
period. 

b. Long-duration contracts generally are not subject to unilateral 
changes in their provisions, such as noncancelable or guaranteed 
renewable contracts, and require performance of various functions 
and services (including insurance protection) for extended periods. 

5.13 FASB Statement No. 60 indicates that examples of short duration 
policies include most property and liability insurance contracts and certain 
term life insurance contracts, such as credit life insurance. The statement also 
indicates that accident and health insurance contracts may be of short dura-
tion or long duration, depending on the terms of such contracts. 

5.14 Insurance policies issued in connection with consumer lending gen-
erally are considered to represent short-duration contracts. Premiums from 
such contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contract in 
proportion to the amount of insurance protection provided. According to FASB 
Statement No. 60, "That generally results in premiums being recognized as 
revenue evenly over the contract period (or the period of risk, if different), 
except for those few cases in which the amount of insurance protection declines 
according to a predetermined schedule." 

5.15 The following summarize the revenue recognition principles for the 
various types of insurance policies: 

a. Credit life insurance. Straight-line recognition of premium income 
should be used for level term credit life insurance because the risk 
exposure is constant throughout the term of the policy. The interest 
method should be used for decreasing term credit life insurance 
because the risk exposure declines in proportion to the scheduled 
reduction of the unpaid loan balance. 

b. Credit accident and health insurance. The risk exposure on credit 
accident and health insurance decreases throughout the term of the 
policy because the amount of insurance in force at a given time 
generally equals the unpaid loan balance. However, the risk expo-
sure as measured by anticipated claims is less than the total in 
unpaid installments, because most illnesses and disabilities are for 
periods less than the remaining loan terms. Accordingly, premiums 
on credit accident and health insurance customarily are recognized 
in income in reasonable relationship to anticipated claims. This 
generally results in recognizing such premium income in amounts 
that fall between calculations under the straight-line method and a 
method based on the amount of insurance in force. To illustrate, 
assume that a credit accident and health insurer's claim experience 
indicates that revenue recognition in reasonable relationship to 
anticipated claims approximates the mean of the straight-line and 
insurance in-force methods. For a loan due in six equal monthly 
installments of $700 and a related credit accident and health insur-
ance premium of $42, the following amounts are applicable: 
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Earned Premium for Month 

Unpaid Loan 
Installments 
at Beginning 

Total 
Mean of 
In-Force 

and 
Straight-

line 
Insurance 

In-force 
Month of Month Method Method Method Methods 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

$ 4,200 42/147 
3,500 35/147 
2,800 28/147 
2,100 21/147 
1,400 14/147 

700 7/147 

$12.00 $ 7.00 $ 9.50 
10.00 7.00 8.50 

8.00 7.00 7.50 
6.00 7.00 6.50 
4.00 7.00 5.50 
2.00 7.00 4.50 

Total $14,700 $42.00 $42.00 $42.00 

c. Property and liability insurance. Property insurance premiums 
should be recognized on a straight-line basis because the risk expo-
sure generally is constant over the term of the policy. However, the 
premiums should be recognized on a decreasing basis in proportion 
to the coverage if the amount of coverage declines on a predetermined 
schedule. 

Policy Acquisition Costs 

5.16 Policy acquisition costs are defined in FASB Statement No. 60 to be 
costs that both vary with and are primarily related to the acquisition of 
insurance contracts. Policy acquisition costs should be deferred and amortized 
to income over the terms of the policies by the same method used to account for 
insurance premium income. Commissions paid to the affiliated finance compa-
nies and premium taxes normally are the most significant elements of acquisi-
tion costs for captive insurance companies. Deferred costs associated with 
payment of such commissions and other intercompany items should be elimi-
nated in consolidation. 

Investment Portfolios 

5.17 Insurance subsidiaries of finance companies maintain investment 
portfolios usually composed of the same types of securities found in the 
portfolios of independent insurance companies. State regulations restrict the 
types of investments that insurance companies may make. 

5.18 FASB Statement No. 115 amends FASB Statement No. 60 to require 
that insurance enterprises account for all investments in debt securities and 
investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values, as 
defined by FASB Statement No. 115, in accordance with the provisions of 
Statement No. 115. 

5.19 Insurance subsidiaries are required to deposit some securities, usu-
ally not a significant amount, with state regulatory authorities. However, if 
significant, the amount deposited should be disclosed. 

State Laws 
5.20 Insurance companies are regulated by state insurance laws, which 

require maintenance of accounting records and adoption of accounting prac-
tices in compliance with the laws and regulations of the state of domicile. Some pre-
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scribed or permitted statutory accounting practices differ from generally ac-
cepted accounting principles. Accordingly, the financial statements of insur-
ance subsidiaries prepared for submission to regulatory authorities must be 
adjusted to conform to generally accepted accounting principles before they can 
be consolidated with the financial statements of the parent companies. 

Commissions 

5.21 A finance company may receive commissions from an independent 
insurer for policies issued to finance customers. Insurance commissions re-
ceived from an independent insurer should be deferred and systematically 
amortized to income over the life of the related insurance contracts because the 
insurance and lending activities are integral parts of the same transactions. 
The method of commission amortization should be consistent with the method 
of premium income recognition for that type of policy as set forth in FASB 
Statement No. 60. 

5.22 Income from experience-rated or retrospective commission arrange-
ments should be accrued over the applicable insurance risk period. Insurers 
generally can provide statistical data that can be used to estimate experience-
rated or retrospective commissions if the finance company does not have 
adequate internal data. 

5.23 Commissions paid to a finance company by an insurance subsidiary 
are eliminated in consolidation. 

Consolidation Policy 
5.24 FASB Statement No. 94, Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Sub-

sidiaries, requires consolidation of all majority-owned subsidiaries unless con-
trol is temporary or does not rest with the majority owner. The statement 
requires consolidation of a majority-owned subsidiary even if it has nonhomo-
geneous operations, a large minority interest, or a foreign location. The state-
ment also precludes use of parent-company financial statements prepared for 
issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting 
entity. The statement requires that summarized information about the assets, 
liabilities, and results of operations (or separate statements) of previously 
unconsolidated majority-owned subsidiaries continue to be provided after 
those subsidiaries are consolidated. 

Financial Statement Presentation 
5.25 Presentation of revenues, unearned premiums, and unpaid claims 

related to activities of an insurance subsidiary varies. In consolidated financial 
statements, some finance companies combine revenues from insurance pro-
vided both to finance customers and other customers with revenues from 
finance activities to present a total revenue amount; others do not. Some 
companies present certain unearned premiums and unpaid claims on insur-
ance related to finance customers as liabilities in their consolidated balance 
sheets; others deduct such amounts from total finance receivables. 

5.26 Unearned premiums and unpaid claims on certain insurance policies 
issued to finance customers by a subsidiary may represent inter-company items 
because premiums are added to the consumer loan account, which is, in turn, 
classified as a receivable until paid, and most or all of the payments on claims 
are applied to reduce the related finance receivables. Therefore, unearned 
premiums and unpaid claims on certain credit life and credit accident and 
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health insurance policies issued to finance customers should be deducted from 
finance receivables in the consolidated balance sheet. That will cause the 
receivables to be stated at net realizable value. The following illustrates that 
type of presentation: 

Finance receivables XXX 
Less: 

Allowance for losses (XXX) 
Unearned premiums and unpaid claim 

liabilities related to finance receivables (XXX) 
Finance receivables, net XXX 

Alternatively, the balance sheet may present only the net finance receivables 
if the notes to the financial statements contain sufficient disclosure of unearned 
premiums and unpaid claims and the allowance for losses. 

5.27 Unpaid claims for property insurance and a portion of level term life 
insurance, however, generally may not be applied in consolidation against 
related finance receivables because finance companies generally do not receive 
substantially all proceeds of such claims. That prohibition also applies to credit 
life and accident and health coverage written on policies for which the related 
receivables are assets of unrelated enterprises. In those circumstances, such 
amounts should be presented as liabilities. 

5.28 Revenues from insurance provided to finance customers may be 
presented as part of revenues from the finance business. This presentation 
may be preferable because it better portrays the relative significance of captive 
insurance activities to the earnings of the enterprise. The following illustrates 
a form of that presentation: 

Revenues from finance business: 
Interest and finance charges earned 

on finance receivables XXX 
Insurance premiums and commissions XXX 
Investment and other income XXX 

Total revenues XXX 

Alternatively, if the income statement emphasizes presentation of net interest 
income, another approach may be to present revenues from captive insurance 
activities separately below net interest income. 

5.29 FASB Statement No. 14, Financial Reporting for Segments of a 
Business Enterprise, requires public enterprises to present in their financial 
statements industry-segment information on revenues, profitability, identifi-
able assets, and other matters. For such reporting purposes, insurance busi-
ness relating to finance customers should be included in the finance business 
segment. 

Auditing 
5.30 The AICPA industry audit guide, Audits of Stock Life Insurance 

Companies and the audit and accounting guide, Audits of Property and Liabil-
ity Insurance Companies, provide guidance on auditing concepts and proce-
dures for insurance companies. The auditor should consider reviewing these 
AICPA guides for information. In addition, the auditor should consider 
whether accounts between the finance company and the insurance subsidiaries 
are reconciled regularly. 
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5.31 Because the premiums and commissions associated with insurance 
provided to finance customers ordinarily are an integral part of the related 
finance and loan transactions, the audit procedures used to test and evaluate 
finance transactions should include related insurance activities. Similarly, 
branch office controls over loans usually apply to insurance products. The 
auditor should be satisfied that the income recognition methods for insurance 
premiums and commission income conform to the principles discussed in this 
chapter. 
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Chapter 6 

Acquisitions of Finance Companies 
ana Operations 

6.01 APB Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations, requires that the 
purchase price of a company be allocated among all assets, including identifi-
able intangible assets, based on their fair values. The remaining unassigned 
portion of the purchase price is then accounted for as goodwill. Bulk purchases 
of receivables portfolios of an existing finance company also result in similar 
allocations among tangible and intangible assets. Following are some consid-
erations that may affect such allocations, or the purchase price of a finance 
company or receivables portfolio: 

• A finance company may seek to expand its operations to geographical 
areas where it presently does not do business. To avoid the start-up 
costs of establishing new branch offices, the finance company may be 
willing to pay a premium to buy another finance company that oper-
ates in such areas. Furthermore, the finance company may be espe-
cially willing to pay a premium if licenses are difficult to obtain or if 
regulatory or competitive conditions otherwise complicate entry into 
those areas. 

• A finance company may buy another finance company or a receiv-
ables portfolio to obtain an established base of loans and customers. 
The acquiring company may pay a premium, particularly for a 
portfolio of direct consumer loans and retail sales contracts, in the 
expectation that the purchased accounts will provide new loans and 
customers. 

• The acquiring company may have no finance operations and thus may 
seek to buy an existing finance company to obtain valuable loan 
licenses, management expertise, and customer lists. Therefore, the 
buyer may be willing to pay a premium for an initial entry into the 
business. 

• A finance company may be willing to pay a premium to another finance 
company with an attractive debt structure. For example, the acquired 
company may have issued long-term debt in prior years at interest 
rates that are favorable when compared with rates prevailing at the 
purchase date. 

• The seller may enter into an agreement not to compete in a specified 
geographical area or for a specified period. The acquiring company 
may pay a premium for such an agreement not to compete. 

6.02 To compute the net premium paid for the finance receivables, loans 
may be examined or graded and assigned to one of several rating categories to 
determine their estimated fair value. Considerations in determining fair val-
ues may be current market rates of interest and statutory limits on rates as 
well as quality of the accounts. 

6.03 APB Opinion No. 17, Intangible Assets, as amended by FASB State-
ment No. 72, Accounting for Certain Acquisitions of Banking or Thrift Institu-
tions, addresses accounting for intangible assets, including goodwill, acquired 
in business combinations. The opinion requires that useful lives of identifiable 
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intangible assets be estimated separately so that appropriate periods of amor-
tization may be determined. The opinion states that amortization periods for 
intangible assets acquired after its issuance should not exceed forty years 
under any circumstances. 

6.04 FASB Statement No. 72 applies to the acquisition of a commercial 
bank, a savings and loan association, a mutual savings bank, a credit union, 
other depository institutions having assets and liabilities of the same types as 
those institutions, and branches of such enterprises. Provisions of FASB 
Statement No. 72 apply to acquisitions of finance companies but are not likely 
to have wide application in practice. Under that standard, when the fair value 
of liabilities assumed exceeds the fair value of tangible and identified intangi-
ble assets acquired, that excess constitutes an unidentifiable intangible asset 
that should be amortized to expense using the interest method over a period 
no greater than the estimated remaining life of the long-term interest-bearing 
assets acquired. 

6.05 Net premiums paid for finance receivables generally are amortized 
over the estimated life of the existing receivables portfolio. The estimated life 
may include expected renewals, and generally is a relatively short period, such 
as five to seven years. However, the existence of valuable loan licenses or 
agreements not to compete may indicate that longer amortization periods are 
warranted. Nevertheless, conservatism should be a mitigating factor in deter-
mining those amortization periods for such net premiums and for goodwill 
because changes in state laws and regulations or in the competitive environ-
ment may render valueless such loan licenses or agreements not to compete. 
Amounts paid that are identified as relating to long-term debt with attractive 
interest rates should be amortized, using the interest method, over the lives of 
the related debt. Such amounts would reduce the carrying amount of debt and 
would not be shown as an asset. 

6.06 APB Opinion No. 17 requires goodwill to be amortized using the 
straight-line method unless another rational and systematic method is demon-
strated to be more appropriate. If a finance company was purchased for 
territorial expansion of operations or for some purpose other than an initial 
entry into the finance business, consideration should be given to whether 
amounts designated as goodwill would be more appropriately accounted for as 
yield adjustments to the acquired receivables. In general, a review of specific 
facts and circumstances, such as economic conditions and competition, should 
be considered. 

6.07 Amounts of intangible assets may be presented in the balance sheet 
in one or more categories, depending on the materiality of the accounts. 
Intangible assets usually are presented as the last asset item or items in the 
balance sheet. 

6.08 Auditing procedures for acquisitions of finance companies are gener-
ally similar to auditing procedures for acquisitions of other enterprises. 
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Appendix A 

Illustrative Financial Statements 
The following set of financial statements illustrates one form of currently 

acceptable practice and, as indicated, does not include all disclosures required 
under generally accepted accounting principles. The notes to the financial 
statements are representative of the basic type of disclosure for finance com-
panies. Additional disclosures, such as information concerning related-party 
transactions, subsequent events, pension plans, postretirement benefits other 
than pensions, postemployment benefits, lease commitments, accounting 
changes, off-balance-sheet risks, concentrations of credit risk, the fair value of 
financial instruments, and other matters not unique to finance companies may 
be required by generally accepted accounting principles. Other forms of finan-
cial statements are acceptable. More or less detail should appear either in the 
financial statement or in the notes, depending on the circumstances. 

The banking industry has adopted an income statement format that empha-
sizes presentation of net interest income. Because of the similarity between 
many banking activities and finance company activities, the Finance Compa-
nies Guide Special Committee believes that such a presentation is of increasing 
relevance for the finance industry. Therefore, the illustrative financial state-
ments in this appendix include two alternative income statement formats, the 
first of which emphasizes a net interest income presentation. 

Nevertheless, certain factors may limit the usefulness of the net interest 
income presentation. An income statement that does not emphasize net interest 
income may be more appropriate for companies that engage primarily or solely 
in factoring operations or that otherwise derive a substantial portion of their 
income from commissions for services rather than from interest earned on 
loans. Additionally, the scope of what is to be included in net interest income 
needs to be considered. For example, as not done in the illustrative financial 
statements, a finance company may include credit insurance premiums and 
insurance claims expense on affiliated credit insurance business in the display 
of net interest income to recognize the integral nature of lending and credit 
insurance activities. In addition, all or a portion of investment income may be 
included in the display of net interest income. 

FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, requires a statement of 
cash flows as part of a full set of financial statements for all business enterprises 
in place of a statement of changes in financial position. 

The statement requires that a statement of cash flows classify cash receipts 
and payments according to whether they stem from operating, investing, or 
financing activities and provides definitions of each category. 

The statement requires that information about investing and financing ac-
tivities not resulting in cash receipts or payments in the period be provided 
separately. 

The statement encourages enterprises to report cash flows from operating 
activities directly by showing major classes of operating cash receipts and 
payments (the direct method). Enterprises that choose not to show operating 
cash receipts and payments are required to report the same amount of net cash 
flow from operating activities indirectly by adjusting net income to reconcile it 
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to net cash flow from operating activities (the indirect reconciliation method) 
by removing the effects of (a) all deferrals of past operating cash receipts and 
payments and all accruals of expected future operating cash receipts and 
payments, and (b) all items that are included in net income that do not affect 
operating cash receipts and payments. If the direct method is used, a reconcili-
ation of net income and net cash flow from operating activities is required to 
be provided in a separate schedule. 

Both the direct and the indirect methods are illustrated in this appendix. 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of XYZ Finance Corporation 
and Consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, and the 
related statements of income and retained earnings and cash flows for the years 
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evi-
dence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of XYZ Finance Corporation and 
Consolidated Subsidiaries as of [at] December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles. 

[Firm Signature] 
Certified Public Accountants 

City, State 
February 18, 19X6 
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Exhibit 1 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Balance Sheets 
Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 

(in thousands except share and per share amounts) 

19X5 19X4 
Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,015 $ 4,907 
Finance receivables, net 333,649 272,166 
Trading securities* 6,736 6,600 
Available-for-sale securities* 15,574 13,988 
Held-to-maturity securities* 10,450 10,250 
Property and equipment 4,689 3,830 
Other 11,628 9,577 

Total assets $388,741 $321,318 
Liabilities 

Senior debt $163,064 $113,723 
Senior subordinated debt 84,204 74,572 
Junior subordinated debt 31,400 30,500 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 15,727 13,866 
Credit balances of factoring clients 4,120 3,112 
Deferred income taxes 3,972 3,469 

Total liabilities $302,487 $239,242 
Shareholders' Equity 

Common stock, $1 par value; 4,269,000 shares 
authorized and outstanding $ 4,269 $ 4,269 

Additional paid-in capital 18,945 18,945 
Net unrealized depreciation on available-for-sale 

securities (626) (278) 
Retained earnings 63,666 59,140 

Total shareholders' equity $ 86,254 $ 82,076 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $388,741 $321,318 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

* FASB Statement No. 115 does not require the presentation of individual amounts for the three 
categories of investments on the face of the balance sheet, provided that the information is presented 
in the accompanying footnote disclosures (FASB Statement No. 115, paragraph 117). 
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Exhibit 2 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Statements of Income and Retained Earnings: Format 1 

Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 
(in thousands except per share amounts) 

19X5 19X4 
Interest income 

Interest and fee income $ 55,510 $ 47,302 
Interest expense (18,825) (16,283) 

Net interest income 36,685 31,019 
Provision for credit losses (4,284) (3,623) 

Net interest income after provision for 
credit losses 32,401 27,396 

Insurance premiums and other income 13,040 11,650 
Other expenses 

Salaries and fringe benefits (10,546) (8,987) 
Other operating expenses (13,227) (11,565) 
Policyholders' benefits (6,644) (5,600) 

Income before income taxes 15,024 12,894 
Income taxes (7,211) (6,189) 

Net income 7,813 6,705 
Retained earnings, beginning of year 59,140 55,551 
Dividends (3,287) (3,116) 
Retained earnings, end of year $ 63,666 $ 59,140 
Earnings per share $ 1.83 $ 1.57 

Dividends per share $ 0.77 $ 0.73 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Exhibit 3 

Finance Companies 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Statements of Income and Retained Earnings: Format 2 
Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 

(in thousands except per share amounts) 

19X5 19X4 
Revenues 

Interest and fee income $ 55,510 $ 47,302 
Insurance premiums and other income 13,040 11,650 

Total revenues 68,550 58,952 
Expenses 

Interest expense 18,825 16,283 
Policyholders' benefits 6,644 5,600 
Provision for credit losses 4,284 3,623 
Salaries and fringe benefits 10,546 8,987 
Other operating expenses 13,227 11,565 

Total expenses 53,526 46,058 
Income before income taxes 15,024 12,894 
Income taxes 7,211 6,189 

Net income 7,813 6,705 
Retained earnings, beginning of year 59,140 55,551 
Dividends (3,287) (3,116) 
Retained earnings, end of year $ 63,666 $ 59,140 
Earnings per share $ 1.83 $ 1.57 
Dividends per share $ 0.77 $ 0.73 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Exhibit 4a 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Statements of Cash Flows: Direct Method 

Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 
(in thousands) 

19X5 19X4 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Interest and fees received $ 54,698 $ 46,589 
Interest paid (18,275) (15,897) 
Cash payments for operating expenses (21,912) (18,686) 
Income taxes paid (5,242) (4,565) 
Insurance premiums received 12,790 11,498 
Net (increase)/decrease in trading securities (136) (2,480) 
Other (2,611) (1,937) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 19,312 14,522 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Loans originated or purchased (190,304) (136,571) 
Loans repaid or sold 118,705 83,750 
Net investment in commercial paper (346) (555) 
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (14,330) (8,493) 
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale 

securities 6,988 4,625 
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale 

securities 5,985 5,010 
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities (4,777) (6,539) 
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity 

securities 4,498 7,004 
Capital expenditures (1,409) (1,656) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 200 643 

Net cash used in investing activities (74,790) (52,782) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Net borrowings of commercial paper 16,939 10,215 
Proceeds from issuance of other debt 71,000 50,000 
Repayment of other debt (28,066) (18,215) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 0 955 
Dividends paid (3,287) (3,116) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 56,586 39,839 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,108 1,579 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 4,907 3,328 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 6,015 $ 4,907 

If the amounts are significant, this caption may be separated into two line items. 
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Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities: 

19X5 19X4 
Net income $ 7,813 $ 6,705 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 
Provision for credit losses on finance receivables 4,284 3,623 
Policyholders' benefits 6,644 5,600 
Depreciation 350 303 
Deferred income taxes 503 473 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,861 1,530 
Accrued interest receivable (812) (713) 
Net realized gains on available-for-sale securities (152) (183) 
Net (increase)/decrease in trading securities (136) (2,480) 
Other (1,043) (336) 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 19,312 $ 14,522 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Exhibit 4b 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Statements of Cash Flows: Indirect Method 
Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 

(in thousands) 
19X5 19X4 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income $ 7,813 $ 6,705 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

$ 7,813 $ 6,705 

provided by operating activities: 
Provision for credit losses on finance 

receivables 4,284 3,623 
Policyholders' benefits 6,644 5,600 
Depreciation 350 303 
Deferred income taxes 503 473 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,861 1,530 
Accrued interest receivable (812) (713) 
Net realized gains on available-for-sale 

securities (152) (183) 
Net (increase)/decrease in trading securities (136) (2,480) 
Other (1,043) (336) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 19,312 14,522 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Loans originated or purchased* (190,304) (136,571) 
Loans repaid or sold 118,705 83,750 
Net investment in commercial paper (346) (555) 
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (14,330) (8,493) 
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale 

securities 6,988 4,625 
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale 

securities 5,985 5,010 
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities (4,777) (6,539) 
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity 

securities 4,498 7,004 
Capital expenditures (1,409) (1,656) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 200 643 

Net cash used in investing activities (74,790) (52,782) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Net borrowings of commercial paper 16,939 10,215 
Proceeds from issuance of other debt 71,000 50,000 
Repayment of other debt (28,066) (18,215) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 0 955 
Dividends paid (3,287) (3,116) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 56,586 39,839 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,108 1,579 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 4,907 3,328 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 6,015 $ 4,907 

* If the amounts are significant, this caption may be separated into two line items. 
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Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: 
19X5 19X4 

Cash paid during the year for: 
Interest $ 18,275 $ 15,897 
Income taxes $ 5,242 $ 4,565 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Exhibit 5 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Notes to Financial Statements 

A — N a t u r e of Operations and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies 

Nature of Operations 
XYZ Finance Corporation and its Consolidated Subsidiaries provide con-

sumer and commercial finance services through branch offices located in most 
major business markets in the continental U.S. The Company's revenues are 
derived primarily from consumer lending operations. 
Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of XYZ Finance 
Corporation (the Company) and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany 
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
Finance Receivables 

Finance receivables that management has the intent and ability to hold for 
the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are reported at their outstand-
ing unpaid principal balances reduced by any chargeoff or specific valuation 
accounts and net of any deferred fees or costs on originated loans, or unamor-
tized premiums or discounts on purchased loans. 

Loan origination fees and certain direct origination costs are capitalized and 
recognized as an adjustment of the yield of the related loan. 

Allowance for loan losses is increased by charges to income and decreased by 
chargeoffs (net of recoveries). Management's periodic evaluation of the ade-
quacy of the allowance is based on the Company's past loan loss experience, 
known and inherent risks in the portfolio, adverse situations that may affect 
the borrower's ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral 
and current economic conditions. Consumer loans and factored receivables are 
charged off when they are 180 days and 90 days contractually past due, 
respectively. 

The Company calculates its provision for credit losses based on changes in 
the present value of expected future cash flows of its loans discounted at the 
loan's effective interest rate in accordance with Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114. 
Securities 

Trading securities. Government bonds held principally for resale in the 
near term are classified as trading securities upon acquisition and record-
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ed at their fair values. Unrealized gains and losses on trading securities 
are included in other income. 

Held-to-maturity securities. Bonds, notes, and debentures for which the 
Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are 
reported at amortized cost. 

Available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities consist of secu-
rities not classified as trading or held-to-maturity. Unrealized holding 
gains and losses, net of tax, on available-for-sale securities are reported 
as a net amount in a separate component of shareholders' equity until 
realized. Realized gains and losses on the sale of available-for-sale securi-
ties are determined using the specified identification method. 

Declines in the fair value of individual held-to-maturity and available-for-sale 
securities below cost or amortized cost that are other than temporary result in 
write downs of the individual securities to their fair value as a new cost basis. 
The related write-downs are included in earnings as realized losses. Premiums 
and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over 
the period to maturity. 

Income Taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected at currently enacted income 
tax rates applicable to the period in which the deferred tax assets or liabilities 
are expected to be realized or settled. As changes in tax laws or rates are 
enacted, deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision 
for income taxes. 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments 

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in 
estimating fair values of financial instruments as disclosed herein: 

Cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of cash and short term 
instruments approximate their fair value. 

Investment securities. Fair values for trading account securities, which 
also are the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet, are 
based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market prices 
are not available, fair values are based on pricing models or quoted market 
prices of comparable instruments. 

Finance receivables. For variable rate receivables that reprice frequently 
and have no significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on 
carrying values. Fair values for commercial receivables are estimated 
using discounted cash flow analyses, using interest rates currently being 
offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. 
Fair values for impaired loans are estimated using discounted cash flow 
analyses or underlying collateral values, where applicable. 

Senior debt; senior subordinated debt; junior subordinated debt. The fair 
values of the company's senior debt, senior subordinated debt, and junior 
subordinated debt are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses 
based on the Company's current incremental borrowing rates for similar 
types of borrowing arrangements. 

Accrued interest. The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximates 
their fair values. 
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Off-balance-sheet instruments. Fair values for off-balance-sheet lending 
commitments are based on fees currently charged to enter into similar 
agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the agreements 
and the counterparties' credit standing. 

Income Recognition 
Interest income from finance receivables is recognized using the interest 

(actuarial) method. Accrual of interest income on finance receivables is sus-
pended when a loan is contractually delinquent for ninety days or more. The 
accrual is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current, and past-due 
interest income is recognized at that time. In addition, a detailed review of 
commercial loans will cause earlier suspension if collection is doubtful. Premi-
ums and commissions for credit life insurance are recognized as revenue using 
the interest method. Premiums and commissions for credit accident and health 
insurance are recognized over the terms of the contracts based on the mean of 
the straight-line and interest methods. 

B—Finance Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses 

Finance receivables as of December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands 
of dollars): 

19X5 19X4 
Consumer 

Real estate secured $131,961 $104,078 
Other 119,135 97,857 
Accrued interest 3,175 2,550 

254,271 204,485 
Commercial 

Accounts receivable loans 32,002 27,440 
Factored accounts 

Receivables 21,404 18,594 
Inventory loans to clients 2,965 2,876 
Overadvances to clients 2,947 2,260 

Floor plan loans 5,441 5,763 
Other 29,962 23,620 
Accrued interest 1,200 1,013 

95,921 81,566 
Total finance receivables 350,192 286,051 

Allowance for credit losses (9,506) (7,839) 
Unearned credit insurance premiums 

and reserves for policyholder benefits (7,037) (6,046) 
Finance receivables, net $333,649 $272,166 

Impairment of loans having carrying values of $4,086,000 in 19X5 and 
$2,107,000 in 19X4 have been recognized in conformity with FASB Statement 
No. 114, as amended by FASB Statement No. 118, Accounting by Creditors for 
Impairment of a Loan—Income Recognition and Disclosures (an amendment of 
FASB Statement No. 114). The total provision for credit losses related to these 
loans was $564,647 and $389,960 in 19X5 and 19X4, respectively. The average 
recorded investment in impaired loans was $3,096,500 in 19X5 and $2,826,000 
in 19X4. The related amount of interest income recognized on impaired loans 
was $143,725 in 19X5 and $119,723 in 19X4. The amount of interest income 
recognized on a cash basis method of accounting during the time period that 
these loans were impaired amounted to $42,352 in 19X5 and $39,546 in 19X4. 
The Company is not committed to lend additional funds to debtors whose loans 
have been modified. 
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On December 31, 19X5, contractual maturities of finance receivables were as 
follows (in thousands of dollars): 

There-
19X6 19X7 19X8 19X9 19Y0 after Total 

Consumer 
Real estate 

secured $ 20,963 $10,785 $10,474 $ 8,480 $ 8,917 $72,342 $131,961 
Other 51,325 29,374 20,164 9,507 2,423 6,342 119,135 

Commercial 
Accounts 

receivable 
loans 32,002 32,002 

Factored 
accounts 27,316 27,316 

Floor plan 
loans 4,686 755 5,441 

Other 6,140 8,243 5,192 4,934 5,453 29,962 
Accrued 

interest 4,375 4,375 
Total finance 

receivables $146,807 $49,157 $35,830 $22,921 $16,793 $78,684 $350,192 

It is the Company's experience that a substantial portion of the consumer loan 
portfolio generally is renewed or repaid before contractual maturity dates. The 
above tabulation, therefore, is not to be regarded as a forecast of future cash 
collections. During the years ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, cash collec-
tions of principal amounts of consumer loans totaled $57,670,000 and 
$40,719,000, respectively, and the ratios of these cash collections to average 
principal balances were 25 percent and 29 percent, respectively. 
Changes in the allowance for credit losses were as follows (in thousands of 
dollars): 

Consumer Commercial 
Accounts 
Receiv-

able 
Loans 

Real 
Accounts 
Receiv-

able 
Loans 

Floor 
Estate 

Accounts 
Receiv-

able 
Loans 

Factored Plan 
Secured Other 

Accounts 
Receiv-

able 
Loans Accounts Loans Other Total 

Balance as of 
December 31, 

19X3 $ 762 $3,885 $628 $556 $112 $620 $6,563 
Provision for 

credit losses 597 1,564 627 534 129 172 3,623 
Loans charged off (376) (1,357) (749) (639) (154) (156) (3,431) 
Recoveries 58 490 225 192 46 73 1,084 

Balance as of 
December 31, 

19X4 1,041 4,582 731 643 133 709 7,839 
Provision for 

credit losses 651 2,090 664 583 121 175 4,284 
Loans charged off (448) (1,601) (808) (710) (147) (178) (3,892) 
Recoveries 76 601 243 213 44 98 1,275 

Balance as of 
December 31, 

19X5 $1,320 $5,672 $830 $729 $151 $804 $9,506 
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C—Investments in Securities 
Investments in securities as of December 31 were as follows (in thousands of 

dollars): 

Gross Gross 
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized 

Cost Gains 

Total 

Losses 
Fair 
Value 

Available-for-sale securities 
December 31, 19X5: 

Equity securities $16,778 $275 $1,479 $15,574 
December 31, 19X4: 

Equity securities $14,523 $211 $ 746 $13,988 
Held-to-maturity securities 

December 31, 19X5: 
U.S. Government and 

Agency securities $ 6,552 $488 $ 912 $ 6,128 
State and Municipal securities 3,898 373 0 4,271 

Total $10,450 $861 $ 912 $10,399 

December 31, 19X4: 
U.S. Government and 

Agency securities 6,267 854 1,289 5,832 
State and Municipal securities 3,983 34 0 4,017 

$10,250 $888 $1,289 $ 9,849 

The change in net unrealized holding gains on trading securities that has been 
included in earnings was $243 in 19X5 and $172 in 19X4. 
Gross realized gains and gross realized losses on sales of available-for-sale 
securities were: 

19X5 19X4 
Gross realized gains 
U.S. Government and Agency securities $106 $110 
State and Municipal securities 46 73 

Total $152 $183 

The scheduled maturities of securities held-to-maturity and securities 
available-for-sale at December 31, 19X5, were as follows (in thousands of 
dollars): 

Held-to-Maturity 
Fair Amortized 
Value Cost 

Due in 1 year or less $3 ,135 $3 ,255 
Due from 1 to 5 years 2,926 3,037 
Due from 5 to 10 years 2,613 2,457 
Due after 10 years 1,776 1,650 

Total $10,450 $10,399 
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D—Debt 

Debt as of December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars): 

19X5 19X4 
Senior debt 

Commercial paper 
4% to 7% notes due 19X6—19X9 
7½% notes due 19Y0—19Y4 
8% notes due 19X9 
Variable interest rate notes due 19X8 

$ 62,600 
73,866 
12,090 
9,671 
4,837 

$ 45,661 
47,570 

9,314 
7,452 
3,726 

Total senior debt 
Senior subordinated debt 

6% notes due 19X9 
7% notes due 19Y0 
8½% notes due 19Y3—19Y7 

163,064 

40,000 
34,572 

9,632 

113,723 

40,000 
34,572 

Total senior subordinated notes 84,204 74,572 
Junior subordinated notes 

8% notes due 19X9 
10 ½% notes due 19Y0—19Y6 

25,000 
6,400 

25,000 
5,500 

Total junior subordinated notes 31,400 30,500 
Total subordinated debt 115,604 105,072 
Total debt $278,668 $218,795 

The Company maintains various bank credit agreements, primarily to support 
commercial paper borrowings. As of December 31, 19X5, these agreements 
included $50,000,000 of formal credit lines and $158,460,000 of revolving credit 
agreements. Credit lines are reviewed annually, and the revolving credit agree-
ments consist of $50,160,000 and $108,300,000 expiring June 30, 19X7, and 
September 30, 19X9, respectively. As of December 31, 19X5, none of the credit lines 
of revolving credit agreements were in use. To support the availability of credit 
agreements, the Company pays commitment fees or maintains compensating 
balances, or both. Borrowings under these lines generally are available at the prime 
rate. Compensating balance and annual commitment fee requirements as of 
December 31, 19X5 totaled $742,000 and $987,000, respectively. 
Data on commercial paper were as follows (in thousands of dollars): 

19X5 19X4 
Weighted average interest rate at year end 9.2% 8.7% 
Maximum amount outstanding at any month end $62,600 $48,735 
Average borrowings 54,131 43,867 
Weighted average interest rate during the year 9.0% 8.5% 

Maturities as of December 31, 19X5, were as follows (in thousands of dollars): 

19X6 19X7 19X8 19X9 19Y0 
There-
after Total 

Senior debt $81,100 $18,500 $22,337 $29,037 $ 2,400 $ 9,690 $163,064 
Senior subordinated 

$81,100 $18,500 $22,337 $29,037 $ 2,400 $ 9,690 $163,064 

debt 40,000 34,572 9,632 84,204 
Junior subordinated 

40,000 34,572 9,632 84,204 

debt 25,000 1,000 5,400 31,400 
Total debt $81,100 $18,500 $22,337 $94,037 $37,972 $24,722 $278,668 
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The loan agreements under which certain of the senior and subordinated debts 
were issued contain restrictions on the payment of dividends, the purchase of 
common stock, and the requirements for maintenance of certain financial ratios 
and other financial conditions. Under the most restrictive of the dividend 
payment provisions, approximately $21,056,000 of consolidated retained earn-
ings were free of such restrictions as of December 31, 19X5. Requirements for 
maintenance of certain financial ratios and other financial conditions have the 
effect of requiring maintenance of consolidated stockholders' equity at certain 
minimum amounts; as of December 31, 19X5, consolidated equity exceeded this 
minimum amount by approximately $38,600,000.* 

E—Fair Value of Financial Instruments** 
The information provided below is required by FASB Statement No. 107, 

Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments. These amounts repre-
sent estimates of fair value of financial instruments at a point in time. 
Significant estimates using available market information and appropriate 
valuation methodologies were used for the purposes of this disclosure. The 
estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the company could 
realize in a current market exchange, and the use of different market assump-
tions or methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair value 
amounts. 

19X5 19X4 

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated 
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value 

Assets 
Cash & Cash Equivalents $ 6,015 $ 6,015 $ 4,907 $ 4,907 
Finance Receivables 333,649 334,053 272,166 273,249 
Debt & Equity Securities 32,760 32,709 30,838 30,437 

Liabilities 
Senior Debt 163,064 162,844 113,723 114,560 
Senior subordinated debt 84,207 83,732 74,272 75,932 
Junior subordinated debt 31,400 31,400 30,500 30,500 
Accounts payable 15,727 15,727 13,866 13,866 
Credit balances of factoring 

clients 4,120 4,120 3,112 3,112 

* Note: See appropriate FASB and AICPA pronouncements for additional guidance in present-
ing other information required by generally accepted accounting principles such as disclosures about 
insurance activities, segment data, lease commitments, employee benefit plans, income taxes, debt 
securities held as assets, financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, financial instruments 
with concentrations of credit risk, postemployment benefits other than pensions, and the fair value of 
financial instruments. 

** FASB Statement No. 126, Exemption from Certain Required Disclosures about Financial 
Instruments for Certain Nonpublic Entities, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 107, amends 
FASB Statement No. 107 to make the disclosures about fair value of financial instruments prescribed 
in FASB Statement No. 107 optional for entities that meet all of the following criteria: 

a. The entity is a nonpublic entity. 
b. The entity's total assets are less than $100 million on the date of the financial statements. 
c. The entity has not held or issued any derivative financial instruments, as defined in FASB 

Statement No. 119, Disclosure about Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value 
of Financial Instruments, other than loan commitments, during the reporting period. 
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F—Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk 
The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk 

in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. 
These financial instruments consist primarily of commitments to extend 
credit..These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk 
in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The 
contract or notional amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of involve-
ment the Company has in particular classes of financial instruments. 

The Company's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the 
other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit is 
represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments. The 
Company uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional 
obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. 

Contract or 
Notional Amount 
19X5 19X4 

Financial instruments whose contract 
amounts represent credit risk 

Commercial loan commitments $1,653 $1,127 
Unfunded lines-of-credit 457 359 
Letter of credit 395 258 

Total $2,505 $1,744 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as 
there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments 
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may 
require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to be 
drawn upon, the total commitment amounts generally represent future cash 
requirements. The Company evaluates each customer's credit worthiness on a 
case by case basis. The amount of collateral, if deemed necessary by the 
Company upon extension of credit, is based on management's credit evaluation 
of the counterparty. Collateral normally consists or real property. 

G—Income Taxes 
The provision for income taxes consists of the following: 

19X5 19X4 
Current 

Federal $5,500 $4,950 
State 1,208 766 

Total Current 6,708 5,716 
Deferred 

Federal 453 425 
State 50 48 

Total Deferred 503 473 
Total $7,211 $6,189 

The net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
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income tax purposes are reflected in deferred income taxes. Significant compo-
nents of the Company's deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 19X5 and 
19X4 are as follows: 

19X5 19X4 
Current deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

Noncurrent deferred tax assets/liabilities) 
Provision for loan losses $ 1,875 $ 1,225 
Depreciation (1,575) (1,320) 
Insurance underwriting (1,875) (1,705) 
Leasing operations (1,247) (1,325) 
Deferred compensation 1,200 1,295 
Other (net) (2,350) (1,639) 

Deferred noncurrent tax liability, (net) $(3,972) $(3,469) 

A reconciliation of the income tax provision with amounts determined by 
applying the federal statutory rate to income before income taxes is as follows: 

Federal statutory income tax rate 
State and local income tax 
Nondeductible expenses 
Other 

Effective tax rate 

19X5 19X4 
34.0% 34.0% 

8.4 6.3 
4.0 5.8 
1.6 1.9 

48.0% 48.0% 

H—Vulnerability Due to Certain Concentrations 

A sizeable percentage of the Company's secured consumer real estate loans 
have been extended to customers in the northeastern region of the U.S. This 
area has not yet felt the full effects of the general recovery from the nationwide 
recession and accompanying real estate downturn. Leading economic indica-
tors suggest that the situation in this region may continue. Should this prove 
to be the case, it is at least reasonably possible that the Company could 
experience a severe impact in its ability to collect on existing loans, liquidate 
foreclosed assets or extend new loans in this prime market. Based on this 
circumstance it is also reasonably possible that the Company's related loan loss 
estimates will change in the near term. 
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Appendix B 

Statement of 90-11 
Position 

Disclosure of Certain 
Information by Financial 
Institutions About Debt 
Securities Held as Assets 

November 30, 1990 

Amendment to 
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides 
Audits of Banks, 
Audits of Finance Companies (Including Independent and 
Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies), and 
Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies 

Issued by the 
Accounting Standards Executive Committee 
American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants 
[Effectively superseded by the issuance of FASB Statement No. 115, 
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. ] 
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Appendix C 

Statement of 92-3 
Position 

Accounting for 
Foreclosed Assets 

April 28, 1992 

Issued by the 
Accounting Standards Division 
American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants 
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NOTICE TO READERS 
Statements of Position of the Accounting Standards Division pre-

sent the conclusions of at least a majority of the Accounting Stand-
ards Executive Committee, which is the senior technical body of the 
AICPA authorized to speak for the Institute in the areas of financial 
accounting and reporting. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, 
The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Ac-
cepted Accounting Principles in the Independent Auditor's Report, 
identifies AICPA Statements of Position as sources of established 
accounting principles that an AICPA member should consider if the 
accounting treatment of a transaction or event is not specified by a 
pronouncement covered by Rule 203 of the AICPA Code of Profes-
sional Conduct. In such circumstances, the accounting treatment 
specified by this Statement of Position should be used or the member 
should be prepared to justify a conclusion that another treatment 
better presents the substance of the transaction in the circumstances. 

Material appearing in footnote 2 and the indented portion of paragraph A-5 of 
the Appendix is copyrighted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, 401 
Merritt 7, P.O. Box 5116, Norwalk, Connecticut, 06856-5116, U.S.A. It is 
reprinted by permission. Copies of the complete document are available from 
the FASB. 
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SUMMARY 
This statement of position (SOP) provides guidance on measuring foreclosed 
assets and in-substance foreclosed assets after foreclosure. It applies to all 
reporting entities, except those that account for assets at fair value or market 
value. It applies to all assets obtained through foreclosure or repossession, 
except for inventories, marketable equity securities, and real estate previously 
owned by the lender and accounted for under FASB Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Opera-
tions of Real Estate Projects. 
Under the SOP, there is a rebuttable presumption that foreclosed assets are 
held for sale. The SOP recommends that foreclosed assets held for sale be 
carried at the lower of (a) fair value minus estimated costs to sell or (b) cost. 
Foreclosed assets held for the production of income should be treated the same 
way they would be had the assets been acquired in a manner other than through 
foreclosure. 
The SOP should be applied to foreclosed assets in annual financial statements 
for periods ending on or after December 15, 1992. 
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Accounting for Foreclosed Assets 

Scope 
1. This statement of position (SOP) provides guidance on determining the 

balance sheet treatment of foreclosed assets1 after foreclosure. (Paragraphs 
A-6 and A-7 of the Appendix discuss the exclusion from this SOP of conclusions 
on the accounting treatment of results of operations related to foreclosed assets 
held for sale.) It applies to all reporting entities except those that account for 
assets at market value or fair value, such as broker-dealers, futures commis-
sion merchants, and investment companies. It applies to all assets obtained 
through foreclosure or repossession except for (a) inventories that are covered 
by chapter 4 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Restatement and Revision 
of Accounting Research Bulletins', (b) marketable equity securities that are 
covered by Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards (Statement) No. 12, Accounting for Certain Market-
able Securities', and (c) foreclosed real estate previously owned by the lender 
and accounted for under FASB Statement No. 67, Accounting for Costs and 
Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects. Except for the requirements 
in paragraphs 12 and 17, the conclusions of this SOP do not apply to in-sub-
stance foreclosed assets (see paragraph A-10 of the Appendix). 

Background 
2. Paragraph 29 of FASB Statement No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and 

Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings, issued in 1977, requires the follow-
ing: "After a troubled debt restructuring, a creditor shall account for assets 
received in satisfaction of a receivable the same as if the assets had been 
acquired for cash." That requirement has been interpreted in diverse ways. 

3. The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' (AICPA's) 
Industry Audit Guide Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies requires that 
foreclosed real estate be carried at the lower of cost (less accumulated depre-
ciation) or market value, net of any encumbrances. Paragraphs 17 and 21 of 
SOP 75-2, Accounting Practices of Real Estate Investment Trusts (as amended 
by SOP 78-2), require that estimated losses on individual loans and properties 
be based on net realizable value. The guidance in the AICPA Audit and 
Accounting Guide Audits of Savings Institutions (May 1994) and in the Indus-
try Audit Guide Audits of Finance Companies are consistent with SOPs 75-2 
and 78-2. The AICPA Industry Audit Guide Audits of Banks (May 1994) states 
that subsequent to foreclosure, a loss on foreclosed real estate should be 
recognized if cost cannot be recovered through sale or use, but it does not 
indicate how the loss is to be measured. The AICPA Audit and Accounting 
Guide Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies does not address 
accounting for foreclosed assets.* 

1 As used in this SOP, the term foreclosed assets includes all assets received in satisfaction of a 
receivable in a troubled debt restructuring, as the term is used in FASB Statement No. 15, Account-
ing by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings. It includes real property and personal 
property; equity interests in corporations, partnerships, and joint ventures; and beneficial interests 
in trusts. 

* The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Banks and Savings Institutions superseded the 
Guides Audits of Savings Institutions and Audits of Banks and refers readers to FASB Statement No. 
121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, 
and SOP 92-3. 

AAG-FIN APP C 



90 Finance Companies 

4. In practice, accounting by creditors for foreclosed assets, particularly 
real estate assets, is diverse. After foreclosure, some enterprises continue to 
write down the carrying amount of foreclosed assets for subsequent, further 
declines in fair value; others do not. After foreclosure, some enterprises dis-
count projected cash flows related to foreclosed assets in estimating net realiz-
able value of those assets; others do not. 

5. Sections 4(b)(1) and 4(b)(2)(A) of the Home Owners' Loan Act of 1933 
as amended by the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement 
Act of 1989 generally provide that the director of the Office of Thrift Supervi-
sion prescribe uniform accounting and disclosure standards for savings asso-
ciations, to be used in determining associations' compliance with applicable 
regulations, and incorporate generally accepted accounting principles into 
those standards to the same degree that such principles are used to determine 
compliance with regulations prescribed by federal banking agencies. Section 
1215 of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 
1989 also provides the following: 

Before the end of the 1-year period beginning on the date of the enactment of 
this Act [August 9, 1989], each appropriate Federal banking agency (as defined 
in section 3(q) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act) shall establish uniform 
accounting standards to be used for determining the capital ratios of all 
federally insured depository institutions and for other regulatory purposes. 
Each such agency shall report annually to the Chairman and ranking minority 
member of the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs of the 
Senate and the Chairman and ranking minority member of the Committee on 
Banking, Finance and Urban Affairs of the House of Representatives any 
differences between the capital standards used by such agency and capital 
standards used by any other such agency. Each such report shall contain an 
explanation of the reasons for any discrepancy in such capital standards, and 
shall be published in the Federal Register. 

6. The chairman of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board (now the Office 
of Thrift Supervision) asked the AICPA in 1987 to address the inconsistency 
between banks and savings and loan associations in accounting for loans and 
real estate assets. The AICPA's Accounting Standards Executive Committee 
(AcSEC) attempted to eliminate that inconsistency in 1988 and 1989 but 
decided to refer the matter to the FASB at that time. On April 4, 1989, soon 
after AcSEC's decision to refer the matter to the FASB, the chairman of the 
Federal Home Loan Bank Board wrote to the chairman of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) asking that the SEC or its staff remove the 
inconsistency for public reporting entities. The SEC has not done so. 

7. Further, the chairman of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 
in a letter to the FASB dated November 8, 1989, asked the FASB to assist in 
developing "uniform accounting standards among depository institutions." In 
that letter, the chairman stated that "the accounting treatment in practice for 
certain transactions among participants in the financial services industry 
seems to be more a reflection of the type of charter than the substance of the 
transaction." Furthermore, the chairman "urge[d] the FASB to reconcile the 
different accounting practices outlined in [AICPA] guides for thrifts, banks, 
and finance companies." In early 1990, AcSEC decided that it could deal with 
the inconsistencies and diversity in accounting for foreclosed assets, and this 
SOP is a result of that decision. 

8. AcSEC believes that all enterprises, not just financial institutions, 
should account for foreclosed assets held for sale the same way, except that 
enterprises that account for assets at market value or fair value should not change 
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their accounting. AcSEC's primary objectives in issuing this statement of 
position are to reduce the inconsistencies and diversity in accounting for 
foreclosed assets and to improve the understandability, comparability, and 
relevance of amounts reported as foreclosed assets in balance sheets. Another 
objective is to make all of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides and SOPs 
consistent on this matter. Achieving those objectives will also address the 
needs of Congress and the thrift and banking regulators. 

9. This SOP affects the following AICPA statements of position and 
industry audit and accounting guides: 

a. Audits of Finance Companies 
b. Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies 
c. Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies 
d. Guide for the Use of Real Estate Appraisal Information 

Conclusions 
Held-for-Sale Presumption 

10. Most enterprises do not intend to hold foreclosed assets for the pro-
duction of income but intend to sell them; in fact, some laws and regulations 
applicable to financial institutions require the sale of foreclosed assets. There-
fore, under this SOP, it is presumed that foreclosed assets are held for sale and 
not for the production of income. That presumption may be rebutted, except for 
in-substance foreclosed assets, by a preponderance of the evidence. If the 
held-for-sale presumption is not rebutted, the asset should be classified in the 
balance sheet as held for sale. 

11. The presumption of sale can be rebutted if (a) management intends to 
hold a foreclosed asset for the production of income, (b) that intent is not 
inconsistent with the enterprise's ability to do so or with laws or regulations, 
including the manner in which the laws or regulations are administered by 
federal or state regulatory agencies, and (c) that intent is supported by a 
preponderance of the evidence. 
Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale 

12. After foreclosure, foreclosed assets held for sale should be carried at 
the lower of (a) fair value2 minus estimated costs to sell or (b) cost.3 Such de-

2 Fair value, as used in this SOP, is defined in paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 15 as 
follows: 

The fair value of the assets transferred is the amount that the . . . [creditor] could reasonably 
expect to receive for them in a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller, that 
is, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Fair value of assets shall be measured by their 
market value if an active market for them exists. If no active market exists for the assets trans-
ferred but exists for similar assets, the selling prices in that market may be helpful in estimat-
ing the fair value of the assets transferred. If no market price is available, a forecast of expected 
of expected cash flows may aid in estimating the fair value of assets transferred, provided the 
expected cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved.6 

6 Some factors that may be relevant in estimating the fair value of various kinds of assets are 
described in paragraphs 88 and 89 of APB [Accounting Principles Board] Opinion No. 16 
["Business Combinations"], paragraphs 12-14 of APB Opinion No. 21, "Interest on Receiv-
ables and Payables," and paragraph 25 of APB Opinion No. 29, "Accounting for Nonmone-
tary Transactions." 
3 The cost of such assets at the time of foreclosure is the fair value of the asset foreclosed or 

repossessed. Any specific valuation allowance related to the loan should not be carried forward. This 
SOP provides no guidance for determining cost subsequent to foreclosure (see paragraphs A-6 and A-7 
of the appendix). 
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termination should be made on an individual asset basis. If the fair value of 
the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the asset is less than the cost of the 
asset, the deficiency should be recognized as a valuation allowance. If the fair 
value of the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the asset subsequently 
increases and the fair value of the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the 
asset is more than its carrying amount, the valuation allowance should be 
reduced, but not below zero. Increases or decreases in the valuation allowance 
should be charged or credited to income.4 

13. The amount of any senior debt (principal and accrued interest) to 
which the asset is subject should be reported as a liability at the time of 
foreclosure and not be deducted from the carrying amount of the asset; pay-
ments on such debt should be charged to the liability. Interest that accrues 
after foreclosure should be recognized as interest expense. 

14. FASB Statement No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental 
Operations of Real Estate Projects, was extracted by the FASB from SOP 78-3, 
Accounting for Costs to Sell and Rent, and Initial Rental Operations of Real 
Estate Projects; SOP 80-3, Accounting for Real Estate Acquisition, Develop-
ment, and Construction Costs, and the AICPA Industry Audit Guide Account-
ing for Retail Land Sales. These documents did not, in the opinion of AcSEC, 
apply to foreclosed real estate held for sale. AcSEC therefore believes that the 
fair-value test in this SOP, not the net-realizable-value test in FASB State-
ment No. 67, should be applied to foreclosed real estate held for sale, except 
when the foreclosed real estate was previously owned by the lender and 
accounted for under FASB Statement No. 67, in which case such foreclosed 
assets should be accounted for under FASB Statement No. 67. 

Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income 
15. After foreclosure, assets determined to be held for the production of 

income (and not held for sale) should be reported and accounted for in the same 
way that they would be had the assets been acquired other than through 
foreclosure. 

Change in Classification 
16. If it is subsequently decided that a foreclosed asset classified as held 

for sale will be held for the production of income, the asset should be reclassi-
fied from the held-for-sale category. The reclassification should be made at the 
amount the asset's carrying amount would have been had the asset been held 
for the production of income since the time of foreclosure. Selling costs included 
in the valuation allowance should be reversed. The net effect should be re-
ported in income from continuing operations in the period in which the decision 
not to sell the asset is made. 

Effective Date and Transition 
17. This SOP should be applied to foreclosed assets in annual financial 

statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1992, with earlier 
application permitted. On initial application of this SOP, all enterprises should 
adjust the carrying amount of foreclosed assets held for sale to the lower of (a) 
the fair value of the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the asset or (b) the 
cost of the asset as of the date of the initial adoption of this SOP. For many ent-

4 Because the allowance is considered a valuation adjustment, insurance enterprises should 
report changes in the valuation allowance as realized gains and losses in income, not as unrealized 
gains and losses in equity. 
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erprises, adoption of this SOP will result in a change in accounting principle. 
The nature of the change should be disclosed in the financial statements of the 
period in which the change is made. Any adjustment arising from the initial 
application of this SOP should be included in income from continuing opera-
tions in the period in which the change is made. No restatement of previously 
issued financial statements or cumulative-effect adjustment as of the begin-
ning of the year this SOP is first applied is permitted. 
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APPENDIX 

Discussion of Major Comments on the Exposure Draft 
A-1. This Appendix summarizes considerations that were deemed signifi-

cant by members of AcSEC in reaching the conclusions in this SOP. 
A-2. In the exposure draft, AcSEC concluded that there is a rebuttable 

presumption that foreclosed assets are held for sale and that foreclosed assets 
held for sale should be carried at the lower of cost or fair value minus the 
estimated costs to sell. Few respondents objected to those conclusions. 

Held-for-Sale Presumption 
A-3. Some respondents requested more explanation of the circumstances 

under which the held-for-sale presumption could be rebutted. After consider-
ing the concerns expressed by respondents about the rebuttable presumption, 
AcSEC decided not to give detailed, specific guidance, thereby allowing for the 
exercise of judgment in determining whether the presumption is rebutted by 
the facts in particular circumstances. 

A-4. AcSEC recognizes that some enterprises may hold foreclosed assets 
for several years before sale and may even operate the assets, but concludes 
that a holding period in excess of one year does not, in and of itself, rebut the 
held-for-sale presumption. Further, AcSEC notes that if the form of the fore-
closed asset is a majority interest in an enterprise, FASB Statement No. 94, 
Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries, requires the subsidiary to 
be consolidated unless control is likely to be temporary. 

Fair Value 
A-5. Some respondents requested guidance on the determination of fair 

value. AcSEC recognizes that estimating fair value requires judgment. AcSEC 
concluded, however, that it would be inappropriate and is unnecessary to 
develop a new definition of fair value in this SOP, and that the definition of fair 
value in FASB Statement No. 15 should be used in this SOP. Moreover, AcSEC 
believes that the following discussion about fair value from Statement No. 15, 
particularly paragraph 82, will be helpful in implementing this SOP. 

Concept of Fair Value 
79. Some respondents to the Exposure Draft continued to argue that all 
troubled debt restructurings should be accounted for as modifications of the 
terms of debt and that none should be accounted for as transfers of assets 
(paragraphs 66 and 67). Others accepted the need to account for some troubled 
debt restructurings as asset transfers but held that obtaining assets through 
foreclosure or repossession under terms included in lending agreements should 
be distinguished from obtaining assets in exchange for cash or in other "asset 
swaps." They contended that (a) only the form of the asset is changed by 
foreclosure or repossession, (b) the substance of a secured loan is that the lender 
may choose either to postpone receipt of cash or take the asset to optimize cash 
receipts and recovery of its investment, and (c) foreclosure or repossession is 
not the completion of a lending transaction but merely a step in the transaction 
that begins with lending cash and ends with collecting cash. 
80. The Board rejected those arguments for the reasons given in paragraphs 
71-77, emphasizing that an event in which (a) an asset is transferred between 
debtor and creditor, (b) the creditor relinquishes all or part of its claim against 
the debtor, and (c) the debtor is absolved of all or part of its obligation to the 
creditor is the kind of event that is the basis of accounting under the existing 
transaction-based accounting framework. To fail to recognize an event that fits 
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the usual description of a transaction and to recognize only the lending and 
collection of cash as transactions would significantly change the existing 
accounting framework. 

81. Use of the fair value of an asset transferred to measure the debtor's gain 
on restructuring and gain or loss on the asset's disposal or the creditor's cost of 
acquisition is not adopting some kind of "current value accounting." On the 
contrary, that use of fair value is common practice within the existing account-
ing framework. Paragraph 13 of this Statement explains briefly the meaning 
of fair value and refers to APB Opinions No. 16, No. 21, and No. 29, which use 
fair value in the same way and provide guidance about determining fair values 
within the existing accounting framework. The term fair value is used in 
essentially the same way as market value was used in the Discussion Memo-
randum to denote a possible attribute to be measured at the time a debt is 
restructured. Fair value is defined in paragraph 181 of APB Statement No. 4 
as "the approximation of exchange price in transfers in which money or money 
claims are not involved." Although a "money claim" is necessarily involved in 
transferring assets to settle a payable in a troubled debt restructuring, the 
troubled circumstances in which the transfer occurs make it obvious that the 
amount of the "money claim" does not establish an exchange price. Determining 
fair value of the assets transferred in a troubled debt restructuring is usually 
necessary to approximate an exchange price for the same reasons that deter-
mining fair value is necessary to account for transfers of assets in nonmonetary 
transactions (APB Opinion No. 29). 

82. That point is emphasized in this Appendix because some respondents to 
the Exposure Draft apparently misunderstood the concept of fair value (para-
graph 11 of the Exposure Draft and paragraph 13 of this Statement) and the 
discounting of expected cash flows specified in those paragraphs. Paragraph 
13 permits discounting of expected cash flows from an asset transferred or 
received in a troubled debt restructuring to be used to estimate fair value only 
if no market prices are available either for the asset or for similar assets. The 
sole purpose of discounting cash flows in that paragraph is to estimate a current 
market price as if the asset were being sold by the debtor to the creditor for cash. 
That estimated market price provides the equivalent of a sale price on which the 
debtor can base measurement of a gain on restructuring and a gain or loss on 
disposal of the asset and the equivalent of a purchase price on which the creditor 
can measure the acquisition cost of the asset. To approximate a market price, 
the estimate of fair value should use cash flows and discounting in the same 
way the marketplace does to set prices—in essence, the marketplace discounts 
expected future cash flows from a particular asset "at a rate commensurate with 
the risk involved" in holding the asset. An individual assessment of expected 
cash flows and risk may differ from what the marketplace's assessment would 
be, but the procedure is the same. [Emphasis added by AcSEC.] 

83. In contrast to the purpose of paragraph 13, AICPA Statement of Position 
No. 75-231 is concerned with different measures—net realizable value to a 
creditor of a receivable secured by real property and net realizable value of 
repossessed or foreclosed property. Its method of accounting for assets obtained 
by foreclosure or repossession thus differs from the method specified in this 
Statement. It proposes discounting expected cash flows at a rate based on the 
creditor's "cost of money" to measure the "holding cost" of the asset until its 
realizable value is collected in cash. The concept of fair value in paragraph 13 
does not involve questions of whether interest is a "holding cost" or "period cost" 

31 See paragraphs 59 and 60 of this Statement. 
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because it is concerned with estimating market price, not net realizable value, 
however defined. Accounting for transfers of assets in troubled debt restructur-
ings and for the assets after transfer is, of course, governed by this Statement.* 

Results of Operations Related to Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale 

A-6. In the exposure draft, AcSEC proposed that there should be no 
results of operations—revenues and expenses—from foreclosed assets while 
they are held for sale; net cash receipts related to foreclosed assets during the 
holding period would have been credited to the carrying amount of the asset, 
and net cash payments, except for capital additions and improvements, would 
have been charged to income as a loss on holding the foreclosed assets. Further, 
in the exposure draft, AcSEC concluded that no depreciation, depletion, or 
amortization expense should be recorded. Many respondents objected to the 
exclusion of the results of operating a foreclosed asset from income; many also 
objected to crediting net cash receipts to the carrying amount of the asset and 
charging net cash payments to income. They raised questions about the con-
servatism of such treatment, about whether the treatment was conceptually 
sound, and about whether it would be practical to implement. Some comment 
letters also raised questions about whether it is appropriate not to depreciate 
foreclosed assets held for sale. After considering the comments, AcSEC decided 
not to adopt the method proposed in the exposure draft. 

A-7. AcSEC considered various other ways to account for operations 
during the period foreclosed assets are held for sale, such as— 

• Reporting the net of revenues and expenses in income, including 
charges or credits related to changes in the valuation allowance and 
depreciation expense on depreciable assets, for each reporting period 
as a gain or loss on holding the asset. 

• Reporting the net of revenues and expenses in income, including 
charges or credits related to changes in the valuation allowance and 
depreciation expense on depreciable assets held or expected to be held 
for more than a specified length of time (for example, one year). 

• Reporting the net of revenues and expenses in income, including 
charges or credits related to changes in the valuation allowance, and 
recognizing no depreciation expense. 

• Crediting or debiting the net of revenues and expenses to the asset, 
and recognizing no depreciation expense. Changes in the valuation 
allowance would be included in income. 

AcSEC believes that it should consider those options further and that its 
ultimate decision on the treatment of operations during the period foreclosed 
assets are held for sale should be exposed for public comment; AcSEC intends 
to undertake such a project. However, because AcSEC believes that its conclu-
sion that foreclosed assets held for sale should be carried at the lower of fair 
value minus estimated costs to sell or cost would not change regardless of its 
conclusions on operations of foreclosed assets, AcSEC decided that it should 
issue the guidance in this SOP now, rather than delay issuing the guidance 
until the results of operations issues are resolved. 

Note: Paragraph 13 of SOP 75-2, Accounting Practices of Real Estate Investment Trusts, has 
been effectively superseded by FASB Statement No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a 
Loan, and FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for 
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of. 
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Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income 
A-8. In the exposure draft, AcSEC proposed to require that foreclosed 

assets held for the production of income be carried at an amount not greater 
than the assets' net realizable value. AcSEC decided to eliminate that state-
ment. 

Change in Classification 
A-9. AcSEC also decided that, on reclassification of a foreclosed asset 

from the held-for-sale category, the asset should be measured and recorded as 
if the asset had been held for the production of income since foreclosure. That 
decision is consistent with the consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force in 
Issue 2 of Issue 90-6, where the reversal of a decision to sell an asset acquired 
in a business combination gives rise to an accounting as if the asset had never 
been held for sale. 

In-Substance Foreclosed Assets 
A-10. Many respondents asked for specific guidance on in-substance fore-

closed assets, and they asked whether the SOP would apply to such assets. 
AcSEC concluded that, except for paragraphs 12 and 17, the guidance in this 
SOP need not be applied to in-substance foreclosures for the following reasons: 

a. The accounting for in-substance foreclosed assets was not explicitly 
addressed in the exposure draft. 

b. AcSEC would have found it difficult to resolve issues concerning 
senior debt related to in-substance foreclosed assets. 

However, AcSEC notes that paragraph 34 of FASB Statement No. 15; para-
graph 6 of AICPA Practice Bulletin 7, Criteria for Determining Whether Collat-
eral for a Loan Has Been In-Substance Foreclosed; and SEC Financial 
Reporting Release 28, Accounting for Loan Losses by Registrants Engaged in 
Lending Activities, include accounting guidance related to in-substance fore-
closed assets indicating that in-substance foreclosed assets should be accounted 
for in the same way as assets that have actually been foreclosed or repossessed. 
Further, AcSEC concluded that for purposes of applying this SOP, the held-for-
sale presumption could not be rebutted for in-substance foreclosed assets. 
Accordingly, after in-substance foreclosure, an in-substance foreclosed asset, 
like a foreclosed asset held for sale, would be reported in the balance sheet at 
the lower of (a) fair value minus estimated costs to sell or (b) cost. 

Carrying Amount of Assets at Foreclosure 
A-11. Some respondents expressed concerns and opinions about the car-

rying amount of the foreclosed assets to be recognized at foreclosure. The 
exposure draft indicated that the attribute to be recognized at foreclosure 
should be the fair value of the collateral, implying that, if at the time of 
foreclosure the fair value of the collateral is greater than the recorded invest-
ment in the related loan, a credit to income would result. Some respondents 
suggested that no such credits should be permitted and that the carrying 
amount of the asset recognized at foreclosure should be the lower of the fair 
value of the collateral or the recorded investment in the loan. Notwithstanding 
those concerns, AcSEC notes that paragraph 28 of FASB Statement No. 15 
requires that foreclosed assets be accounted for at their fair value at the time 
of foreclosure. 

Practice Bulletin 7 was withdrawn in December 1994 by the Accounting Standards Executive 
Committee. 
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A-12. Some respondents also said that the definition of fair value, which 
is the definition in paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 15, implicitly contains 
a reduction for selling costs. For purposes of applying this SOP, AcSEC believes 
that the definition of fair value in paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 15 
should be viewed as the cash sales/purchase price in a principal-to-principal 
transaction wherein no agents, dealers, brokers, or commission merchants are 
involved. If either principal decides to involve and pay outsiders to assist that 
principal, or to bring principals together, any amount paid by that principal is 
independent of the fair value of the asset and does not affect that fair value. 
Accordingly, immediately after foreclosure, a valuation allowance related to 
foreclosed assets held for sale should be recognized for estimated costs to sell 
through a charge to income. 

Offsetting of Debt 

A-13. Contrary to what was proposed by AcSEC in the exposure draft, 
some respondents suggested that nonrecourse senior debt not assumed by the 
holder of the foreclosed asset be offset against the carrying amount of the asset. 
To protect its interest in the asset, the holder of the asset will have to settle the 
debt or have a subsequent transferee take the asset subject to the debt. If debt 
is offset, leverage is not portrayed, and the degree of possible gain is obscured. 
Moreover, offsetting nonrecourse senior debt against a foreclosed asset would 
be inconsistent with the manner in which such debt is portrayed when assets 
are purchased for cash and there is related nonrecourse debt. Therefore, 
AcSEC reaffirms that senior debt should not be offset against the asset. 

Transition 

A-14. Comments were specifically requested on the transition proposed in 
the exposure draft. Most respondents agreed that determining the cumulative 
effect of the change in accounting principle would either be impossible or 
possible only at significant cost for enterprises that do not have available the 
fair value of foreclosed assets at earlier balance sheet dates, and that a 
restatement of previously issued financial statements or a cumulative effect 
adjustment should not be required. Further, AcSEC concluded that, because 
one of the principal objectives of this SOP is to have consistent accounting of 
foreclosed assets, those two alternatives should not be permitted. 
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Appendix D 

Information Sources 
Further information on matters addressed in this Guide is available through 

various publications and services listed in the table that follows. Many non-
government and some government publications and services involve a charge 
or membership requirement. 

Fax services allow users to follow voice cues and request that selected 
documents be sent by fax machine. Some fax services require the user to call 
from the handset of the fax machine, others allow the user to call from any 
phone. Most fax services offer an index document, which lists titles and other 
information describing available documents. 

Electronic bulletin board services allow users to read, copy, and exchange 
information electronically. Most are available using a modem and standard 
communications software. Some bulletin board services are also available using 
one or more Internet protocols. 

Recorded announcements allow users to listen to announcements about a 
variety of recent or scheduled actions or meetings. 

All telephone numbers listed are voice lines, unless otherwise designated as 
fax (f) or data (d) lines. Required modem speeds, expressed in bauds per second 
(bps), are listed for data lines. 
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Appendix E 

Schedule of Changes Made to Audits of 
Finance Companies (Including 
Independent and Captive Financing 
Activities of Other Companies) 

Reference 

General 

Preface 
Preface 

Paragraph 2.05 

Paragraph 2.06 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.33 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.36 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.39 
(footnote *) 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.42 

Paragraph 2.43 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.49 

Paragraphs 
2.50, 2.51, 2.52, 
2.53, and 2.54 

Paragraphs 2.55, 
2.56, 2.57, 2.58, 
2.59, 2.60, 2.61, 
and 2.62 

Renumbered 
paragraphs 
2.63, 2.64, and 
2.65 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.73 

Change Date 

The term "examination" has been 
changed to "audit" to conform to the 
terminology used in SAS No. 58. October, 1990 
Auditing Procedures section deleted. March, 1992 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 
Revised to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature. June, 1996 
Added to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature; Subsequent 
paragraphs renumbered. June, 1996 
Note reference added to reflect the 
issuance of SOP 92-3. May, 1992 
Reference to SOP 92-3 added. May, 1992 

Added to reflect the issuance of FASB 
Statement No. 125. June, 1997 

Revised to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature. June, 1996 
Added to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature; Subsequent 
paragraphs further renumbered. June, 1996 
Summary of FASB Statement No. 105 
added. October, 1990 
Added to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature; Subsequent 
paragraphs further renumbered. June, 1996 
Added to reflect the issuance of FASB 
Statement No. 125; Subsequent para-
graphs further renumbered. June, 1997 

Added to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature; Subsequent 
paragraphs further renumbered. June, 1996 

Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 65. March, 1992 
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Reference 

Renumbered 
paragraphs 
2.75 and 2.76 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.79 

Renumbered 
paragraphs 
2.81, 2.82, 2.84, 
and 2.88 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.93 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.97 

Renumbered 
paragraphs 
2.101 and 2.107 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.121 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.122 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.124 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.126 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.146 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.149 

Renumbered 
paragraph 2.151 

Renumbered 
paragraphs 
2.151, 2.152, 
and 2.154 

Renumbered 
paragraph 
2.163 

Renumbered 
paragraphs 
2.164 and 2.166 

Paragraph 3.28 

Paragraph 4.06 
(footnote *) 

Paragraph 5.11 

Change Date 

Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 

Reference to Veterans Administration 
changed to Department of Veterans Af-
fairs. March, 1992 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 

Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 55. October, 1990 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 55. October, 1990 

Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 55. October, 1990 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 67. March, 1992 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 
Reference to SAS No. 11 changed to 
SAS No. 73; Note reference to the su-
persession of SAS No. 11 deleted. May, 1995 
Reference to SAS No. 44 changed to 
SAS No. 70; Footnote reference to SAS 
No. 70 deleted. May, 1993 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 

Reference to SAS No. 17 changed to 
SAS No. 54. October, 1990 

Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 78. June, 1997 

Reference to SAS No. 14 changed to 
SAS No. 62. October, 1990 
Added to reflect the issuance of FASB 
Statement No. 125. June, 1997 
Revised to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature. June, 1996 
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Change 

Revised to reflect the issuance of FASB 
Statement No. 115. 
Reference to Audit and Accounting 
Guide, Audits of Fire and Casualty In-
surance Companies, changed to Audit 
and Accounting Guide, Audits of Prop-
erty and Liability Insurance Companies. 
Note updated to include guidance 
covered by SOP 90-11 and FASB 
Statement Nos. 105, 106, and 107. 
Introduction modified. 
Footnote reference to FASB Statement 
No. 109 added. 
References to FASB Statement Nos. 
114 and 115 added. 
Auditor's report added; Exhibits re-
vised to reflect the issuance of recent 
authoritative literature. 
Added to reflect the issuance of FASB 
Statement No. 126. 
SOP 90-11 added. 
References to Audit and Accounting 
Guide Saving and Loan Associations 
deleted. 
Notice to Readers revised to reflect 
SAS No. 69. 
References to Audit and Accounting 
Guide Audits of Credit Unions deleted. 
References to Industry Audit Guide 
Audits of Stock Life Insurance Comp-
anies deleted. 
Effectively superseded by FASB 
Statement No. 115. 
SOP 92-3 added. 
References to Audit and Accounting 
Guide Audits of Credit Unions deleted. 
Modified to reflect the issuance of the 
Audit and Accounting Guide Banks 
and Savings Institutions', Note re-
ference to supersession of Practice Bul-
letin 7 added. 

Date 

June, 1994 

October, 1990 

March, 1992 
May, 1993 

May, 1993 

June, 1994 

June, 1996 

June, 1997 
March, 1991 

August, 1991 

April, 1992 

February, 1993 

December, 1995 

June, 1996 
May, 1992 

February, 1993 

June, 1996 
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Reference 

Paragraph 5.18 

Paragraph 5.30 

Appendix A 

Appendix A 
Appendix A 

(Exhibit 1) 
Appendix A 

Appendix A 

Appendix A 
(footnote **) 

Appendix B 
Appendix B 

Appendix B 

Appendix B 

Appendix B 

Appendix B 

Appendix C 
Appendix C 
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Glossary 
accounts receivable loan. A loan collateralized by the accounts receivable of 

the borrower. 
accrual with suspension. A method of recognizing interest income based on 

the contractual terms of the loan (accrual basis). The accrual of interest is 
suspended when certain conditions occur that cast doubt on the collectibil-
ity of the unpaid loan. 

acquisition costs. Costs related to making or acquiring loans or insurance 
contracts. 

actuarial method. See interest method. 
add-on loan. See discount loan. 
adequate protection. A secured creditor's legal right under the U.S. Bank-

ruptcy Code to have its collateral position not become impaired, impeded, 
or downgraded without sufficient protection against loss. 

advance factoring. A factoring arrangement that allows a client to draw cash 
advances against the receivables sold to a factor before they are due or 
collected. Advance factoring also is called discount factoring. 

advance payment. A payment on account made prior to the contractual due 
date. 

anticipation. An extra allowance taken by customers on bills paid before the 
maturity date. The amount is based on the current interest rate. 

asset-based financial services. Financial services related to secured com-
mercial and industrial lending activities. Asset-based financial services 
include leasing and factoring activities. 

asset-based lending. Lending collateralized by the borrower's assets. 
availability. The amount that can be loaned as a percentage of collateral. The 

percentage is determined individually by formula, for example, 70 to 80 
percent of accounts receivable and 30 to 60 percent of inventory. 

average due date. The average maturity date for purchased receivables in a 
given month under a factoring agreement. 

borrowing base of the finance company. An amount, usually defined in a 
note agreement or indenture, in computing the maximum amount permit-
ted to be borrowed as a particular class of debt. It generally is determined 
by subtracting deferred charges and intangible assets from stockholders' 
equity. Subordinated debt usually is included in the borrowing base of debt 
senior to the subordinated debt. Also called capital base. 

bulk purchase. The purchase of a group of loans receivable as a single trans-
action. Also called receivables portfolio purchase. 

call option loan. A loan with a provision that permits the lender to require 
immediate repayment, at specified points in time. 

capital base. See borrowing base of the finance company. 
captive finance activities. Financing provided by a manufacturer or dealer 

through an affiliated finance company, generally with the intention of 
encouraging potential customers to purchase products of the controlling 
manufacturer or dealer. 

carrying charge. Amount that the purchaser of consumer goods agrees to pay 
to the retail dealer or finance company (if the loan is obtained directly from 
the finance company) for the privilege of paying the principal balance in 
installments. 
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chargeback. Under a factoring agreement, the charging of an unpaid invoice 
or portion thereof against the client's account for amounts due to a mer-
chandising dispute, credit, offset, deduction, or other reason for nonpay-
ment other than the customer's inability to pay. 

charges. All amounts charged, contracted for, or to be received in repayment 
of an obligation, excluding principal but including interest and compensa-
tion for expenses incurred by the lender; the difference between net funds 
advanced and total amounts to be repaid. 

charges-only account. An account on which collections are applied entirely to 
finance, deferment, or default charges, with no portion serving to reduce 
the principal balance of the loan. 

chattel. Personal property such as automobiles, furniture, and appliances. 
chattel mortgage. An instrument under which the borrower (mortgagor) 

gives a lender (mortgagee) a lien on chattel property as security for 
payment of an obligation. The borrower continues to use the property. 
When the obligation is fully paid off, the lien is removed. 

client. In a factoring arrangement, the business enterprise from which the 
factor buys trade accounts receivable. 

collateral. Property pledged as security for loans. For consumer loans, collat-
eral typically includes automobiles, furniture, and appliances. For com-
mercial loans, collateral typically includes accounts receivable, inventory, 
plant and equipment, and marketable securities. 

collateral management. Routine monitoring, by a finance company, of assets 
that a commercial borrower has pledged as security. Such procedures 
generally allow the lender to provide more financing than would otherwise 
be available. 

collateral trust. A trust arrangement under which a finance company depos-
its collateral with a trustee as security for borrowings. Notes issued for 
borrowings under such arrangements generally are called collateral 
trust notes. 

collection days. The time required for a finance company to have payments 
received from customers collected and credited to the finance company's 
bank account. 

comaker loan. Loans made by more than one debtor, generally unsecured. 
The second debtor is required because of the insufficient or unknown credit 
standing of the first debtor. 

commission. A service fee paid to a finance company for arranging a transac-
tion involving the sale or purchase of assets or services. 

commitment fee. Consideration paid by a potential borrower to a potential 
lender for a promise to lend money in the future. 

compensating balances. Deposit balances, frequently not interest-bearing, 
maintained in banks as compensation for advancing lines of credit and 
loans under the lines of credit, generally at some percent of the amount of 
the line of credit. Such amounts are shown in balance sheets as restricted 
funds when there is a formal, contractual agreement restricting use of such 
funds. 

conditional sales contract. Legal instrument used in credit sales of personal 
property providing that the title remains with the seller until the purchase 
price is paid in full but that purchasers retain possession as long as there 
is no default. 

confidential account. See no-mail account. 
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consumer. Any individual who purchases goods or merchandise for personal 
or family use. 

consumer revolving credit and credit cards. Contracts with consumers to 
finance personal lines of credit that are continuously available to the 
consumer either for the purchase of goods or for direct advance of cash. 

contracts sold under repurchase agreement. The seller, generally an 
equipment manufacturer, retailer, or dealer, agrees to pay within a desig-
nated period the unpaid balance of defaulted loans by repurchasing repos-
sessed collateral from the finance company after reasonable collection 
effort, repossession, and delivery of the collateral to the seller. 

contracts sold with recourse. Receivable contracts sold with the seller (gen-
erally an equipment manufacturer, retailer, or dealer) guaranteeing pay-
ment. If loans are not paid in accordance with terms, the finance company 
may force the seller to redeem the defaulted loans. 

contractual method. A method of determining delinquent accounts based on 
contractual terms of the original loan agreement. 

contractual rate. The rate of interest stated explicitly in a loan contract. 
coupon book. A book of coded payment forms to be used by borrowers in 

remitting payments. 
creditback. A credit to a factored client's account, typically to reverse prior 

chargebacks for payments subsequently received from customers or for 
credits issued by the client. 

credit bureau. An organization that accumulates and makes credit informa-
tion available to its members. 

credit loss. The loss associated with a loan that is uncollectible. 
customer. In a factoring arrangement, the individual or business enterprise 

that is the account debtor on the trade account receivable bought by the 
factor. 

dealer. Retail merchant who generally purchases automobiles, furniture, ap-
pliances, or other consumer goods at wholesale and sells to customers at 
retail. 

dealer holdbacks. Amounts withheld by finance companies from dealers on 
retail contracts with greater-than-normal credit risk until a certain num-
ber of payments on the contracts have been received or until contract 
balances have been reduced to specified amounts. 

dealer reserves. Finance company liabilities for dealers' shares of finance 
charges on retail contracts purchased from dealers. 

deficiency balances. Amounts remaining in borrowers' accounts after they 
have been charged with contractual amounts and credited for proceeds of 
sale of repossessed collateral, life insurance, and so forth. 

deficiency judgment. Legal claim against a debtor for the balance of debt 
remaining after repossession and sale of the collateral, plus allowable 
expenses. 

delinquency (default) fees. Amounts debtors pay because of being late with 
scheduled payments on loans. 

demand loan. A loan that has no fixed maturity date but is payable on demand 
by the lender. 
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direct consumer loan. A two-party transaction in which the finance company 
lends funds directly to the borrower; such a loan may or may not be 
collateralized. 

discount. Amount deducted from the face value in advance as a charge for the 
loan or a deduction for interest at the time of the loan or any charge for 
credit that is precomputed and included in the face of the instrument. 

discount factoring. See advance factoring. 
discount loan. A loan that is written with the interest or finance charges 

included in the face amount of the note. Discount loans are also called 
precompute or add-on loans. 

effective interest rate. The implicit rate of interest based on the amount 
advanced and the amount and timing of the specified repayments over the 
period of the contract. 

eligible accounts. Receivables that meet the criteria specified in a lending, 
factoring, or portfolio purchase agreement to entitle the borrower or client 
to a cash advance or payment. 

equity participant. In a leveraged lease, an individual investor or group of 
investors who hold trust certificates evidencing their beneficial interest as 
owners under an owner trust. 

evergreen loan. A loan that is repaid neither periodically nor according to a 
fixed amortization schedule, but might remain constant in relation to 
assets that qualify as collateral. 

factor. A company that engages primarily in factoring. 
factoring. Purchase, usually without recourse, of individual accounts receiv-

able arising in the client's ordinary course of business. Under a factoring 
agreement, the finance company also provides credit checking, collection, 
and recordkeeping services. 

financing statement. A notice filed in the location or locations required by 
state law necessary to perfect a security interest in collateral. 

first out. A participation agreement that provides for a participant to have 
priority over all others in liquidation of a loan. 

fixed-charge coverage. The number of times a company's interest cost is 
covered by earnings before taxes, measured by the ratio of earnings before 
taxes plus interest cost divided by interest cost. Credit rating agencies 
generally consider fixed-charge coverage in addition to other factors in 
evaluating the creditworthiness of a finance company's debt obligations. 

floating rates. A rate of interest that, by the terms of the loan, fluctuates up 
or down depending on other widely followed market rates of interest, such 
as the prime rate, Treasury bill rate, or Federal Reserve discount rate. 

floor plan checking. Physical inspection of dealer's inventories that are col-
lateral for advances to the dealer to be repaid from the proceeds from sale 
of specific items. Sometimes referred to as floor plan auditing. 

floor planning. Financing of dealers' inventories, particularly automobiles 
and other consumer goods, sometimes referred to as wholesaling. The 
dealers are obliged to repay the supplier or manufacturer from proceeds of 
sale of specific items, or after an elapsed period even though inventory is 
not sold. 

foreclosure. A legal sale of mortgaged property to obtain satisfaction of the 
mortgage out of proceeds of sale. 
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garnishment. The attachment of salaries through court action to collect on a 
defaulted obligation. 

interest-bearing loan. A loan that is written at the principal amount ad-
vanced to the borrower and bearing interest computed monthly on the 
unpaid balance. 

interest method. A method of computing income under which interest income 
on a fixed-rate obligation is accrued over the life of the loan based on a 
constant rate (percent) of interest applied to the outstanding loan balance. 
As a result, the amount of income recognized at a given time is directly 
proportional to the outstanding loan balance. Also called the actuarial 
method. 

inventory loan. A loan collateralized by inventory of the borrower. 
lease. An agreement conveying the right to use property, plant, or equipment 

in exchange for cash payments over a stated time. 
legal rebate obligation. The adjustment of precomputed interest required by 

state statutes on discount loans paid off before the end of their contractual 
terms. 

letter of credit. A document issued by a financial institution, guaranteeing 
the seller payment of a specified amount on presentation before the 
expiration date of documents confirming shipment of goods. Generally, an 
irrevocable agreement. 

leverage. The ratio of total debt to equity. Rating agencies commonly monitor 
a finance company's leverage in determining its credit rating. 

leveraged lease. A lease involving at least three parties: a lessee, a long-term 
creditor, and a lessor (commonly called the equity participant). The 
long-term creditor commonly has recourse only to the leased assets. 

lien. The right to satisfy a claim, if default occurs, by seizing the debtor's 
property subject to the lien and converting the property in accordance with 
procedures provided by law. 

line of credit. An agreement to lend a specified amount of money at an agreed 
rate as long as there is no material adverse change in the business; such a 
line does not have to be used, but the funds normally are available upon 
request. 

loan application. A form for completion by the prospective borrower generally 
providing for personal data such as family, residence, salary, employer, 
other indebtedness, and resources. The form is used to document certain 
matters considered significant by the lender before deciding whether to 
make a loan. 

loan file. A record that usually contains the loan application and documents, 
credit checks, references, records of past loans, and other matters. Notes, 
contracts, titles, and collateral usually will be physically stored elsewhere 
for security reasons. 

mandatory securities valuation reserve. Reserve required by law or regula-
tion to provide for possible losses on securities held by insurance compa-
nies. 

maturity. Date on which, or time period in which, repayment of a debt is to be 
made. 

maturity date (in factoring). The average due date of a month's invoices plus 
collection days. 
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maturity factoring. Factoring arrangement under which a client is not enti-
tled to cash advances before invoice maturity dates. 

maturity spread. A tabulation of estimated or scheduled maturities of install-
ment receivables by months or year due. 

mortgage loans. Loans collateralized by real estate. 
net interest spread. The excess of interest income accruable over interest 

expense incurred in a period. 
no-mail account. An account in which no contact is to be made with the 

borrower by mail. 
nonaccrual loans (nonearning assets). Loans on which accrual of interest 

has been suspended because collectibility is doubtful. 
nonnotification factoring. Sale of trade accounts receivable in which the 

debtor is not informed of the sale. 
nonrecourse. A situation in which a finance company has no legal right to 

compel payment from a seller of accounts receivable or from a prior 
endorser or drawer of a negotiable instrument in the event of default. 

nonrefundable fee. Any charge made in connection with a loan that does not 
have to be refunded to the borrower when the loan is prepaid. 

notification. Informing debtors that their accounts have been sold to and are 
now payable directly to a finance company. 

old-line factor. A factor engaged primarily in the nonrecourse purchase of 
accounts receivable with notification. 

open account sales. Credit extended that is not supported by a note, mort-
gage, or other formal written evidence of indebtedness; for example, 
shipments of merchandise for which a buyer is billed later. 

open approvals. Credit is granted without immediate proof of a borrower's 
ability to repay. 

origination fee. An amount charged by finance companies for originating, 
refinancing, or restructuring a loan. The amount may be intended to cover 
costs such as underwriting, loan application processing, and reviewing 
legal title to property involved. 

overadvance (in factoring). An amount advanced to a client in excess of the 
amount of uncollected receivables purchased by the factor. 

pari passu. A participation that provides for a pro rata sharing of risk among 
all lenders. 

participation. A loan funded by two or more financial institutions. Participa-
tions may be either first out or pari passu. 

participation manager. Commercial finance company originating and super-
vising a loan shared by one or more participants. 

perfection. Protecting a security interest in collateral against conflicting 
claims through proper filing under the UCC. See lien. 

points. Amounts, generally expressed as a percent of the loan, charged for 
granting loans, that primarily are adjustments of yield but also may be 
intended to cover costs such as underwriting, loan application processing, 
and reviewing title to collateral. 

prebilling. Occurs when a company assigns invoice copies to a finance com-
pany for items that have not been shipped. 

precompute loan. See discount loan. 
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prepayment penalty. An amount that the borrower pays to the lender, in 
addition to the remaining outstanding principal, if the borrower pays off 
the loan prior to contractual maturity. 

rebate. Cancellation of a portion of the precomputed interest charge when the 
balance due on a discount loan is paid off prior to the originally scheduled 
maturity date. 

receivables portfolio purchase agreements. The bulk purchase of a portfolio 
of accounts receivable, either on a single liquidating or a revolving arrange-
ment. The purchase is typically nonrecourse and without customer notifi-
cation. The seller continues to handle all communications, billings, and 
collections with customers. 

recency-of-payments method. A method of determining delinquent accounts 
based on when recent collections have been received, without regard to 
when they were scheduled to be received in the original loan agreement. 

recourse. The legal right to compel payment from a prior guarantor or drawer 
of a negotiable instrument, if dishonored. 

recourse (in factoring). The right to charge a customer's uncollectible ac-
count back to the client. 

renewed (refinanced) loan. A direct loan to a present borrower that is rewrit-
ten by the execution of a new note with or without an additional amount 
of funds being advanced. 

repossess. To gain custody; to take collateral from a debtor for nonpayment or 
default on a loan. 

retail sales contracts. Contractual receivables arising from sales of consumer 
goods such as automobiles, furniture, and appliances by retail dealers. 
Retail sales contracts also are referred to as three-party paper (cus-
tomer/consumer, dealer, and finance company) when finance companies 
make advances against outstanding contracts. 

revolving loan. A continuous loan made against an agreed percentage of the 
value of collateral, usually accounts receivable or inventory. The amount 
of the loan varies with the amount of collateral assigned. 

rewrite. Renewal of an account, when little or no payment has been received, 
with the purpose of removing delinquency status. 

Robert Morris Associates. A national association of bank loan and credit 
officers. 

rule of 78s. A method of computing finance charges on a loan using a sum-of-
digits approach (for example, 78 is the sum of the monthly periods of a 
twelve-month loan). 

security agreement. An agreement between a borrower and a lender in which 
the borrower gives the lender a security interest or lien on equipment, 
accounts receivable, inventory, or other assets as security for amounts due 
to the lender. 

security interest. A contractual interest in or lien on collateral to secure 
payment of an obligation. 

senior debt. Borrowings that, by their terms, are not subordinate in payment 
priority to other debt. 

springing lien. An interest in, or right to, collateral pledged as payment of an 
obligation, which is perfected on the occurrence of an agreed event, such 
as a default. 
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subordinated debt. Borrowings that by their terms are subordinate and jun-
ior in priority of payment to senior borrowings. Various levels of subordi-
nation include both senior and junior subordinations. 

tax lease. An agreement that qualifies under tax rules that permit the lessee 
to claim rental payments as tax deductions and the lessor to claim tax 
benefits of ownership; that is, investment tax credits and depreciation. 

three-party paper. See retail sales contracts. 
time loan. A loan that has a fixed maturity date. 
Uniform Commercial Code (UCC). A set of statutes designed to provide con-

sistent state laws dealing with commercial transactions, including secured 
transactions, negotiable instruments, and sales of goods. 

vendor leasing. Arrangements under which a finance company offers leases 
through a vendor's sales representatives to the vendor's customers as a 
basic financial package. 

wholesaling. See floor planning. 
working capital loan. See revolving loan. 
yield. Annual rate of return to the lenders on a loan. 
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Would you like additional copies of the Finance Companies Audit & 
Accounting Guide? 
Would you like to receive automatically every annual update of this 
guide immediately upon its release? 

Call the AICPA Order Department at 1-800-862-4272 to order additional 
copies or to place your standing order. 

1997 Audit and Accounting Guides 
Audit and Accounting Guides summarize applicable practices and deliver 
"how-to" advice for handling almost every type of financial statement. 
Each guide describes relevant matters, conditions, and procedures 
unique to a particular industry, and illustrates treatments of financial 
statements and reports to caution auditors and accountants about 
unusual problems. 

The following Audit and Accounting Guides are scheduled for release dur-
ing the summer of 1997. Each will be $31 for AICPA members and $37 
for nonmembers. 

Guide for the Use of Real Estate Appraisal Information No. 013159BH 
Guide for Prospective Financial Information No. 012067BH 
Audits of Agricultural Producers and Agricultural Cooperatives 

No. 012352BH 
Audits of Airlines No. 013180BH 
Banks and Savings Institutions No. 011176BH 
Brokers and Dealers in Securities No. 012179BH 
Audits of Casinos No. 013147BH 
Common Interest Realty Associations No. 012485BH 
Construction Contractors No. 012093BH 
Audits of Credit Unions No. 012045BH 
Audits of Employee Benefit Plans No. 012336BH 
Audits of Entities With Oil and Gas Producing Activities No. 012088BH 
Audits of Federal Government Contractors No. 012435BH 
Audits of Finance Companies No. 012463BH 
Health Care Organizations No. 012428BH 
Audits of Investment Companies No. 012361BH 
Not-for-Profit Organizations No. 013167BH 
Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies No. 011918BH 

Call 1-800-862-4272 to order any of these products. 
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